# Forest Science

United States Department of Agriculture

Forest Service



Southern Research Station

Science Update SRS-002

## Southern Research Station

Our mission is to create the science and technology needed to sustain and enhance southern forest ecosystems and the benefits they provide.



Cover Photo, left: Experiments conducted at the USDA Forest Service's Southeast Tree Research and Education Site and Duke Forest near Raleigh about the relationship of elevated carbon dioxide and tree growth were reported in the prestigious research journal, *Nature*, in May, 2001; top: young screech owl, © Ralph W. Scott.





USDA Forest Service Southern Research Station 200 W.T. Weaver Boulevard P.O. Box 2680 Asheville, NC 28802

www.srs.fs.fed.us

March 2002

Caring for the Land and Serving People

# FY01 Accomplishment Summary October 2000 – September 2001

Research work units
Publications
Web sites (Research work units)
Web sites (other SRS)
Publication requests filled
Hard copy
Electronic
Site tours. 259
Presentations –
To scientific societies
To lay organizations. 167
To other science groups
International activities
Conservation Education Outreach Program contacts (2 teams). 4,027
Total employees 442
Scientists
Budget (research funds only) \$ 42,098,000
Awards/Grants to States, universities, and other
Federal agencies (all funds). \$12,653,585
External funding received from non-Federal
Sources and other Federal agencies. \$2,703,878
Collaborating organizations. 108



# Table of Contents

From the Director

## **1** Successes – Our Major Accomplishments



- 2 Southern Pine Ecosystems
- 8 Wetlands, Bottomlands, and Streams
- **16** Mountain and Highland Ecosystems
- **24** Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling
- **28** Inventory and Monitoring
- **31** Foundation Programs

## 35 What's Ahead – Emerging Research Priorities



- **36** Knowledge Gaps from the Southern **38** Wildland-Urban Interface
  - Forest Resource Assessment
- **37** Longleaf Pine Restoration
- **37** Bent Creek Experimental Forest
- 37 Hypertext Encyclopedia
- **38** Urban Forestry Research and Technology Transfer Center
- **38** Coweeta Hydrologic Laboratory
- **39** Forest Operations Research
- **39** Life Cycle of Wood
- **39** Forest Inventory and Analysis
- 40 Fire

## 41 Our Products – Books, Presentations, Web Postings



- **42** Southern Pine Ecosystems
- 56 Wetlands, Bottomlands, and Streams
- 62 Mountain and Highland Ecosystems
- 68 Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling
- 73 Inventory and Monitoring
- **75** Foundation Programs

## 77 Appendix – Budget and Work Units



- **78** FY01 Allocations to Resource Categories
- 79 FY01 Allocations to Research Work Units
- **80** Collaborative Research
- **81** External Funding
- 82 Research Work Unit Directory
- **84** Experimental Forests
- **86** Administration

# From the Director



he Southern Research Station (SRS) is part of USDA Forest Service Research and Development, which is the Nation's largest forestry research organization. We contribute to quality of life in the South by providing the knowledge and technology needed to sustain and enjoy the benefits of the region's forests and waterways. Forest Service scientists in the South have excelled in natural resource and socio-economic studies in temperate and tropical forest ecosystems – providing a wealth of long-term data sets and conclusions about those ecosystems and their products and services.

Working with partners at Federal laboratories, experimental forests, and universities, SRS scientists produce research results that are useful to forest landowners, commodity and industry associations, conservation groups, educators, legislative bodies, and managers of local, State, and Federal agencies. Our scientific workforce is divided into research work units that are headquartered at 19 locations throughout the South; we are responsible for forestland research, technology transfer, and inventory and monitoring for 13 Southern States. Our annual budget from Federal funds supports an extensive program, and provides for collaborative grants. We also receive some collaborative funding from other Federal and external sources.

This report highlights many accomplishments from this past fiscal year, October 2000 through September 2001 (FY01), and describes some of our current and emerging research priorities. In FY01, we began several new research efforts under the National Fire Plan. We completed the research and data collection for the Southern Forest Resource Assessment, which will set the framework for determining future priorities for research and development. The Assessment also sets the stage for public and private land managers to revise or develop management plans for the sustainability of forests throughout the South.

Among the recognition for our employees was the Chief of the Forest Service Honor Award for Distinguished Science awarded to Dr. H. Ken Cordell of Athens. He was recognized for his outstanding research and assessment contributions to the study of long-term trends in outdoor recreation and wilderness.

We encourage you to contact us with any questions you may have about the work we do.

Web site: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us

USDA Forest Service Southern Research Station 200 W.T. Weaver Boulevard P.O. Box 2680 Asheville, NC 28802 828-257-4832; Fax: 828-257-4840

PETER J. ROUSSOPOULOS Director

# Successes– Our Major Accomplishments



Southern Pine Ecosystems 2
Wetlands, Bottomlands, and Streams 8
Mountain and Highland Ecosystems 16
Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling 24
Inventory and Monitoring28
Foundation Programs 31

2001 U.S. Department

of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

2

# Southern Pine Ecosystems

#### Studies of Prescribed Fire Impacts and Effectiveness Expanded

The Disturbance of Southern Pines Ecosystem RWU has added additional sites to the nationwide Fire and Fire Surrogate Study with funding from the National Fire Plan. The study is primarily funded by the Joint Fire Sciences Program to compare the effects of prescribed fire with mechanical and herbicide methods of fuel reduction. Data on the effects of the treatments on a full range of ecosystem components will be collected. Sites in four different southern ecosystems are included in the nationwide study — Florida (pine flatwoods), South Carolina (southeastern Piedmont), North Carolina (southern Appalachian), and Alabama (Coastal Plains longleaf pine).

The role of stand replacement fires in providing habitat for ridgetop pine communities in the Southern Appalachian Mountains has been examined by the Disturbance of Southern Pines RWU. Work completed this year shows that single fires of moderate intensity, or multiple low-intensity fires provide better regeneration of Table Mountain pine habitat than crown fires. Seedbed habitat becomes too dry after crown fires; viable seed are abundant in all trees over 10 years old throughout the year; mycorrhizal abundance can be reduced by soil heating. Existing stands of Table Mountain pine are uneven-aged, suggesting they became established through multiple low-intensity fires. A test of multiple low-intensity burns showed that more than 4 burns are necessary to eliminate hardwood and shrub sprouting and to reduce duff depth enough for seedlings to survive. This knowledge will allow a wider burning window and increase worker safety because severe weather conditions are not required for low-intensity fires. Public land managers throughout the southern Appalachians can use these results.



**Southern Appalachian mixed forest** 

Scientists in Nacogdoches, TX conducted two years of field research to quantify the abundance and diversity of butterflies in the major forest types in eastern Texas under frequent and infrequent prescribed fire regimes. Butterfly census results were analyzed in relation to additional data on the abundance of flowers that provide nectar for food. Lepidoptera (butterflies and moths) are a significant group that play an important role in forested ecosystems; they are primary consumers of vegetation and serve as pollinators of many plant species. As prescribed fire is more widely used to restore and maintain natural ecosystems and to reduce wildfire risk, it is imperative to understand impacts on their habitat.

Bottomland hardwood forests in eastern Texas, which typically do not experience fire, supported a butterfly community of low diversity but relatively high abundance. The two pinedominated communities supported a more diverse array of species, especially in longleaf pine forests. Overall



Diana fritillary butterfly on butterfly weed, Pisgah National Forest

abundance of butterflies was dependent on the fire regime. Forests subjected to frequent prescribed fire (2-3 times per decade) supported average butterfly abundances over two times as great as in similar forests subject to only infrequent prescribed fire. The abundance of butterflies was related to the abundance of nectar resources (flowers) present. Frequent prescribed fire reduced competing woody vegetation (shrubs and midstory trees) and allowed the development of an abundant and diverse herbaceous layer that produced an abundance of flowers.

The Threatened, Endangered, and Sensitive Species RWU has been investigating the pollination and breeding systems of rare plants, specifically White Birds-in-a-nest and Harper's Beauty. They have found that these two species have different reproductive strategies and different relationships to prescribed fire. Since prescribed fire is a common management tool in longleaf pine ecosystems, where these plants are found, it is important to understand fire's effects on their seed production and their animal pollinators, in order to maintain populations of these rare species. The information gained from this work will provide basic ecological information about both plants and insects, and can be used in planning the spatial extent and timing of prescribed fires. Informed fire planning is central to sustaining the diversity of life of fire-dependent longleaf pine communities.

Prescribed burn near Pineville, Louisiana









Successes- Our Major Accomplishments



# Understanding and Managing Bark Beetles

At epidemic levels, bark beetles pose serious threats to forest ecosystem health. Acting as invasive agents, bark beetles seriously affect the function and sustainability of forest ecosystems. The southern pine beetle (SPB) is the most destructive insect pest in southern forests. SPB, especially when considered with other bark beetles, causes great economic loss and disruption of resource management practices. A thorough, basic understanding of the biology and ecology of these important pests is necessary to improve control methods to protect individual trees and pine forests from bark beetles.

Research by the Bark Beetle and Invasive Insect RWU has revealed a series of complex interactions among trees, beetles, fungi, mites, parasitoids, and predators. SPB is greatly affected by the abundance of mites that ride from tree to tree on the beetles. The mites carry bluestain fungi which can reduce the ability of the beetles to feed and develop within pine bark.

This team of researchers at Pineville, LA has identified compounds that promise protection of trees from bark beetle attack. Research on the ability of bark beetles to locate host trees has led to the development of strategies to interfere with visual cues used by the beetles. Coating trees with white paint used in conjunction with naturally occurring tree defensive compounds helps protect trees from attack. A strategy using a large, dark profile trap has also shown promise in being able to "trap out" beetles from infestations. The RWU has also identified genetic lines of trees that

appear to have a high level of defense against SPB and found that trees which have been subject to a nonfatal, simulated SPB attack are more resistant to a subsequent beetle attack.

Southern pine beetles in flight (top). Southern pine beetle larvae in pine bark (middle). What we learned from the Southern Forest Resource

Assessment: counties in outbreak status for southern pine beetle; a 40 year summary (bottom).



#### **Pine seedling**



#### **Regeneration of Pines**

Regeneration is the bridge between the harvest of mature trees and the establishment of their successors. Successful and prompt regeneration is critical for sustaining timber production on forestlands. Planning and executing forestry practices that provide favorable conditions for natural or planted regeneration will facilitate success.

Scientists in the Upland Forest Ecosystems RWU monitored pine seed production in natural stands on the Crossett Experimental Forest in southern Arkansas. They summarized 20 years of monitoring seed crops of the commercially important loblolly and shortleaf pines. Pine seed crops were found to vary greatly, from bumper crops with over 1 million seeds per acre to complete failures. The finding that is important to land managers, however, was that there were

never back-to-back failures. Even though poor seed crops occurred in 5 of the 20 years, ample seeds were produced during subsequent years to successfully regenerate stands. Knowledge of the year-to-year variation in seed production will help managers in planning for successful natural regeneration.

The Southern Institute of Forest Genetics led a committee to update the "Southern Pine Seed Sources" manual. Choosing the proper seed source is crucial for survival and subsequent growth of southern pines. The new guide is based on more recent analyses that include long-term results from seed source studies and progeny tests. These studies show continuous geographic variation in economic traits. Most importantly, performance is related to one parameter — matching the average yearly minimum temperature at the seed source to the planting site. The manual includes guidelines for seed source selection for loblolly, slash, longleaf, Virginia, shortleaf, and sand pines. Everyone who plants southern pines will benefit from the guidelines for seed source selection in this manual.

The late Dr. Richard Tinus, who was a plant physiologist with the Even-aged Southern Pine Ecosystems RWU, invented the "Beamflicker" greenhouse illuminating device to provide costefficient lighting for an entire greenhouse using a single stationary light fixture. The device is an oscillating parabolic mirror behind a sodium arc lamp that flicks beams of light from one end of a greenhouse to the other, providing intermittent light. Plants need light at night to maintain vegetative growth, prevent bud dormancy, induce flowering in long-day plants, and to prevent flowering in short-day plants. The Beamflicker meets those needs with one easily installed fixture at a lower cost than other systems. The patent for the Beamflicker was licensed to Hydrofarm, Inc., of Petaluma, CA in FY01.

Pine nursery







6

#### Maintaining Red-cockaded Woodpecker Populations

The RWU at Clemson, SC has conducted research on the biology, ecology, and recovery of the endangered red-cockaded woodpecker for over 25 years. One aspect of that research included studies of the red-cockaded woodpeckers' interactions with other species in the community, particularly species that commonly uses their cavities and may negatively impact them. Research has shown that the southern flying squirrel is one of the most important cavity users (or kleptoparasites) and that removal of southern flying squirrels from red-cockaded woodpecker cluster sites during the breeding season can significantly increase reproductive success of the bird. Analysis shows important seasonal changes in the nest site selection of southern flying squirrels. Redcockaded woodpecker cavities were only used from March through November and received their highest use during April – the beginning of red-cockaded woodpecker nesting season. These results suggest that if flying squirrel removal is deemed necessary, it should be concentrated from March through May. Using nest boxes to divert flying squirrels from redcockaded woodpecker cavities may only be effective during fall, winter, and early spring. Optimal habitat for flying squirrels will have a high number of cavities and leaf nests so that varying seasonal requirements can be met.

Scientists in Nacogdoches, TX have determined that the presence of artificial cavities decreases red-cockaded woodpecker natural cavity excavation rates. Cavities are a rare resource because they take a long time to excavate and pines suitable for excavation are often in limited availability. In 1990, artificial cavity technology became available and artificial cavities were installed to augment the numbers of suitable cavities in woodpecker clusters where they were in short supply. Researchers compared cavity excavation rates during an 8-year period prior to the use of artificial cavities with an 8-year period when artificial cavities were provided in all active woodpecker clusters. New cavity excavation was significantly higher in longleaf pine habitat during the first 8 years when artificial cavities were not available than it was during the subsequent 8 years.

The Insects and Diseases RWU used automatic cameras to record adult red-cockaded woodpecker nest visits with food for nestlings. Diet of nestlings on or near an old-growth longleaf pine remnant in southern Georgia was compared to that in longleaf pine stands established on old farm fields in western South Carolina. Roaches were the most common arthropod fed to nestlings; other common prey were spiders, centipedes, and caterpillars, primarily coneworms. Research showed that old trees on relatively undisturbed sites provide the same prey as younger trees growing on old farm fields and the relative importance of the different prey was similar for both habitats. ▲

Red-cockaded woodpecker feeding young



#### **Other Significant Accomplishments**

Conducted research that indicates that composite manufacturers will be able to produce high performance medium-density fiberboard from low quality and low cost materials.

Summarized 53 years of dynamics in the "Methods of Cut Study" in Arkansas showing that over time there is little difference in the productivity of even-aged and uneven-aged stands – a finding that will help landowners decide which cutting system best meets their management objectives.

Revitalized long-term databases by setting up new plots in young stands, which will enable tracking of effects of newer silvicultural practices during establishment and ensure that historical data is relevant to current practices.

Developed guidelines to help landowners make choices after damaging storms about whether trees should be cut and replaced by replanting, or left to grow to rotation age.

Determined that managers could detect stem sinuosity in the first 1-3 years after planting and should remove bent trees in the first thinning in order to eliminate reductions in the value of the stand.

Provided information to Mexico and Guatemala on southern pine beetle biology and management and gained knowledge about Mexican and Central American populations of southern pine beetles which may pose a threat to American forests or provide strategies for control. Developed cooperative research project with The Biocomposites Center, Bangor, Wales to explore pressure-refining of loblolly pine.

Consulted on utilization of plantation timber for the Taiwan Forestry Bureau, Taipei, China.

Demonstrated feasibility of alternative logging methods in tropical areas by cost-benefit analysis of sustainable timber harvests.

Hosted Chinese scientists to share information and provide technology to improve conifer reforestation programs in China.

James A. Miller received the "Maintaining and Enhancing the Nation's Natural Resources and Environment" USDA Secretary's Honor Award for leading research and outreach to further native plant conservation and nonnative plant management for sustaining regional biodiversity and productivity in the forests of the Southeastern United States.

William Boyer, emeritus scientist, received the Chief of the Forest Service Retiree Volunteer Service Award for research and management support for sustaining longleaf pine ecosystems.

John C. Moser, emeritus scientist, received the Chief of the Forest Service Retiree Volunteer Service Award for his continuing research and information dissemination in basic research in forest health and southern pine beetle biology and management.



2001

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

8

# Wetlands, Bottomlands, and Streams

#### **Restoring the Savannah River Site**

The Savannah River Swamp is a 3,020-hectare wetland located in the floodplain of the Savannah River on the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) site near Aiken, SC. Ninety percent of the swamp was once covered with bottomland hardwoods.

In the early 1950s, nuclear reactors were built on the site, resulting in the almost total devastation of the wetlands. Water to supply reactor processes was pumped from the Savannah River, cycled through secondary heat exchangers, and discharged into streams that flowed into the swamp. From 1954 to 1988, water heated to over 150 degrees Fahrenheit ran into Pen Branch—one of the swamp's tributary streams at rates 20 to 40 times higher than normal flow. This hot water overflowed stream banks, eroded the original stream corridor, and formed a new river delta where it deposited a deep layer of silt. Most of the vegetation along the river and portions of the floodplain died.

The pumping of heated water ended in the mid-1980s. Vegetation along the Pen Branch began to grow back, but almost no volunteer seedlings from the bottomland hardwoods could be found. The Center for Forested Wetlands RWU began working with the Savannah River Institute and the Savannah River Technology Center to find the best methods for reintroducing wetland tree species into the area. From 1993 to 1995, the Forest Service planted approximately 75 percent of the affected area in bottomland hardwoods that included overcup oak, swamp chestnut oak, nuttall oak, willow oak, cherry bark oak, water hickory, persimmon, green ash, sycamore, swamp black gum, water tupelo, and bald cypress. The remaining 25 percent of the land was kept unplanted for experimental purposes. Three site preparation approaches were used in relation to the differing conditions of the floodplain-no preparation, herbicides combined with burning, or herbicides alone.



South Carolina swamp

Predicting the effectiveness of different approaches within the first few years is essential to the success of restoration projects. The Center for Forested Wetlands RWU not only conducts experiments, but also develops the techniques needed to assess the effectiveness of restoration efforts. This involves extensive collaborative research in areas such as hydrology, soils, vegetation, carbon and nutrient cycling, and animal communities. For the Pen Branch project, the work has focused on exploring the linkages between wetlands and streams, and is designed to develop indicators to use in assessing the functions of restored wetlands.

In FY01, a special issue of Ecological Engineering, published in book format as Restoration of a Severely Impacted Riparian Wetland System—The Pen Branch Project, presented 16 interdisciplinary papers outlining the restoration ecology of the system. Evaluation and monitoring information reveal that Pen Branch-an area denuded of vegetation less than a decade ago-is currently functioning as a viable wetland. Information from Pen Branch has been used to develop a quantitative assessment method for evaluating the success of future wetland restoration.

#### The Next Step – the Carolina Bays

Carolina bays-shallow natural depressions found along the Coastal Plain from Maryland to Floridahave been greatly altered by human activity, mostly draining and ditching for agricultural purposes. At one time, there were 194 Carolina bays within the 78,000-hectare Savannah River Institute (SRI). Ranging in size from 0.1 to 50 hectares, the bays have been estimated to contain one-third of the rare plant species found at SRI. Despite the ecological significance of the Carolina bays, few studies have been conducted on the restoration of these wetland areas.

Researchers from the Center for Forested Wetlands RWU, established a large-scale Carolina bay restoration experiment on the Savannah River site. Similar to the bottomland hardwood restoration project, the Carolina bay project will focus on ecosystem-level processes that occur as vegetation grows back and the system is restored. Different alternatives to restoration will be explored to determine how to best provide suitable habitat for key animal and plant species and communities. The results will not only further the restoration of the Carolina bays at SRI, but will provide needed information to other individuals and agencies interested in restoring these unique coastal ecosystems on their own lands.



Carolina bay





#### **Dances With Fishes**

Scientists at the Center for Bottomland Hardwoods RWU's subunit in Oxford, MS, recently uncovered a previously unknown aspect of the reproductive cycle of two species of freshwater mussels. The research, published in 2001 in the prestigious journal *Animal Behavior*, describes a fascinating dance of survival between mussels and their fish hosts.

Native freshwater mussels in the southeastern United States are at risk—many species considered threatened, endangered, or sensitive due to loss of habitat and invasions of exotic species. Some of the most important remaining populations of freshwater mussels occur in streams that drain from public and private forestlands. The reproductive cycles of mussels are complex, requiring the presence of a specific fish species which serves as host for the mussels' parasitic larvae. Understanding the reproduction cycles of native mussels is essential for developing effective management strategies for these imperiled animals.

Freshwater mussels vary widely in their choices for host fish. Some mussels are generalists—able to parasitize a wide variety of fishes—while others are specialists, tied to only a few closely related

fish species. Two mussel species that occur on National Forests in Alabama and Tennessee-Villosa nebulosa and V. vibex-rely on bass and sunfish as hosts for their larvae. In the recent work, the researchers discovered that females of the two mussel species display "lures"modifications of the mantle that resemble small fish or large worms-to attract the interest of fish. When a bass or sunfish attacks the phony prey item, the mussel releases a "cloud" of larvae that attach to the fish gills, forming cystlike "cocoons" in which shell and internal organs develop. After a few weeks, the larvae emerge from the cysts as tiny mussels that drop off and make their way to the bottom of the stream. Because bass and sunfish are the primary top predators in headwater streams inhabited by these mussels, few other fish species are enticed to attack the large prey items mimicked by the mussels. Thus, this strategy not only increases the chances of larvae encountering a bass or sunfish, but it also decreases the chances of larvae winding up on a nonsuitable host species. As a counterbalance to their complicated reproductive cycle, freshwater mussels tend to have long livesdecades to over a century in some cases.

The details of larvae transmission in freshwater mussels discovered this year by SRS researchers have important implications for managing the streams these mussels inhabit. Because larvae



What we learned from the Southern Forest Assessment: Distribution of mussel species by aquatic fauna provinces





11

transmission depends on the host fish seeing the lures, disturbances in the stream that reduce visibility during the reproductive season could be a contributing factor to the decline of freshwater mussel populations observed across the country. Declines in populations of host fishes due to habitat disruption could also contribute to diminishing mussel populations.



Host fish lured by mussel (top). Mussel displays "lures" to bring host fish closer (middle). Mussel releases a cloud of larvae that attach to fish gills (bottom).







#### An Added Line of Defense Against Oak Wilt

Oak wilt, a disease caused by the fungus Ceratocystis fagacaereum, has damaged and killed live oaks (Quercus virginiana and Q. fusiformis), red oaks (Q. Texana) and other oak species in central Texas for over 30 years. The fungus infects the water-conducting vessels in the oak, producing a toxin that causes the tree to wilt and then die-often within a year after being infected. Austin, TX is the most heavily infected city in the United States; over 10,000 of the city's oaks have died over the last 20 years. This massive loss of oaks from public and private property has led to combined economic losses to the State of Texas exceeding \$1 billion from increased utility bills, decreased property values, and reduced landscape aesthetics.

With funding and technical assistance from the USDA Forest Service, the State of Texas Forest Service maintains the Texas Oak Wilt Suppression Project (TOWSP). TOWSP coordinates the combined efforts of local government and private citizens to detect and control oak wilt infection. The project's goals are to educate the public, locate the disease, provide technical and costshare assistance in eradicating the fungus, and monitor suppression treatments to control the spread of the fungus.

Oak wilt has been found in over 55 counties in central Texas and a growing number of counties in west Texas. The disease spreads through interconnected root systems at rates of up to 100 feet per year. To stop the advance of infection, cooperators in the oak wilt project have dug hundreds of miles of barrier trenches to sever root connections in advance of the fungus. Approximately 70 percent of the trenches have been successful in stopping the spread of encircled infection centers. Trench breakoutsinfection spreading due to root grafting across trenches—occur in the remaining 30 percent of cases. Many of these occur within the first three years of trench installation due to improper placement or insufficient trench depth to sever preexisting root grafts. Other breakouts occur three or more years after trenches are installed and are due to the formation of new root grafts from roots severed by trenching.

Over the last seven years, researchers at the Center for Bottomland Hardwoods RWU in Stoneville, Mississippi, have conducted studies on the effectiveness of using different materials as inserts to prevent trench breakouts. Results indicate that trench inserts in general did not significantly improve trenches as barriers the first three years after installation. However, water permeable insert materials did significantly improve trench effectiveness three years after trenching and beyond.

Researchers found that water permeable inserts were more effective root barriers because they did not redirect root growth up or down the face of the trench inserts themselves. Impermeable materials, by redirecting root growth, actually promoted root graft connections and the transmission of oak wilt fungus across the trench. Permeable inserts could extend the effectiveness of trenches indefinitely, saving landowners with oak wilt on their property the expense of installing backup trenches when original trenches begin to fail. Inserts can also provide extra security in high-risk areas—such

#### **Prothonotary warbler**



as in urban areas, rural parks, and homestead sites — where tree value is particularly high. If implemented by TOWSP, this improved cultural method for oak wilt suppression is expected to save hundreds of millions of dollars in tree removal costs and property value depreciations for Texas landowners alone.

#### Artificial Nest Boxes for Prothonotary Warblers

The prothonotary warbler is the only species of wood warbler (Parulinae) in the eastern United States that regularly nests in the cavities of trees. While still relatively common in some areas, prothonotary warblers are declining over most of their range due to the loss of their preferred breeding habitat of swamps and bottomland hardwood forests. This loss of habitat is especially evident in the Lower Mississippi Valley, where nearly 80 percent of the original bottomland hardwood forests have disappeared. The warblers' winter roosts in the mangrove forests of the Neotropics have also been destroyed, leaving this once abundant songbird imperiled.

The Wildlife Habitat and Timber Resource Integration RWU collaborated with the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department to study the breeding ecology of the prothonotary warbler, and to determine whether artificial nesting boxes can provide a viable substitute for tree cavities during breeding season.

Texas Parks and Wildlife mounted four different types of nesting boxes. Two types of wood boxes, originally designed for wood ducks, were modified to include either vertical or horizontal interior lofts. These wood boxes were compared with smaller artificial cavities made from waxcovered milk cartons and plastic liter bottles. Researchers observed that the prothonotary warblers preferred the two smaller artificial nest boxes. Of the two, the plastic design proved more durable and required less maintenance. If the smaller artificial cavities were not available, the warblers preferred the wood boxes with vertically oriented nesting lofts. ▲







#### Determining Safe Levels of Selenium in Water

Over 40 percent of waters assessed in the United States do not meet water quality standards. These impaired waters include approximately 300,000 miles of rivers and shorelines and approximately 5 million acres of lakes polluted mostly by sediments, excess nutrients, and harmful organisms.

Under the 1972 Clean Water Act, States are required to develop action plans to determine Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) on all impaired waters within their borders. The TMDL is a calculation of the maximum amount of a particular pollutant a body of water can receive from all point and nonpoint sources and still meet water quality standards. Although required by law, very few TMDLs have actually been developed. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency recently requested the input of State and Federal biologists on procedures to identify

**Mountain stream** 

and track materials that could have an adverse effect on aquatic life. The agency may soon require TMDLs on substances ranging from nutrients and sediments to pesticides and trace elements such as selenium.

Establishing a specific TMDL procedure for selenium is particularly important. Selenium accumulates in biological tissues, is known to cause reproductive impairment in fish and wildlife, and persists in the environment. Scientists at the Coldwater Streams and Trout Habitat RWU developed a TMDL procedure for selenium structured to answer two questions: 1) based on biological criteria, is selenium impairing the body of water under study, and 2) if so, how much must the selenium load be reduced to correct the problem? They constructed a seven-step procedure that links EPA's TMDL process to the contaminant-specific information required for selenium. The underlying principle for the process is to keep selenium concentrations below levels

that threaten the reproductive capacity of fish and aquatic birds. The resulting procedure can be applied to any aquatic habitat needing assessment or to any situation where TMDLs are adopted as a means of improving water quality. In addition to the USDA Forest Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and U.S. Geological Survey, the procedure has been introduced to users in North America, South America, Europe, Asia, Africa, and Australia. ▲

#### **Other Significant Accomplishments**

Published GTR-SRS-038, The Coosawhatchie Bottomland Ecosystem Study: A Report on the Development of Reference Wetland– this report stemmed from the Ecosystem Management Initiative to provide forest managers with reference ecosystems as a basis for developing sustainable management strategies and effective ecosystem restoration.



Published the results of a study in willow oak that shows that the economic importance of minimizing the production of epicormic branches along the boles of high-value hardwood sawtimber trees.

Consulted with the Chinese Academy of Sciences, Nanjing Forestry University, and the Northeastern Forestry University, China to develop an international symposium on wetland ecology, management, and restoration.

Assisted in the evaluation of research capabilities and study sites in Vietnam and the Congo for possible installation of sites in CIFOR's (Center for International Forestry Research) Tropical Plantation Sustainability Program.

Hosted a visiting scientist from the National University of Mexico to develop collaborative research and training opportunities between

> Coweeta Hydrologic Lab and longterm ecological research programs and watershed scale studies in Mexico.

Wendell Haag and Melvin L. Warren, Jr. received a Chief of the Forest Service award for outstanding contributions to the conservation of threatened, endangered, and sensitive species on the national forests and grasslands.

**Emile Gardiner** was named Outstanding Young Forester by the Mississippi Society of American Foresters, in recognition of contributions to the field of forestry in 2000.

Margaret S. Devall received the Forest Service Research Natural Area Monitoring Award for long-term commitment to monitoring species of interest and establishing and maintaining RNAs in the Southern Research Station.





2001 U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern

> Research Station

# Mountain and Highland Ecosystems

#### Long-Term Stream Response to Clearcut Cable Logging

Understanding how water, soil and other forest resources respond to management practices, natural disturbances, and atmospheric changes is the long-term mission of the Watershed Responses to Disturbance RWU at the Coweeta Hydrologic Laboratory, located near Franklin, NC. Coweeta, established in 1934, is one of 24 sites selected for the Long-Term Ecological Research (LTER) program funded by the National Science Foundation (NSF). Situated in the Nantahala Mountains, the site contains several distinct and carefully instrumented watersheds, providing a unique opportunity to study watershed ecosystem responses to a variety of disturbances over long periods of time.

Coweeta researchers published results from an interdisciplinary study of ecosystem response to clearcut cable logging. Two decades of research on this practice found little long-term effect on water, soil, and ecosystem sustainability and health. Though streamflow, stream nutrients, and sediment increased slightly in the first years after cutting, these variables returned to baseline conditions within the first decade. In the second decade, there were noticeable increases in both streamflow and levels of nitrogen in the stream, primarily in response to changes in vegetation dynamics and nutrient cycling processes. Researchers concluded that when best management practices (BMPs) for harvesting and logging road location and design are followed, clearcut cable logging has little impact on longterm watershed health and sustainability.



#### Forest Regeneration Under Varying Levels of Overstory Retention

The forests of the Cumberland Plateau region—an area that stretches northeast to southwest from Kentucky through the middle of Tennessee into northern Alabama—have been the site of accelerated timber harvesting

#### Bent Creek researchers with Mead Corporation managers



by private and industrial landowners. Little research has been done to determine how these southern Appalachian forest systems respond to disturbance.

In late 2000, the Southern Appalachian Forests RWU began to study the effects of different harvesting regimes on forest regeneration and composition in the Cumberland Plateau area. For the study, researchers will remove various levels of the overstory and midstory levels of the forest to examine how various removal methods affect forest structure. Researchers will try to determine what effect these different regimes have on species composition, the regeneration of trees and other plants, and the development of remaining trees. The study will also examine how the different regimes affect habitat and food availability for bird and bat species.

The study site, located on property recently acquired by the Mead Corporation in Jackson County, AL, has been selectively harvested for over 60 years with little management planning. Mead recently received Sustainable Forest Initiative (SFI) certification; managers are committed to incorporating science into forest management practices and to identifying and documenting the biodiversity of their forests.

For this study, the status of individual trees and stands will be documented over time in response to the five different harvesting regimes. The study area is designed for use as a demonstration forest; plans for communicating findings and models to landowners in nearby northern Alabama and other Cumberland Plateau areas have been built into the study. ▲

#### Indiana Bats

The Indiana bat (*Myotis sodalis*) was one of the first bat species recognized as endangered by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Early efforts to recover the species focused on protecting hibernation caves, since 85 percent of the known populations hibernated in just nine caves in Kentucky, Indiana, and Missouri. Yet even when the entrances of blocked caves were reopened and disturbed caves gated, bat populations continued to decline—from approximately 590,000 individuals in 1980 to 350,000 in 1997. Biologists began to suspect that the decline might be linked to the loss of the summer maternity habitat where the young are born.

Although mating occurs in the fall, female Indiana bats do not become pregnant until after they emerge from migration in the spring. Soon after emergence, females migrate to their summer roost sites where they form maternity colonies of 20 to 100 members. Most maternity roosts are under the shedding bark of live or dead trees. In late June or early July, each female gives birth to a single young.

Prior to 1999, Indiana bat maternity roosts had only been found in the Midwest and the Northeast areas of the United States. In 1999, researchers from Tennessee Technological University (TTU) discovered a roost in a large eastern hemlock tree in the Nantahala National Forest in western North Carolina. This was also the first report of Indiana bats using conifers as maternity roosts; before the find, it was assumed that they only roosted in hardwoods.





18

Since 2000, researchers from TTU and the Threatened and Endangered Species RWU in Clemson, SC, have been studying the roosting behavior of Indiana bats in the southern Appalachians. In the summers of 2000 and 2001, they captured and radio-tagged several male and female Indiana bats in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park in eastern Tennessee. The adult females led them to two main maternity roosts, both in pine snags. The team also found five alternate roost trees, three of them in pine snags and two in red oak snags. The maternity roost found in 2000 had already fallen when checked in May 2001. Researchers suspect that the turnover of primary roost sites may be high, and that a steady supply of new roost trees must be available for Indiana bats to successfully reproduce.

Information gained from this ongoing research is important to the recovery of this species. Researchers will use the data they collect on the characteristics of individual roost trees and the landscapes surrounding the trees to develop models of suitable habitat and to predict other sites for maternity roosts.

#### **Trout and Debris**

Trout are notoriously sensitive creatures, and have disappeared from some southern Appalachian streams for a variety of reasons changes in stream temperature due to human activities, competition among species, and changes in water quality. Scientists at the Coldwater Streams and Trout Habitat RWU identify stream characteristics that limit the abundance of trout and other fish populations in the southern Appalachians. They have explored the relationship between the presence of large woody debris in a stream and the number and quality of trout the stream supports.

Over the last few years, researchers have experimented with adding large woody debris to restore trout populations and habitat in Wine Spring Creek in North Carolina. Like many watersheds in the southern Appalachians, the area around Wine Spring Creek was logged in the early 1900s. The stream was cleared as recently as 1976 of the fallen trees, logs, and stumps that shaped the water flow and provided habitat for trout.

#### Trout habitat improvement study stream





Data collection for trout habitat study

To understand more clearly the relationship between large woody debris and trout populations, researchers identified two 200meter sections of Wine Spring Creek where rainbow trout (*Oncyrhynchus mykiss*) live, and a 100-meter section of a tributary where brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) live. In 1997, employees of the Nantahala National Forest used hand-held tools to add logs and large branches to the stream sections under study. All three sites included control sections where large woody debris was not added.

Over the last four years, the added debris has remained stable through floods without being artificially anchored to the streamsides. The habitat of the treated sections has become more complex as water diverted by debris has scoured out pools and small debris and gravel sediment have collected around the larger debris increasing spawning sites for trout.

This is the only study conducted in the southern Appalachians to assess trout movement, growth, and population dynamics in response to large woody debris. The effect of adding debris on trout populations has proved difficult to determine, more subtle than simple changes in the number of fish or their size. Trout in Wine Spring Creek and its tributary grow more slowly and live longer than previously thought for streams in the region. Trout also move seasonally, some for distances of hundreds of meters. Further research is necessary before specific conclusions can be drawn; however, the study has demonstrated that "low-tech" methods are highly effective for restoring streams in environments too rugged—or ecosystems too delicate—for heavy equipment.

#### **Storm Damage Recovery**

In June 1995, a catastrophic flood washed down the Staunton River, a second-level stream located on the eastern slope of the Blue Ridge Mountains in Virginia. The flow of debris scoured the streambed, depositing new materials, knocking out trees, and eliminating fish from a 1.9-kilometer stretch of the stream. Researchers in Blacksburg, VA saw the flood as an opportunity to study how native brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) respond to the severe disturbance of their habitat.

They used mark-recapture and radio telemetry techniques to track the movement of brook trout in disturbed and undisturbed sections of the Staunton River. They found that differences in trout activity in affected and unaffected areas were actually minimal when compared to the differences in activity from season to season. Population density appeared to limit fish growth for a short period of time: the researchers suspect this may help brook trout populations recover quickly from catastrophic events. Most of the affected habitat reverted to previous conditions just four years after the flood. This research demonstrates that immediate management actions such as stocking or habit modification may not always be necessary after major floods. 🔺

## Migratory Birds in the Southern Appalachians

The southern Appalachian region plays an important role in the survival of Neotropical migratory birds—species that nest in North America and winter in Mexico, Central America, or South America. Analyses from the last 35 years of breeding bird surveys indicate that many species of Neotropical migratory birds in the southern Appalachians are declining as fragmentation and urbanization accelerate on both breeding and nesting grounds.





Researchers from the Wildlife Habitat and Timber Resource Integration RWU, are working with university scientists from Tennessee and North Carolina to explore how habitat modifications due to forest management affect bird communities.

To help understand how forest management affects migratory songbirds on a landscape-scale level, researchers counted birds by species at 1,177 sampling points during the period between 1997 and 1999. Located in two national forests in North Carolina and Tennessee, the study area consisted mostly of deciduous hardwood forest, though there were some sites located in dry, mixed pine-hardwood forests. Bird count numbers were correlated with vegetation data that included canopy height, tree density, and the percent of coverage from five vegetation layers that ranged from ground to canopy levels.

**Neotropical migratory birds** 



Researchers found that the landscape effects of large-scale forest management played a relatively small part in explaining differences in the abundance of birds. Most species seemed to respond mostly to elevation, and to local habitat factors such as stand-level forest disturbance and the stage of restoration. For example, several birds (black-throated blue warbler, Acadian flycatcher, northern parula, and blue-headed vireo) were found more in areas with older forest, implying a negative effect of landscape disturbance. Red-eyed vireos, on the other hand, were related to landscapes with dense edges due to disturbance. Other species-including the chestnut-sided warbler, eastern towhee, rose-breasted grosbeak and indigo bunting-were associated with earlier stages of forest restoration where disturbance had occurred relatively recently.

#### Recreation

Forest-based recreation adds greatly to the quality of life for southerners, both socially and economically. Southern forests provide the setting for an increasingly wide range of recreational activities, most taking place on relatively small areas of public land. Only 4.6 percent of Federal land and 12 percent of State park and forestlands are in the South, and only 7 percent of privately owned land is accessible to the public. Recreation pressures on public land in the South are high and expected to increase: population in the South—already home to a third of the nation's population—is growing at a faster rate than in the rest of the country.

The Recreation, Urban Forests and Human Dimensions RWU develops effective approaches, data, and delivery systems for tracking population, demographic, land development, and resource demand changes. Basic research on the theoretical and conceptual basis of human values, preferences, and recreation behavior is complemented by applied, site-based research to identify the factors that affect recreation behavior on public land.

The RWU completed surveys for the 2000 National Survey on Recreation and the Environment (NSRE), the continuation of

the ongoing National Recreation Survey (NRS) series begun in 1960. Although similar to the previous six NRS surveys, NSRE 2000 explores more extensively the outdoor recreational needs and environmental interests of the American public. New survey questions target activities, opinions, attitudes, and plans for private public lands. The results provide broader descriptions of who people are, what they believe about recreation and the environment, and what they are doing for recreation. The survey continues to evolve as new needs arise. Results from the NSRE are slated for publication in book form in early 2002, with current summaries and updates available online at the Southern Research Station website at http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/trends.

In July 2001, the RWU started a new project to identify the effects of rapidly expanding urban populations on urban forests and the wildlandurban interfaces of the South. Research areas include the economic benefits of trees in suburban settings, the economic benefits of converting abandoned railways to recreation corridors, and comparisons of urban and nonurban recreation preferences and values.

Researchers are also using data from the NSRE to examine interactions between forest management and nearby rural communities, especially minority communities and communities in the wildland-urban interface. Studies are underway to explore the role wilderness resources play in the quality of life in southern rural communities, to estimate recreation in national

Natural water slide

forests by minorities and underserved populations, to evaluate the effects of wildfire on recreational use, and to compare perceptions and recreational uses of various subpopulations of national forest visitors.

Since 1994, researchers have completed a number of studies on the economic effects of outdoor recreation activities on communities located near public lands. New methods for estimating economic impacts have been developed, and have become part of standard practice in evaluating the relationship between recreation and rural economics. Related research has improved understanding of the dependence of rural communities on nature-based tourism and how rural economic growth is directly enhanced by natural resources. Sites researched have included white-water rafting venues, wildlands and coastal sites in Florida and South Carolina, and mountain biking sites in the Appalachians. Findings from recent site-based studies include: · Mountain biking and guided whitewater rafting are among the most highly valued

#### Backpacking in North Carolina

outdoor pursuits in the U.S.





21

Successes- Our Major Accomplishments



• Race and gender influence the demand for wildland recreation trips.

• User fees can influence the number of visits made members of some ethnic groups.

• The economic values for many outdoor recreation activities are increasing faster than the rate of inflation.

• Most Americans support user fees for public land.

Footprints on the Land: Demographic Trends and the Future of Natural Resources in the United States, published in 2001, presents the results of a national assessment the RWU conducted to identify where the greatest impacts from demographic change are likely to occur over the next decade. The book represents the first time these trends have been interpreted in relation to forest and natural resources management.

Included in the book are chapters on natural lands and the America mindset, trends in population and urban growth, changes in the social composition and economic trends in the

What we learned from the Southern Forest Resource Assessment: Hotspots of recreation demand pressure on forests, 2000 United States, rural communities in transition, and trends in leisure and outdoor recreation. The book identifies "hotspots"—wildland areas pressured by rising population, urbanization, and increased demand for recreation—to provide information for developing the strategies needed for sustaining increasingly scarce natural lands.

#### **Other Significant Accomplishments**

Established a southern Appalachian study area as part of a nationwide interdisciplinary study to assess the impacts of fuel reduction techniques such as prescribed fire and mechanical thinning on breeding birds, reptiles, and small mammals.

Continued a cooperative study with the University of Florida on the production of fleshy fruit and hard mast in five types of habitat on the DOE-operated site near the Savannah River in South Carolina.

Published the results of a study on the response of small mammals, reptiles, and amphibians to forest canopy gaps cared by wind and other natural disturbances.







#### National forest urban interface

Worked with a wide range of agencies to identify the ecoregions of North Carolina based on a system that combines the terrestrial and aquatic schemes; produced a draft map of 27 distinct ecoregions within North Carolina.

Presented the "NED" Decision Support Process to a group of French forest managers and researchers.

Consulted with Jewish National Fund to develop a tree improvement strategy for the country of Israel.

Collaborated with the Institute of Ecology, Xalapa, Mexico, on plant ecology studies.

Hosted a visiting scientist from the National University of Mexico to develop collaborative research and training opportunities between Coweeta Hydrologic Lab and long-term ecological research programs and watershed scale studies in Mexico. Consulted on utilization of plantation timber for the Taiwan Forestry Bureau, Taipei, China.

Continued research in Costa Rica to improve protected area buffer zone management by analyzing results of a landowner survey.

Demonstrated feasibility of alternative logging methods in tropical areas by cost-benefit analysis of sustainable timber harvests.

H. Ken Cordell was the recipient of the 2001 Chief of the Forest Service Honor Award for Distinguished Science. He was recognized for his outstanding research and assessment contributions to the study of long-term trends in outdoor recreation and wilderness.

Wayne Swank, emeritus scientist, has been designated as SAF Fellow by the Society of American Foresters (SAF) in recognition for outstanding service to forestry and SAF. 2001

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

24

# Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling

#### **Southern Forest Resource Assessment**

The draft report of the Southern Forest Resource Assessment was completed. The Assessment was initiated in May 1999 to examine the status, trends, and potential future of southern forests and their various benefits. The SRS and Southern Region of the USDA Forest Service led the effort in cooperation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Environmental Protection Agency, Tennessee Valley Authority, and Southern States represented by their forestry and fish and wildlife agencies. The intent was to develop a thorough description of forest conditions and trends in the South to help the public understand complex natural resource management topics. The Assessment addresses topics regarding the sustainability of southern forests in light of increasing urbanization and timber harvests, changing technologies such as chip mills, forest pests, climatic changes, and other factors that influence the region's forests.

The co-leader of the project was David Wear, Project Leader of the Economics of Forest Resources RWU in Research Triangle Park, NC. The Economics RWU scientists contributed several technical analyses in support of the Assessment. They examined historical data on land use, forecast where and how land use could change in the future, and analyzed the direct contribution of forests to local economies in terms of jobs and income returned from timber management and recreational activities. They studied the overall contribution of southern forests to quality of life in the region, and examined potential changes resulting from land use and timber management.

The findings of the Assessment have led to some broad observations about the status and future of southern forests: • Urbanization presents a substantial threat to the extent, condition, and health of forests.

• Total forest area will remain stable, but subregional and compositional changes will continue.

• Timber production is forecast to expand but will not deplete forest inventories below current levels.

• Investment in pine plantations is forecast to expand to meet increased softwood demand; this has implications for the ecological characteristics of southern forests.

• Changing land use and harvest patterns will have important impacts on people.

The recreational use of forests was an important component of the draft report of the Southern Forest Resource Assessment. Findings from the National Survey on Recreation and the Environment provided needed information about the values people hold for forest resources. In rating a group of 12 forest values, subjects from the general public gave the highest rankings to

#### Kayaking in Georgia



Successes- Our Major Accomplishments

## Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling



#### **Bank fishing**

clean air and water and protecting habitat, and the lowest rankings to timber management for commodity purposes. In terms of attitude, 80 percent agreed that "the earth is fragile and humans are upsetting the balance." These findings have definite implications for how decisions will be made for managing relatively scarce public land resources in the South.

The Assessment was released on Web site <u>http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/sustain/</u> in November 2001, with a public comment period ending at the

What we learned from the Southern Forest Resource Assessment: Forecast change in share of land that is urban for counties in the South, 1992 to 2020 beginning of February, 2002. The final reports are expected to be printed later in 2002. ▲

## Understanding the Relationship Between Soil Components and Carbon Sequestration

Experiments conducted at two sites in central North Carolina, one at Duke Forest near Raleigh and one at the USDA Forest Service's Southeast Tree Research and Education Site in Scotland County, NC, indicate that elevated levels of atmospheric carbon dioxide may have more limited effect on forest growth than previously expected. While many short-term studies have shown atmospheric carbon dioxide (a "greenhouse" gas) increases tree growth, the experiments, which were discussed in an article in the May 24 research journal Nature, showed that without additional nutrients, initial growth increases of mature loblolly pine trees leveled off after the first three years of exposure. In addition to nutrient limitations, growth responses were also sensitive to the availability of soil moisture. The presence of elevated levels of carbon dioxide alone, which is occurring due to global industrialization and land use changes, may not result in a long-term increase in the rate of tree growth. However, the results also suggest that



25

Change in percent urban 1992 to 2020  $4 < 10 \\ -10 \text{ to } 5 \\ 5 \text{ to } 5 \\ 5 \text{ to } 10 \\ > 10$ 

## Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling



26

forest fertilization, already a practice in southern pine plantations, might become even more beneficial in a high carbon dioxide world.

The study is part of the effort to understand the relationship between forests that often are limited to sites with low nutrient soils, and carbon sequestration, in order to estimate current and future global carbon budgets. Researchers from the Biological Foundations of Sustainability RWU and the Southern Global Change Program are working on the cooperative study. They determined that along a gradient of decreasing site fertility, nutrient amendments (nitrogen) would become increasingly necessary if forested ecosystems are to help reduce the rate at which atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations increase. The study was collaboratively funded by the USDA Forest Service; the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Health and Environmental Research; the National Institute for Global Environmental Change, Southeast Regional Center at the University of Alabama; and the National Science Foundation's Multi-User Instrument Program.

The Forest Operations RWU is working to develop a better understanding of the effect of forest operations systems on the ecological processes of forest ecosystems. One study investigated the potential for enhancing soil carbon storage by mechanically mulching woody debris and stirring it into the upper soil layer. Incorporation of the shredded wood led to a larger amount of carbon held in the soil. This suggests that the development of new tools to efficiently mulch forest debris could be beneficial in addressing greenhouse gases.

The results of this research will be used to improve management of forests. Through a better understanding of preexisting soil properties and the expected impacts of forest operations, managers will be able to develop treatments that are best suited for a particular forest site. In addition, new technologies in site preparation and carbon sequestration may be able to effectively improve forest soil condition and enhance ecological benefits from forest management.

# Southern High-Resolution Modeling Consortium (SHRMC)

Significant new funding under the National Fire Plan was provided to the Disturbance of Southern Pine Ecosystems RWU in Athens, GA to initiate a modeling consortium to develop smoke models and air quality models that require high-resolution weather data and predictive weather models using such data. It is one of four Forest Service highresolution modeling consortia being established nationwide to provide national forests, State forestry agencies, air quality regulators, and researchers with products derived from highresolution forecast weather data. The four consortia will collaborate to share products that have national application. Most effort during FY01 was directed to the start-up of SHRMC, including forming partnerships with other agencies to develop products that meet their needs. Researchers are attempting to provide high-resolution forecast weather data on the Internet to users of the models. Key accomplishments are: 1) establishing a cooperative agreement with the Department of Geography, University of Georgia, to develop modeling capability and develop new models using the data, as well as transfer this technology to users; 2) installing a NOAA port satellite downlink for the high resolution weather data; 3) designing and purchasing components to assemble two super computers to run SHRMC programs.

SHRMC will make available data and models for predicting fire weather, fire severity, smoke movement, air quality, and other products as users specify needs. The models will be useful for long-range fire resource allocations, air quality regulations, and decreasing the hazards from smoke reducing visibility on roadways, which will be valuable for improving public health and safety. Cooperators identified to date include the University of Georgia, the Southern Region of the USDA Forest Service, Georgia Forestry Commission, Georgia Department of Transportation, Environmental Protection Agency, and the modeling consortia in other research stations.

## Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling

#### **Other Significant Accomplishments**

Improved the decision-support tool LEEMATH (Landscape Evaluation of Effects of Management Activities on Timber and Habitat) by incorporating state-of-the-art knowledge into models and databases. LEEMATH permits timely evaluation of effects of alternative forest management strategies on both timber production and wildlife habitat quality at large spatial scales.

Identified important differences in the valuations that result from using different contemporary survey techniques, and examined how people place value on combinations of various resource qualities contained in a forest.

Developed a National Integrated Environmental Modeling Project (NIEMP) with the northern and western Forest Service Global Change programs to better collaborate research methods and findings across the nation. Developed a process-based forest soil carbon model and successfully validated it in boreal and subtropical soils.

Invited by Inner Mongolia Forestry Academy, People's Republic of China, to visit the arid grassland in the Mongolia steppes and discuss local land degradation and desertification issues; presented seminars on global change and watershed management.

The "Operating an Efficient, Effective, and Discrimination-Free Organization" USDA Secretary's Honor Award was received by the Climate Change Negotiations Analytic Support Team, Office of the Chief Economist; **Hermann Gucinski**, was one of the Forest Service members of the group.



2001

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

28

# Inventory and Monitoring

#### Forest Inventory and Analysis

The Forest Service has collected data for the Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA)-the census of the Nation's forests-for over 70 years. An invaluable source of consistent, long-term information on forestland, FIA relies on numerous partners at the national, State and private levels. Over the last few years, the Forest Service has reoriented the FIA program by implementing annual inventories and by expanding the scope of the inventory itself. FIA has traditionally collected information on forest area and location: the species and size of trees, total tree growth, health and mortality, wood production and use rates, and forest landownership. The enhancements include data on tree crown condition, lichen community composition, soil, coarse woody debris, understory vegetation, and ozone indicator plants. Previously, the Forest Health Monitoring (FHM) program took these measurements; all FHM plot measurements have now been integrated into the FIA survey.

Measuring individual trees on forest plot





**Recording plot information** 

FIA is the only program providing long-term forest resource data on both public and private lands. The inventory includes information on how much forested land exists, whether forest areas are increasing or decreasing, what species a forest includes and how this is changing, how quickly trees are growing and dying, and how the forest ecosystem is changing in terms of soil and vegetation. Users of this information include policymakers, land managers, researchers, constituency groups, and the general public. Historically, FIA conducted periodic inventoriesusually ranging from eight to 12 years-for each of the States. With the passage of the Agricultural Research, Extension, and Educational Reform Act of 1998, annual inventories became the norm for the entire FIA program.

FIA data are collected in three phases. First, and is classified as forest or nonforest and spatial measurements are taken of urbanization and fragmentation. Aerial photography traditionally provided the data for this phase; research continues on the use of satellite imagery to replace the use of aerial photos. In phase two, locations for field sampling are selected, with one FIA plot chosen for every 6,000 acres. Field crews collect a variety of data from these sample

## Inventory and Monitoring

locations. Federal funding provides resources for 15 percent of the remeasurement, with participating State Foresters adding resources to bring the rate up to 20 percent annually. For phase three, a subset of phase two plots (approximately 1 for every 96,000 acres) are sampled during the growing season to provide the additional data needed for the enhanced survey, and then at 20 percent annually.

The FIA program applies a consistent sampling method across the entire nation; the southern FIA covers 13 Southern States, as well as Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The area includes 213 million acres of forest that shelters wildlife, ensures water quality, and provides recreational and economic benefits to the region. By the end of FY01, the FIA program had established annual surveys for 10 states (AL, AR, FL, GA, KY, LA, SC, VA, TN, and TX), and had collected phase three data in Puerto Rico. In 2001, cooperative agreements with the Southern States to implement annual inventories totaled \$4.3 million with over 8,300 plots measured during the year.

FIA data are used to assess resource sustainability by forest industry, State forestry agencies, consultants, and other Forest Service units. In the last year, FIA scientists also led or provided support to numerous other ongoing efforts, including the Southern Forest Resource Assessment (SFRA). During FY01, the southern FIA program also completed the National Timber Products Output (TPO) Report for the nationally mandated Resources Planning Act (RPA) 2003 database. The program also published comprehensive analyses of the forest resources of Texas, Oklahoma and Mississippi. In addition, the first compilation of annual inventory data for Georgia was made available to the public on the SRS Web site.

Southern FIA scientists continued to develop techniques to more fully implement the annual forest inventory system. They completed research on using remote sensing to assess forest damage from catastrophic events. First used after the Mississippi ice storm of 1994, the two-step sampling method allows scientists to quickly assess forest damage. Researchers fly over the area, recording imagery on a video camera. Global Positioning System coordinates are encoded onto the video images during flight and used to map out zones of similar forest damage using a Geographic Information System. Then researchers link the damage zone data to the latest FIA inventory data to estimate resource damage. The FIA airborne video system—easy to transport and install—provides a way to quickly assess forest damage when there is a need for rapid response.

FIA scientists also developed tree crown diameter models from the FIA database to provide a framework for classifying forest area based on satellite data. Cooperating scientists from the U.S. Geological Survey and other Forest Service FIA programs used the data from the models to create a new generation of forest area classifications.

#### Collecting forest inventory data





29

Successes- Our Major Accomplishments

## Inventory and Monitoring



#### Forest Health Monitoring Program

The national Forest Health Monitoring (FHM) program was designed to monitor, assess, and report on long-term trends in forest ecosystems. FHM analyzes data from a range of sources for a variety of forest ecosystem indicators. FHM also researches and evaluates new methods to collect and interpret data and to facilitate assessment on specific regional issues such as air pollution, exotic pests, and tree decline.

The FHM program conducts research to improve forest health monitoring methods and technologies. In FY01, the FHM RWU located in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, focused on developing new indicators, monitoring systems, and analytical techniques for the health monitoring of urban forests and riparian areas. Specific projects included:

- research on street trees and nature reserves in urban areas,
- a revision of the ozone biomonitoring national system,
- a national analysis of forest fragmentation,
- indicators of biodiversity and national health for the 2003 Sustainability Report, and
- the review of soil carbon monitoring.

The RWU researched new indicators (salamanders, earthworms, and tree crown closure), developed methods to detect regional "hotspots," and constructed a systems model for FIA phase two and three indicators.

Until recently, FHM collected measurement data from different plots than those set up for the Forest Inventory Assessment (FIA) program. Over the last decade, the two programs have worked together to integrate their methods and plot locations. In 2000, FIA took on full responsibility for taking FHM plot measurements, freeing FHM to focus on research, evaluation, and assessment topics. By the end of 2001, FIA and FHM detection monitoring programs at SRS were almost fully integrated. The integrated programs will continue to provide essential information on forest ecosystems over the next decades of certain change due to increasing carbon dioxide concentrations, changing climate, and extreme weather events.

#### **Other Significant Accomplishments**

New methods have been developed to provide a way to directly measure timber supply effects from FIA surveys, which will enhance the usefulness of these surveys as we move from periodic to continuous sampling methods.

Presented information about scientific methods for global monitoring criterion and indicators of forest sustainability to the International Environmetrics Society.

Collaborated with the Food and Agricultural Organization and Mexico to determine that the SRS modeling process was effective for land cover classification in areas with persistent cloud cover, such as the tropics.

**Greg Reams** was recognized as part of a group with a Forest Service FIA (Forest Inventory and Analysis) Director's Award for outstanding outreach and technology transfer through conception and implementation of the Annual FIA Science Symposium Series.

The **Southern Group of State Foresters** was recognized with a Forest Service FIA Director's Award for Excellence for their active support and partnership in helping the Southern FIA program transition to an annualized inventory approach.
# 2001

**U.S.** Department of Agriculture **Forest Service** Southern Research Station

c μ N²

 $\infty$ 

\$ Σ



**CCA-treated deck materials** 

#### **Recycling and Reusing Wood Products**

Foundation

Programs

Research continues to evaluate repaired pallets, to find ways to make high valued products from discarded wood, and to determine the status of wood pallet disposal and recovery at landfills throughout the United States. Surveys found a decrease in the number of pallets entering landfills from 1995 and 1998. These results indicate that previous efforts on pallet repair research are being heavily used by the pallet recovery and reuse industry. A major paper was published on the strength properties of used pallet parts. This information allows designing pallets for specific uses when using recovered parts.

Pallet recovery continues to increase, which results in saving trees by reducing the need for new wood. It also leads to a decrease in disposal of pallets in landfills. A business plan model and economic evaluator was developed that encourages recycling of used pallets and fosters





## Foundation Programs



high value uses of well-used pallets; previously, such pallets would have ended up in landfills.

Estimates are that nearly 60 percent of southern pine lumber receives some type of preservative treatment, with creosote, chromated copper arsenate (CCA), or penta. These treatments improve the durability of wood and greatly extend its service life. They also create a disposal challenge at the end of the product life cycle. Because preservative treatments may be formulated with hazardous chemical compounds to resist the decay induced by the environment, they are not acceptable for landfill disposal. The presence of harsh chemicals in the wood also precludes its use in conventional recycling systems.

Scientists at Blacksburg, VA and Pineville, LA are addressing these issues. Research efforts on the potential recovery and reuse of discarded treated (CCA) wood products, like old wood decking materials attached to residential homes, have been completed and a comprehensive report has been published. Studies are in progress to look at potential solid-wood uses for recovered CCA-treated lumber.





**Repaired pallets** 

The research effort has resulted in the development of a novel method for the removal of the heavy metal component (copper, chromium, arsenic) from spent CCA-treated wood. The CCA-treated wood was first converted into liquid through a chemical reaction. The liquefied wood was then diluted with water to result in a solution that was easy to process. More than 90 percent of the hazardous components were then removed by precipitation with selected agents. The remaining liquefied wood solution was then concentrated and used as a raw material to produce polymer products. Development of the patent application for the process to remove the CCA components is progressing. ▲

## Providing Economic and Tax Information to Forestland Managers and Owners

The pattern and structure of forestland ownership and management has been changing rapidly in the South. Institutional timberland investments by pension funds, insurance companies and others have increased rapidly since the 1980's. In general, most institutional timberland investments are placed and managed through timberland investment management organizations (TIMOs). At the same time, there has been a strong call for the realization of the monetary value of the industrial timberland holdings.

Research by the Legal, Tax, and Economic Influences RWU found that the long-term growth of institutional timberland investments depends on the ability of TIMOs to deal effectively with securitization, leveraging, arbitraging, supply contracting, portfolio

Bald cypress swamp in Mississippi

## Foundation Programs





33

#### Log loader timber harvesting

insurance, tax efficiency enhancement, and other issues. The study examined the alternatives and found that financial engineering holds great promise for many of these issues. The techniques can improve the incentives of the TIMOs to effectively manage their lands at a reduced risk, and provide forest products companies the ability to meet their needs for raw materials.

Another study considered the value of forest products companies holding timberland in the context of the overall manufacturing operations of the forest products industry. Scientists examined the nature of capital investments in the forest products industry. The industry has cyclical prices, requires large amounts of capital, and its assets can only produce one type of product (asset specificity). A model assessed the effect of holding timberland on various operating decisions facing the company and showed that holding timberland can enhance the ability of companies to make decisions that can result in financial success in the long term.

Both studies provide valuable research on changing institutional patterns impacting the ownership and management of forests both in the South and across the nation. An economic examination of changing institutional ownership patterns will help ensure that there is an economic basis for long-term, sustainable forest management and economic production.

The Forest Landowners Guide to the Federal Income Tax, Agriculture Handbook 718, is the latest in a series of handbooks describing the provisions of the Federal income tax that affect nonindustrial private forests. It updates the previous handbook for tax legislation passed and administrative changes promulgated through the year 2000. In addition, it contains substantial additional information on depreciation and the Section 179 deduction, like-kind exchanges, the alternative minimum tax for individuals, and sources of tax assistance.

The handbook is recognized as the single most comprehensive source of information on the Federal income tax available to nonindustrial forest owners, and to the forestry, tax, and legal professionals who serve them. It is the principal reference for forest taxation workshops provided throughout the United States by the Forest Service's "Tax Team." During FY01, over 800 forest owners and forestry, tax, and legal professionals attended workshops given by Tax Team members.

## Foundation Programs



Incorporating Economics and Environmental Law into Forest Management and Investment Decisions

The paper "Characterizing the Sustainable Forestry Issue Network in the United States" was published in the journal Forest Policy and Economics. New information from the research for this paper indicates that policy research tools incorporating Delphi methodology can produce meaningful results in an area where Delphi had not been previously utilized. While a highly diverse set of participants (including Federal government entities, State government entities, forestry and environmental interest groups, academia, and others) engaged in debating the merits of sustainable forest management (SFM), no single stakeholder group dominated the debate. These debates are not expected to result in new public sector policies, although the USDA Forest Service, several State forestry agencies, forest industry, and academia, are projected to change internal policies and procedures to reflect sustainable forest management concerns.

Practical applications of this new knowledge are primary methodological. For example, a similar approach is being utilized to prepare a chapter of the 2003 National Report on Sustainable Forest Management. Accordingly, while the primary benefits of this work will be to policy and other social science researchers as it provides an additional methodological tool, interest group leaders and other interested members of the public will benefit from a clearer understanding of the current state of politics associated with the issue of SFM.

The paper that shows that while sustainable forest management concepts originated through United Nations sponsored programs in the developing world, the main factors motivating stakeholder participation in the United States are dissatisfaction with past practices, societal interest in the environment, and desire to sustain forests. These findings strongly suggest that SFM has been absorbed into the broader debate over the desired management of forests and is therefore not a transitory issue.

#### Other Significant Accomplishments

Researched developing digital camera technology to quickly, accurately, and nondestructively determine tree volumes and values, and potential products.

Determined that monetary exchange rates are important determinants of southern wood exports.

Completed a long-term study of alternative erosion control treatments which showed that erosion matting, native grass species, or exotic species were similarly effective in reducing sediment yield.

Organized an Internet workshop on exotic pest movement through trade in wood products and solid wood packing materials: http://www.exoticpests.apsnet.org/

Planned studies to investigate native termites to provide critical data to assess the impact of the Formosan Subterranean Termite on southern forests.

Developed tools to aid in controlling and managing nonnative invasive plant species.

Contributed to the registration and use of termite control products.

Compared reduced-impact and conventional logging methods in the eastern Amazon; results indicated that reduced-impact operations generate competitive or even superior returns when compared with conventional logging approaches.

Gave 3 invited presentations to international audiences in Argentina and France on the impacts of forest herbicides on soil, water, wildlife, forest, and aquatic ecosystems.

Presented a paper about USDA termiticide tests to the Second International Symposium on *Coptotermes formosanus*.

Helped organize an international three-week long Internet workshop on exotic pest movement through trade in wood products and solid wood packing materials.

## What's Ahead– Emerging Research Priorities



Knowledge Gaps from
the Southern Forest
Resource Assessment
Longleaf Pine Restoration 37
Bent Creek Experimental
Forest
Hypertext Encyclopedia 37
Urban Forestry Research and
Technology Transfer Center 38
Wildland-Urban Interface 38
Coweeta Hydrologic
Laboratory
Forest Operations Research 39
Life Cycle of Wood 39
Forest Inventory and Analysis 39
Fire 40

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

36

## Emerging Research Priorities

#### Knowledge Gaps from the Southern Forest Resource Assessment

Available information used in developing the Southern Forest Resource Assessment has allowed identification of several emerging issues about the sustainability of southern forests, but additional information is needed to refine understanding and more clearly identify problems and solutions. Each chapter in the Technical Report identifies key uncertainties in specific topic areas. The following are some key issues that cut across the various topic areas:

• Expanding populations and impacts on ecosystems. More heavily populated rural and urban landscapes will impact wildlife, water, and other benefits derived from forested ecosystems in the South. Additional information is needed to reduce uncertainties regarding: (1) forecasts of how and where these changes might occur, (2) how human population density influences forest ecosystems and options for their management, and (3) how development can be designed to promote forest sustainability.

• Markets, management, and values. Because private landowners control most southern forests, forest conditions are determined by private management choices. These choices are heavily influenced by markets for forest goods and services and by other values derived from forests. A full accounting and understanding of how values are formed and how decisions are made is crucial for clarifying how forest uses and the flow of benefits will change in the future.

• Forest Productivity. The productivity of forest ecosystems is a key factor in determining land allocation, forest use, and ultimately forest conditions across the South. Productivity extends beyond timber production to include the provision of wildlife, clean water, and other benefits of forests, and is influenced to uncertain degrees by several forces of change.

• Forecasting ecological changes. This Assessment has highlighted the multiple forces of change at work in the South's forests. Yet tools are not available for: (1) forecasting the implications of these multiple, interacting changes on the area, structure, and function of southern forest ecosystems, and (2) fully understanding the impacts on values that are derived from these systems. Such tools would help identify emerging scarcities within the region.

• Analysis at landscape and regional scales. Science and management conducted at these broad scales are relatively new endeavors. Most forest research has been conducted at very fine scales, often without the information needed to develop implications at broader scales. When the scale at which the science is conducted does not match the questions that are being asked, answers are often incomplete.

• Fire ecology and management. Elimination of natural fire cycles is one of the most substantial alterations imposed by humans on the forested ecosystems of the South. Uncertainties exist regarding: (1) the role of fire in specific ecotypes, and (2) strategies for effectively and safely reintroducing fire into forest ecosystems.

• Pine plantations and ecosystem functions. Some portions of the South will see increased concentrations of pine plantations. Landscapelevel ecological implications of increased pine plantations are uncertain. Additional information on the wildlife implications of expanding pine plantations is needed, especially in the Coastal Plain of Georgia, Alabama, Florida, and Mississippi. ▲

What's Ahead- Emerging Research Priorities



Longleaf pine seedlings

#### Longleaf Pine Restoration

The Longleaf Pine and Vegetation Management RWU has a long history of successes in developing forest vegetation management research for sustaining southern forests, and working in collaboration with the Longleaf Alliance to restore and manage longleaf pines. Scientists will continue work to enhance research related to nursery technology and reforestation needed to support the restoration of the longleaf pine ecosystem. The SRS will support the national reforestation specialist position that is jointly funded by the three branches of the Forest Service, meeting its commitment to the Virtual Center for Reforestation. Guidelines are being developed for longleaf pine regeneration and management through prescribed fire, application of selective vegetation treatments, and use of innovative mechanical systems.

#### **Bent Creek Experimental Forest**

Bent Creek Experimental Forest has been the site for multiple studies on the forest regeneration process since 1921. Research on tree and vegetation response is complemented by studies on the response of small animals and birds to changes in forest structure and composition. Ongoing and new studies by the Southern Appalachian Forests RWU at Bent Creek include:

- GIS-based methods for predicting site quality, species composition, and productivity
- Creation of the Southern Appalachian variant of the national Forest Vegetation Simulator
- Development of a new ecological framework based on overstory tree information

- Vertebrate responses to forest canopy gap disturbance
- Fleshy fruit and mast production in the Southern Appalachians
- Response of mammals, snakes, lizards, and birds to fire

A subunit of the Southern Appalachian Forests RWU has been established in Huntsville, AL to address Cumberland Plateau Forests research needs: 1) expand efforts to develop silvicultural strategies to reestablish American chestnut, 2) establish studies to examine successional change in upland forests of the Cumberland Plateau impacted by the southern pine beetle, and 3) establish studies to enhance capability to predict development of small trees in productivity models.

#### Hypertext Encyclopedia

The methods used to create, store, and communicate knowledge have changed little since the invention of the printing press in the middle of the fifteenth century. Repositories of knowledge still largely consist of static, linear print media that assume a single, fixed skill level by the intended audience. In southern forest science an overwhelming body of information exists that is neither easily accessible nor readily useable for ecosystem management because it has not been synthesized and integrated into a coherent, meaningful knowledge structure.

Web-based, hypertext encyclopedia theory and practice have matured enough to offer an opportunity for the Southern Research Station to significantly improve its ability to narrow the huge gap between what scientists know and what natural resource managers and decisionmakers are able to easily apply on the land. An example system has been developed by SRS scientists in cooperation with the Southern Region State and Private Forestry, Athens, GA, and the Artificial Intelligence Center of the University of Georgia, also in Athens. SRS is investigating using Web-based hypertext methodology as a new and additional method to provide a practical, efficient, and affordable way to access and use a large and ever-expanding mass of scientific knowledge.





38

#### Urban Forestry Research and Technology Transfer Center

A new problem area is being added to the Recreation, Urban Forests, and Human Dimensions Research Work Unit in Athens, GA to identify the human perceptions, uses, and values of urban forests in the South. This research program would measure the contributions of these urban forests to quality of life, recreation, safety and health of urban residents; and develop indicators of sustainable urban forest management, including both the ability of urban forests to provide sustained benefits to urban residents and the ability of urban managers to sustain urban and interface forest ecosystems over time. The technology transfer program associated with this research program will be funded jointly by the Southern Region and the Southern Research Station.

#### Wildland-Urban Interface

The Southern Forest Resource Assessment has described an increasingly complex environment for conducting forest management and suggests a need for a broader array of management strategies. New management approaches are especially needed for managing forests in "wildland-urban interface" areas. Continued development of the newly formed Southern Center for Wildland-Urban Interface and Technology Exchange in cooperation with the Southern Group of State Foresters and the University of Florida in Gainesville is planned. This new research work unit will address research, development, and application issues for interface lands throughout the South.

To date, the Center's research and technology transfer has focused on fire in the wildland-urban interface, but further funding would expand this research program to address: (1) forest management issues in areas of increased human influence (e.g., nonnative invasive species, restoring degraded ecosystems, maintaining forest health in the context of urbanization, fragmentation, and small scale private nonindustrial forest land management); (2) public policy and planning issues in the interface, particularly as policy affects land use change, forest management and public health and safety; and (3) the need to monitor and forecast demographic and land use changes in the South. Tools developed by this program would help policy makers, urban planners, and natural resource managers address the myriad issues facing them. A strong technology transfer program will ensure application of this research and development to interface situations throughout the South.

SRS and Louisiana State University will also develop a cooperative research program in social science to address legal, regulatory, and economic dimensions of natural resource management decisions in the wildland-urban interface: (1) local ordinances and regulatory impacts on forest management in the interface, and (2) address social and economic challenges related to the wildland-urban interface along the north shore of Lake Ponchartrain. ▲

#### **Coweeta Hydrologic Laboratory**

The Coweeta basin was set aside as an experimental forest in 1934. Measurements of rainfall, streamflow, climate, and forest growth continue today, providing an important long-term data source. Researchers have

Suburban sprawl covers foothills



published extensively from the first decades of data on the effects of management alternatives at the Wine Spring Creek watershed. Coweeta is one of 24 sites of the National Science Foundation's Long-Term Ecological Research program and is a National Atmospheric Deposition Program site. Nine stations collect rainfall data used to understand the effects of the atmospheric environment on southern forested watersheds. Continuing and upcoming research will include:

• Effects of ecosystem management practices on water, soil, and forest resources through a new level of experiments in areas ranging from sediment movement to nutrient cycling

- Development and validation of nutrient cycling models
- Evaluation of cottonwood trees to remediate polluted groundwater
- Effectiveness of riparian restoration on forest environments
- Long-term forest disturbance dynamics using dendrochronological techniques

• Species-specific models to assess the effects of climate change on hardwood productivity

#### **Forest Operations Research**

Research at Auburn, AL supports sound scientific forest management and policy development by describing how forest operations affect ecological factors and evaluating how technology can improve mechanical, economic, or ecological performance of forest operations. This research provides a key link between increasingly complex forest management plans and desired future conditions for clean air and water, forest products, wildlife, recreation, and other benefits. Continuing research is planned on several critical areas of forest operations, including knowledge of how erosion varies among management activities and site factors, evaluation of technologies for environmental soundness and cost effectiveness, new machine designs for safe working conditions, evaluation of improvements in spatial and operational information, and development of precision forestry applications.

#### Life Cycle of Wood

The Tree Quality, Processing, and Recycling RWU conducts research to enhance wood resource conservation and sustainability through advanced timber analysis and wood processing, and effective wood product recovery, reuse, and recycling. The largest use of hardwood lumber is for pallets, many of which end up in landfills. Work by scientists in Blackburg, VA on pallet repair and recycling has kept millions of pallets out of landfills. The RWU does extensive outreach and technology transfer to bring pallet users together with recyclers and distributes business plan software to potential recylers. Future work includes continuing collaborative efforts with Virginia Tech and the National Wooden Pallet and Container Association on research to design pallets for particular purposes with used parts. Study continues on ways to recover and reuse CCA-treated wood products and on possible solid-wood uses for recovered CCA treated lumber. The use of CCA as a preservative is being phased out.

#### **Forest Inventory and Analysis**

Sending field measurement personnel to all field plots over specified, and often large, areas can be prohibitively expensive for forest management planning and applications. Development of the use of time-sequenced remotely sensed data, in the form of aerial photography or satellite spectral sensors is continuing, in order to stratify forest components by populations of interest and to detect changes. Other monitoring techniques are continuing that will improve the assessment of forest health relating to a variety of resource conditions and issues. This work is necessary to improve statistical modeling and estimation of critical resource attributes. The work will result in models that allow projection of stand growth and development for feasible future use and change scenarios.

Statistical modeling offers the potential to make risk projections for fire/vegetation and fire/ insect interactions and to inventory and monitor invasive insects. To accomplish this development, data are needed to allow modeling for fire risks due to vegetation laddering in pine plantations.





#### Fire

Economic and wildfire production analyses performed for Florida need to be expanded to other fire-prone states in the South, including Texas and Gulf Coast States. This research will link broad-scale wildfire damages to vegetation management and ecological, demographic, and climatic conditions. Costs and benefits associated with prescribed fire will be analyzed in terms of timber management growth and yield, operational cost reductions and nontimber market and non-market values in this fire-prone region. SRS will develop models to predict weather and fire occurrence at finer levels of resolution, to predict smoke movement, and model relationships of climate to fire season severity.

Synergistic detrimental effects of fire and bark beetles are of concern to forest managers. Fires, especially growing season burns, are increasingly associated with subsequent mortality due to bark beetles. Conversely, mortality due to bark beetles leads to increased fuel loading. To better utilize fire as a management tool, and minimize unwanted effects, an increased research effort would help understanding the conditions under which fire predisposes trees to bark beetles and non-native invasive insects. Modeling research will assess the significance of bark beetle mortality on fuel loadings in the region.

It appears that oak dominance may be significantly curtailed following disturbance, including fire. The potential role of fires both historically and as a silvicultural tool in oak regeneration requires additional research. Hypotheses of fire effects will be tested and the findings will serve as a basis for development of prescribed fire regimes should results suggest positive effects of fire on oakregeneration. This work will supplement existing strategies for restoration and maintenance of upland oak ecosystems.



Forest fire

# Our Products–

Books, Presentations, Web Postings



Southern Pine Ecosystems 42
Wetlands, Bottomlands, and Streams 56
Mountain and Highland Ecosystems 62
Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling 68
Inventory and Monitoring 73
Foundation Programs 75

## 2001

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

Each year our scientists publish several hundred journal articles, book chapters, Southern Research Station publications, and other materials. This list of the materials produced in FY01 is sorted according to the primary research programs that they





Achtemeier, Gary L. 2000. PB-Piedmont: A numerical model for predicting the movement of biological material near the ground at night. Presented at the 24th conference on agricultural and forest meteorology and 14th conference on biometeorology and aerobiology. Boston: American Meteorological Society: 178-179.

Achtemeier, Gary L. 2001. Simulating nocturnal smoke movement. Fire Management Today. 61(1): 28-33.

Anderson, Matt; Somers, Greg; Smith, Rick; Freeland, Mickey. 2001. Jabberwocky: an individual tree, spatially explicit, biologically based growth model for longleaf pine at Eglin Air Force Base, Florida. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5:82-84.

Asaro, Christopher; Berisford, C. Wayne. 2001. Predicting infestation levels of the Nantucket pine tip moth (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) using pheromone traps. Environmental Entomologist. 30(4): 776-784.

Avery, Chadwick; Kush, John S. 2001. Are we killing too many large, old trees: restoration efforts in an old-growth longleaf pine stand [Abstract]. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5:18. support, but many of them relate to other areas as well. The last subsection lists materials that relate to multiple programs or continue important studies. Many of these publications are available online at the SRS Web site: <u>http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/pubs/index.htm</u>

**Baldwin, V. Clark, Jr.; Burkhart, Harold E.; Westfall, James A.; Peterson, Kelly D.** 2001. Linking growth and yield and process models to estimate impact of environmental changes on growth of loblolly pine. Forest Science. 47(1): 77-82.

Baldwin,V. Clark, Jr.; Peterson, Kelly D.; Clark, Alexander III [and others]. 2000. The effects of spacing and thinning on stand and tree characteristics of 38-year-old loblolly pine. Forest Ecology and Management. 137: 91-102.

**Barnett, J.P.** 2000. *Pinus elliottii* slash pine. In: Forestry compendium global module. Wallingford, United Kingdom: CAB International Publishing. 15 p. [CD-ROM].

**Barnett, James P.** 2001. Artificial regeneration: an essential component of longleaf pine ecosystem restoration. In: Kush, John C., comp. Forest for your future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic changes: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 8-10.

**Barnett, James P.** 2001. Longleaf pine seedling production. In: Kush, John C., comp. Forest for your future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic changes: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 46-48.

**Barnett, James P.** 2001. Longleaf pine seedling production. The Longleaf Alliance Newsletter. 5(2): 3.

**Barnett, James P.** 2001. The Palustris Experimental Forest—65 years of research that changed the South. In: Kush, John C., comp. Forest for your future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic changes: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5:92-94.

Barnett, James P.; Hainds, Mark J.;

Hernandez, George A. 2001. Interim guidelines for growing longleaf seedlings in containers. In: Moorhead, D.J., ed. Proceedings of the longleaf pine container production workshop. Tifton, GA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, and University of Georgia. 4 p. <u>http://www.bugwood.org/container</u> /LLP62201.html.

Barnett, James P.; McGilvray, John M. 2001. Copper treatment of containers influences root development of longleaf pine seedlings. In: Moorhead, D.J., ed. Proceedings of the longleaf pine container production workshop. Tifton, GA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, and University of Georgia. 3 p. <u>http://www.bugwood.org/</u> <u>container/LLP\_CuRx.html</u>.

Barnett, James P.; McGilvray, John M. 2001. Reducing seed and seedling pathogens improves longleaf pine seedling production. In: Moorhead, D.J., ed. Proceedings of the longleaf pine container production workshop. Tifton, GA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, and University of Georgia. 3 p. <u>http://</u> www.bugwood.org/container/LLP\_2000.html.

Barnett, Jim; Busby, Rod; Burke, Marianne [and others]. 2000. Sustainability and productivity of southern pine ecosystems. Science Update SRS-001. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 27 p.

Bauman, T.A.; Eckhardt, L.G.; Goyer, R.A.; Klepzig, K.D. 2000. Interaction of fire, insects and root pathogens in longleaf pine [Poster abstract]. The third Longleaf Alliance regional conference.

Belanger, Roger P.; Miller, Thomas; Zarnoch, Stanley J. [and others]. 2000. An integrated approach toward reducing losses from fusiform rust in merchantable slash and loblolly pine plantations. Res. Pap. SRS-23. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 14 p.

Bliss, K.M.; Jones, R.H.; Mou, P.P. [and others]. 2000. Effects of spatial nutrient heterogeneity on competitive outcomes in four early successional plant species [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: the 85<sup>th</sup> annual meeting of the Ecological Society of America. Washington, DC: The Ecological Society of America. [Page unknown] **Boerner, Ralph E.J.** 2000. Effects of fire on the ecology of the forest floor and soil of central hardwood forests. In: Yaussy, Daniel A., comp. Proceedings: workshop on fire, people, and the central hardwoods landscape. Gen. Tech Rep. NE-274. Newtown Square, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station: 56-63.

Bolding, M. Chad; Lanford, Bobby L. 2001. Forest fuel reduction through energy wood production using a small chipper/CTL harvesting system. In: Wang, Jingxin; Wolford, Michelle; and McNeel, Joe, eds. Appalachian hardwoods: managing change: Proceedings of the 24th annual meeting of the Council on Forest Engineering. [Corvallis, OR]: Council on Forest Engineering. 6 p. [CD-ROM].

**Booker, Fitzgerald L.; Maier, Christopher A.** 2001. Atmospheric carbon dioxide, irrigation, and fertilization effects on phenolic and nitrogen concentrations in loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) needles. Tree Physiology. 21(9): 609-616.

Bordas, R.M.; Davis, G.A.; Hopkins, B.L. [and others]. 2001. Documentation of hazards and safety perceptions for mechanized logging operations in east central Alabama. Journal of Agricultural Safety and Health. 7(2): 113-123.

**Boyer, William D.** 1998. Regional longleaf pine (*Pinus palustris*) natural regeneration [Abstract]. In: Moranz, R.A.; Hardesty, J.L.; Maute, J. Research report, Eglin Air Force Base, 1998: A compilation of inventory, monitoring and research conducted in support of ecosystem management. Gainesville, FL: The Nature Conservancy: 17-18.

**Boyer, William D.** 2001. A generational change in site index for naturally established longleaf pine on a south Alabama coastal plain site. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(2): 88-92.

**Bragg, Don C.** 2001. Preserving an old-growth pine remnant: do two "wrongs" make a "right"? [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: Ecological Society of America eighty-sixth annual meeting. Washington, DC: The Ecological Society of America: 60.

**Bragg, Don C.; Bragg, Hope A.** 2001. Review of book: Woody plants of North America, by Seiter, John R.; Peterson, John A.; Jensen, Edward C. [Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company (2 CDs).] Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America. [82(3)]: 191-192.





44

Bragg, Don C.; Cain, Michael D.; Guldin, James M.; Shelton, Michael G. 2001. Establishing and managing natural pine stands: the 16th Crossett forestry field day. Monticello, AR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 29 p.

**Britton, K.O.; Orr, D.B.; Sun, J. [and others].** 2000. Kudzu: Potential biocontrol agents for the vine that ate the South [Abstract]. In: Proceedings, 53rd annual meeting of the Southern Weed Science Society. Champaign, IL: Southern Weed Science Society; 53: 93.

**Brockway, Dale G.; Lewis, Clifford E.** 1997. Long-term effects of dormant-season prescribed fire on plant community diversity, structure and productivity in a longleaf pine wiregrass ecosystem. Forest Ecology and Management. 96: 167-183.

**Brockway, Dale G.; Lewis, Clifford E.** 2001. Influence of deer, cattle grazing and timber harvest on plant species diversity in a longleaf pine bluestem ecosystem [Abstract]. In: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting oral presentation abstracts: keeping all the parts: preserving, restoring & sustaining complex ecosystems. Washington, DC: The Ecological Society of America: 61.

**Brockway, Dale G.; Outcalt, Kenneth W.** 2000. Restoring longleaf pine-wiregrass ecosystems: low- rate hexazinone application enhances effects of prescribed fire [Abstract]. In: Moser, W. Keith; Moser, Cynthia F. (eds.). Fire and forest ecology: innovative silviculture and vegetation management. Tall Timbers fire ecology conference proceedings, 21. Tallahassee, FL: Tall Timbers Research Station: 131.

**Buckner, Ed.** 2000. In summary: fire in the evolution of the eastern landscape a timeline. In: Yaussy, Daniel A., comp. Proceedings: workshop on fire, people, and the central hardwoods landscape. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-274. Newtown Square, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station: 120.

**Butnor, John R.** 2000. Comparison and standardization of four soil CO<sub>2</sub> evolution measurement techniques under laboratory and field conditions [Abstract]. In: McNulty, Steve, ed. Advances in terrestrial ecosystem carbon inventory, measurements, and monitoring: Proceedings of a meeting. 1 p. Administrative report. On file with: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Southern Global Change Program, 920 Main Campus Drive, Venture Center II, Suite 300, Raleigh, NC 27606. Butnor, John R.; Doolittle, J.A.; Kress, Lance [and others]. 2000. Use of ground penetrating radar to study tree roots in the Southeastern United States [Abstract]. In: McNulty, Steve, ed. Advances in terrestrial ecosystem carbon inventory, measurements, and monitoring: Proceedings of a meeting. 1 p. Administrative report. On file with: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Southern Global Change Program, 920 Main Campus Drive, Venture Center II, Suite 300, Raleigh, NC 27606.

**Butnor, John R.; Oren, Ram; Johnsen, Kurt H.; Katul, Gabriel G.** 2001. Increases in soil respiration in a CO<sub>2</sub>-enriched atmosphere can be diminished by fertilizer amendments [Abstract]. In: Linking the complexity of forest canopies to ecosystem and landscape function: a traveling workshop. Corvallis, OR: International Union of Forest Research Organizations, Canopy Processes Working Group: 14.

**Cain, M.D.** 2000. Vegetation composition five years after silvicultural treatments to control competition in a natural stand of loblollyshortleaf pines. In: Reynolds, Daniel B., ed. Y2K: the challenge of change: Proceedings, 53rd annual meeting of the Southern Weed Science Society. Champaign, IL: Southern Weed Science Society; 53: 193-198.

**Cain, Michael D.; Shelton, Michael G.** 2001. Natural loblolly and shortleaf pine productivity through 53 years of management under four reproduction cutting methods. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(1): 7-16.

Cain, Michael D.; Shelton, Michael G. 2001. Secondary forest succession following reproduction cutting on the upper coastal plain of southeastern Arkansas, USA. Forest Ecology and Management. 146: 223-238.

**Cain, Michael D.; Shelton, Michael G.** 2001. Twenty years of natural loblolly and shortleaf pine seed production on the Crossett Experimental Forest in southeastern Arkansas. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(1): 40-45.

Callaham, Mac A., Jr.; Blair, John M.; Hendrix, Paul F. 2001. Different behavioral patterns of the earthworms *Octolasion tyrtaeum* and *Diplocardia* spp. in tallgrass prairie soils: potential influences on plant growth. Biologia and Fertility of Soils. 34: 49-56.

**Cao, Quang V.; Dean, Thomas J.; Baldwin, V. Clark, Jr.** 2000. Modeling the size-density relationship in direct-seeded slash pine stands. Forest Science. 46(3): 317-321.

#### Carter, E.A.; Grace, J.M. III; Torbert,

J.L. 2000. The impact of intensive management practices on runoff quantity and quality in a loblolly pine plantation [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: annual meetings, American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America. Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America. [Page unknown]

**Carter, E.A.; McDonald, T.P.; Torbert, J.L.** 2000. Harvest traffic monitoring and soil physical response in a pine plantation. In: Proceedings of the 5th international conference on precision agriculture and other resource management. Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America. 13 p.

**Carter, Emily; McDonald, Tim; Torbert, John.** 1999. Assessment of soil strength variability in a harvested loblolly pine plantation in the Piedmont region of Alabama, United States. In: IEA Bioenergy Task 18 "Conventional Systems for Bioenergy Workshop." Rotorua, New Zealand: New Zealand Forest Research Institute: 237-249.

**Carter, Emily; McDonald, Tim; Torbert, John.** 2000. Assessment of soil strength variability in a harvested loblolly pine plantation in the Piedmont region of Alabama, United States. New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science. 30(1/2): 237-249.

**Carter, G.A.; Freedman, A.; Kebabian, P.L.** 2000. Remote detection of solar-excited chlorophyll florescence as a previsual indicator of stress in terrestrial plants [Abstract]. In: Proceedings of the sixth international conference, remote sensing for marine and coastal environments. Ann Arbor, MI: Veridian ERIM International: 197. Vol. II.

Clark, Alexander III; Daniels, Richard F. 2000. Estimating moisture content of tree-length roundwood. In: Pulping/process and product quality conference. Atlanta: TAPPI Press. 6 p.

Clinton, Barton D.; Maier, Chris A.; Sullivan, Neal H. 2001. An examination of the relationship between sapflow rate and measured stem  $CO_2$  efflux in trees [Poster abstract]. In: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting abstracts: keeping all the parts: preserving, restoring, & sustaining complex ecosystems. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 267. Conner, Richard N.; McCormick, James R.; Schaefer, Richard R.; Saenz, Daniel. 2000. A redcockaded woodpecker group with two simultaneous nest trees [Abstract]. In: Abstracts of scientific papers and posters: meetings of the Association of Field Ornithologists and Wilson Ornithological Society. Houston: Houston Audubon Society and Gulf Coast Bird Observatory. [Not paged].

Conner, Richard N.; Saenz, Daniel; Rudolph, D. Craig [and others]. 2001. Does red-cockaded woodpecker excavation of resin wells increase risk of bark beetle infestation of cavity trees? The Auk. 118(1): 219-224.

Conner, Richard N.; Saenz, Daniel; Rudolph, D. Craig; Schaefer, Richard R. 2001. Does the availability of artificial cavities affect cavity excavation rates in red-cockaded woodpeckers? [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: 119th stated meeting, American Ornithologists' Union and 20th annual meeting, Society of Canadian Ornithologists. Seattle: University of Washington: 16.

Conner, Richard N.; Shackelford, Clifford E.; Saenz, Daniel; Schaefer, Richard R. 2001. Interactions between nesting pileated woodpeckers and wood ducks [Abstract]. In: Abstracts, eightysecond meeting of the Wilson Ornithological Society. Fayetteville, AR: University of Arkansas: 4.

**Coody, Anthony R.; Fettig, Christopher J.; Nowak, John T.; Berisford, C. Wayne.** 2000. Previous tip moth infestations predispose trees to heavier attacks in subsequent generations. Journal of Entomological Science. 35(1): 83-85.

Correa de Lima, Jorge Paladino; de Mello Filho, Jose Americo; Wade, Dale D. 2001. Effects of simulated crown scorch on survival and growth of longleaf pine in USA. In: 2nd Latin American forest fire control forum. In Portuguese with abstract in English. [CD-ROM].

Courchene, Charles E.; Clark, Alexander III; Belli, Monique L. [and others]. 2000. Effects of intensive silvicultural treatments on kraft pulp quality of loblolly and slash pine. In: Pulping/ process and product quality conference. Atlanta: TAPPI Press. 9 p.

**Cutter, B.E.; Hunt, K.; Haywood, J.D.** 1999. Tree/wood quality in slash pine following long-term cattle grazing. Agroforestry Systems. 44: 305-312.

Davis, G.A.; Edmisten, E.D.; Thomas, R.E. [and others]. 2001. Effects of ventilated safety helmets in a hot environment. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics. 27: 321-329.





**De Groot, Peter; DeBarr, Gary L.** 2000. Response of cone and twig beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) and a predator (Coleoptera: Cleridae) to pityol, conophthorin, and verbenone. The Canadian Entomologist. 132: 843-851.

**Dean, Thomas J.** 2001. Potential effect of stand structure on belowground allocation. Forest Science. 47(1): 69-76.

**Dungey, H.S.; Dieters, M.J.; Gwaze, D.P.** [and others]. 2000. Interspecific pine hybrids. II. Genotype by environment interactions across Australia, Swaziland and Zimbabwe. Forest Genetics 7(1): 21-30.

**Dwinell, David L.** 2000. Effect of methyl bromide on *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* in pine wood. In: Proceedings of the 2000 annual international research conference on methyl bromide alternatives and emissions reductions. [Place of publication unknown]: Methyl Bromide Alternatives Outreach: 71-1 - 71-3. In cooperation with: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, and U.S. Department of Agriculture.

Dwinell, L. David; Fraedrich, S.W.; Adams, D. 2001. Diseases of pines caused by the pitch canker fungus. In: Summerell, Brett A.; Leslie, John F.; Backhouse, David [and others], eds. Fusarium: Paul E. Nelson memorial symposium. St. Paul, MN: The American Phytopathological Society: 225-232. Chapter 16.

**Dwinell, L.D.** 2001. Potential use of elevated temperature to eradicate fungi in white oak wood [Abstract]. Abstracts of joint meeting of APS, MSA, and SON. Supplement to Phytopathology. 91(6): S25.

Dwinell, L.D.; Fraedrich, S.W.

Contamination of pine seeds by Fusarium circinatum. In: Sutherland, Lilja, ed. Proceedings of the 4th meeting of International Union of Forest Research Organizations working party 7.03.04. Helsinki, Finland: Finnish Forest Research Institute: 781: 75-82.

Edwards, Boyd. 2001. How bent taproots influence stem shape and tree size [Poster]. In: The big picture: restoring the Southeastern United States: 2001 conference of the Coastal Plain chapter of the Society for Ecological Restoration.

Fettig, Christopher J.; Dalusky, Mark J.; Berisford, C. Wayne. 2000. Nantucket pine tip moth phenology and timing of insecticide spray applications in seven Southeastern States. Res. Pap. SRS-18. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 21 p. Fettig, Christopher J.; McCravy, Kenneth W.; Berisford, C. Wayne. 2000. Effects of Nantucket pine tip moth insecticide spray schedules on loblolly pine seedlings. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 24(2): 106-111.

Fowler, G.; Robison, D.; Klepzig, K.; Hain, F.; Allen, L. 2000. Tree nutrition effects on preformed and induced resistance to bark beetles and fungi [Poster abstract]. Entomology Society of America national meeting.

**Fraedrich, S.W.; Cram, M.M.** 2001. The association of a *Longidorus* spp. with stunted loblolly pine seedlings [Abstract]. Abstracts of joint meeting of APS, MSA, and SON. Supplement to Phytopathology. 91(6): S29.

**Fraedrich, Stephen W.; Dwinell, L. David.** 2000. Pest problems and fumigation in pine nurseries in the southern United States [Abstract]. In: Sutherland, Lilja, ed. Proceedings of the 4th meeting of the International Union of Forest Research Organizations working party 7.03.04. Helsinki, Finland: Finnish Forest Research Institute: 781: 249.

**Franzreb, Kathleen E.; Lloyd, F. Thomas.** 2000. Integration of long-term research into a GISbased landscape habitat model for the red-cockaded woodpecker. Studies in Avian Biology. 21: 65-74.

**Friend, Alexander L.; Jifon, John L.; Berrang, Paul C. [and others].** 2000. Elevated atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> and species mixture alter N acquisition of trees in stand microcosms. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 30: 827-836.

Gacitua, E. William; Rials, Timothy G.; Ballerini, Aldo. 2001. Resinas termoendurecibles y termoplasticas: estudio del fraguado in-situ en la fabricacion de tableros MDF y laminados. In: Nunez, Laura Reyes, ed. IX reunion sobre investigacion y desarrollo de productos forestales. Concepcion, Chile: Universidad del Bio-Bio: 52-61. In Spanish.

**Gan, Jianbang; Miller, James H.** 2001. In the eye of the beholders: public views on the aesthetic value of pine stands regenerated by different methods. Forest Landowner. March/April: 16-21.

**Gavazzi, M.; Seiler, J.; Aust, W.; Zedaker, S.** 2000. The influence of elevated carbon dioxide and water availability on herbaceous weed development and growth of transplanted loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*). Environmental and Experimental Botany. 44: 185-194.

Glitzenstein, Jeff S.; Streng, Donna R.; Wade, Dale D.; Brubaker, John 2001. Starting new populations of longleaf pine ground-layer plants in the outer coastal plain of South Carolina, USA. Natural Areas Journal. 21(1): 89-110.

**Goelz, J.C.G.** 2001. Longleaf pine plantations: growth and yield modeling in an ecosystem restoration context. In: LeMay, Valerie; Marshall, Peter, eds. Proceedings: forest modeling for ecosystem management, forest certification, and sustainable management conference. Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia, Forest Resources Management Department: 219-232.

Goelz, J.C.G.; Leduc, D.J. 2001. Long-term studies on development of longleaf pine plantations. In: Kush, John C., comp. Forest for your future restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic changes: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 116-118.

Gornik, D.; Hemingway, R.W.; Tisler, V. 2000. Tannin-based cold-setting adhesives for face lamination of wood. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff. 58: 23-30.

Gough, Christopher; Seiler, John; Johnsen, Kurt. 2000. Environmental influences on gas exchange in fertilized and nonfertilized loblolly pine stands [Abstract]. In: Yucatan 2000: Proceedings of INIFAP, North American forest biology workshop. Administrative report. On file with: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Forest Sciences Laboratory, 320 Green Street, Athens, GA 30602-2044.

Grace, J. McFero III; Carter, Emily A. 2001. Sediment and runoff losses following harvesting/ site prep operations on a piedmont soil in Alabama. Presented at 2001 ASAE annual international meeting. Paper 01-8002. St. Joseph, MI: American Society of Agricultural Engineers. 9 p.

**Groom, Les.** 2000. Who are we? [Editorial]. Wood and Fiber Science. 32(2): 137.

**Groom, Les; Rials, Timothy; Snell, Rebecca**. [2001]. Effects of varying refiner pressure on the mechanical properties of loblolly pine fibres. In: Hague, Griffiths, McLauchlin [and others], eds. Proceedings of the fourth European panel products symposium. Gwynedd, UK: BioComposites Centre: 81-94.

Gwaze, D.P.; Bridgwater, F.E.; Byram, T.D.; Lowe, W.J. 2001. Genetic parameter estimates for growth and wood density in lobolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.). Forest Genetics. 8(1): 47-55. **Gwaze, D.P.; Wolliams, J.A.** 2001. Making decisions about optimal selection environment using Gibbs sampling. Theoretical and Applied Genetics. 103(1): 63-69.

Hacke, U.G.; Sperry, J.S.; Ewers, B.E. [and others]. 2000. Influence of soil porosity on water use in *Pinus taeda*. Oecologia. 124: 495-505.

Halleux, Olivier R.M.; Greene, W. Dale. 2001. Setting analyst: a practical harvest planning technique. In: Wang, Jingxin; Wolford, Michelle; and McNeel, Joe, eds. Appalachian hardwoods: managing change: Proceedings of the 24th annual meeting of the Council on Forest Engineering. Corvallis, OR: Council on Forest Engineering. 6 p. [CD-ROM].

Hanula, James L.; Engstrom, R. Todd. 2000. Comparison of red-cockaded woodpecker (*Picoides borealis*) nestling diet in old-growth and old-field longleaf pine (*Pinus palustris*) habitats. American Midland Naturalist. 144(2): 370-376.

Hanula, James L.; Wade, Dale D. 2001. Effects of 40 years of winter burning in longleaf pine on insects and other arthropods [Abstract]. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 123-124.

Hardy, Carol L.; Brennan, Leonard A.; Daves, Sudie E.; Burger, L. Wesley. 2001. Vertebrate community response to alternative applications of prescribed fire in longleaf pine forests of the North Carolina sandhills: preliminary results. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 125-128.

Harper, David P.; Wolcott, Michael P.; Rials, Timothy G. 2001. Evaluation of the cure kinetics of the wood/pMDI bondline. International Journal of Adhesion & Adhesives. 21: 137-144.

Harrington, T.B.; Gatch, J.A.; Edwards, M.B.; Price, T.S. 2000. Second-year responses of loblolly pine seedlings to combined herbaceous weed control and fertilization: influence of taproot configuration. In: Reynolds, Daniel B., ed. Proceedings: Southern Weed Science Society 52nd annual meeting. Champaign, IL: Southern Weed Science Society: 52: 140-141.





48

Harrington, Timothy B.; Xu, Mingguang; Edwards, M. Boyd. 2000. Structural characteristics of late-successional pine-hardwood forest following recent infestation by southern pine beetle in the Georgia Piedmont, USA. Natural Areas Journal. 20(4): 360-365.

Harris, April H.; Kush, John S.; Meldahl, Ralph S.; Varner, J. Morgan. 2001. And the winner is... longleaf pine: response of planted pines to various cultural treatments 39 years later. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 129-131.

Hartsough, Bruce; Spinelli, Raffaele; Pottle, Steve. 2000. Delimbing hybrid poplar prior to processing with a flail/chipper. Presented at 2000 ASAE annual international meeting. Paper 00-5014. St. Joseph, MI: American Society of Agricultural Engineers. 25 p.

Hawkins, Leigh K.; Dane, Fenny; Kubisiak, Thomas L. [and others]. 2001. Linkage mapping in a watermelon population segregating for fusarium wilt resistance. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science. 126(3): 344-350.

Haywood, James D.; Grelen, Harold E. 2000. Twenty years of prescribed burning influence the development of direct-seeded longleaf pine on a wet pine site in Louisiana. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 24(2): 86-92.

Haywood, James D.; Harris, Finis L.; Grelen, Harold E.; Pearson, Henry A. 2001. Vegetative response to 37 years of seasonal burning on a Louisiana longleaf pine site. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(3): 122-130.

Haywood, James D.; Pearson, Henry A.; Grelen, Harold E.; Popham, Thomas W. 2000. Effects of date and frequency of burning on southern bayberry (*Myrica cerifera*) in central Louisiana. Texas Journal of Science. 52(4): 33-42.

Haywood, James; Elliott-Smith, Michael; Harris, Finis; Martin, Alton. 2001. Protecting and restoring longleaf pine forest on the Kisatchie National Forest in Louisiana. In: Kush, John C., comp. Forest for your future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic changes: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 133-135. Highsmith, Maxine T.; Frampton, John; O'Malley, David [and others]. 2001. Susceptibility of parent and interspecific F1 hybrid pine trees to tip moth damage in a coastal North Carolina planting. Canadian Journal of Forestry Research. 31(5): 919-923.

Hofstetter, R.W.; Ayres, M.P.; Lorio, P.L. 2000. Interactions between beetle attack rate and pine tree defenses produce positive density dependence in *Dendroctonus frontalis* [Poster abstract]. In: Abstracts book 1: Proceedings of the XXI international congress of entomology. Brazil [Publisher unknown] l: 486.

Hofstetter, R.W.; Klepzig, K.D.; Ayres, M.P.; Moser, J.C. 2000. Fungus-mite associations and the ecology of southern pine beetles [Abstract]. Entomological Society of America national meeting.

Hse, Chung-Yun; Choong, Elvin T. [2000]. Modified formaldehyde-based resin adhesives for rice husk/wood particleboard. In: Proceedings: 5th Pacific Rim bio-based composites symposium. [Place of publication unknown]: Academic Press: 503-508.

James, Mary McRae. 2000. Legumes in loamy soil communities of the Carolina sandhills: their natural distributions and performance of seeds and seedlings along complex ecological gradients. Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina. 80 p. M.S. thesis.

Johnsen, K.H. 2000. Potential contributions of managed forests to carbon sequestration: a case study examination of southern pine forestry [Abstract]. In: Yucatan 2000: Proceedings of INIFAP, North American forest biology workshop. Administrative report. On file with: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Forest Sciences Laboratory, 320 Green Street, Athens, GA 30602-2044. [Not paged].

Johnsen, K.H.; Butnor, J.R.; Maier, C.A. [and others]. 2001. Fertilization increases below-ground carbon sequestration of loblolly pine plantations. In: Kimberly, ed. Technological options to address global climate change: Proceedings of the first national conference on carbon sequestration. 16 p. [CD-ROM]. In PDF format at: <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/publications/</u> proceedings/01/carbon\_seq/3c2.pdf.

Johnsen, K.H.; Kress, L.W.; Butnor, J.R.; Maier, C.E. 2000. Root biomass and soil  $CO_2$ efflux of mid-rotation loblolly pine exposed to elevated  $CO_2$  and fertilization [Abstract]. In: Yucatan 2000: Proceedings of INIFAP, North American forest biology workshop. Administrative report. On file with: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Forest Sciences Laboratory, 320 Green Street, Athens, GA 30602-2044. [Not paged].

Johnsen, Kurt H.; Butnor, John; Maier, Chris; Murthy, Rameesh. 2001. Carbon dioxide efflux from stems and soil during a cottonwood dry-down experiment under low and high atmospheric  $CO_2$  [Poster abstract]. In: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting abstracts: Keeping all the parts: preserving, restoring, and sustaining complex ecosystems. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 297.

Johnsen, Kurt H.; Wear, D.; Oren, R. [and others]. 2001. Meeting global policy commitments: carbon sequestration and southern pine forests. Journal of Forestry. 99(4): 14-21.

Johnsen, Kurt; Samuelson, Lisa; Teskey, Robert; [and others]. 2001. Process models as tools in forestry research and management. Forest Science. 47(1): 2-8.

Johnson, James B.; Crook, Shaun L.; Burt, D. Brent [and others]. 2001. An automated recording system for detecting nocturnal birds [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: 119th stated meeting, American Ornithologists Union and 20th annual meeting, Society of Canadian Ornithologists. Seattle: University of Washington: 33.

Johnson, James B.; Crook, Shaun L.; Saenz, Daniel; [and others]. 2001. Nocturnal bird surveying using automated recorders [Abstract]. In: Abstracts, eighty-second meeting of the Wilson Ornithological Society. Fayetteville, AR: University of Arkansas: 6.

**Klepac, John.** 2001. Performance of a Hydro-AX 611 EX feller-buncher. Technical Release 01-R-2. Forest Operations Review. 3(1): 23-24.

Klepac, John; Stokes, Bryce; Roberson, Joe. 2001. Effect of tire size on skidder productivity under wet conditions. Journal of Forest Engineering. 12(1): 61-69.

Klepzig, K.D.; Moser, J.C.; Lombardero, F.J. [and others]. 2001. Symbiosis and competition: complex interactions among beetles, fungi and mites. Presented at the 3rd international congress on symbiosis. Symbiosis. 30: 83-96.

Klepzig, Kier; Meeker, Jim. 2000. Invasive insects: threats to forest sustainability, opportunities for forest protection [Poster abstract]. Forest fragmentation 2000: sustaining private forests in the 21st century.

Klepzig, Kier; Nettleton, Wes. 2000. SPB Update (July). [Brochure]. Pineville, LA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 4 p. Klepzig, Kier; Nettleton, Wes. 2001. SPB Update (April). [Brochure]. Pineville, LA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 2 p.

Kormanik, P.P.; Sung, S.S.; Kormanik, T.L.; Otrosina, W.J. 1995. Cultural and biological alternatives to methyl bromide in southern pine seedling production [Abstract]. Annual international research conference on methyl bromide alternatives and emissions reduction. San Diego: Methyl Bromide Alternatives Outreach. 75-1.

Kush, John S.; Varner, J. Morgan III. 2001. They're ba—ack—hardwood sprouting 3 years after restoration harvesting in lower Alabama. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 151-153.

Landis, Thomas D.; Tinus, Richard W.; McDonald, Stephen E.; Barnett, James P. 2000. Contenedores y medios de crecimiento. In: Nisley, Rebecca G., ed. [with Trejo, Dante Arturo Rodriguez; Velasquez, J. Richardo Sanchez; Barajas, Rebeca Aldana] Manual de vivero para la produccion de especies forestales en contenedor. Chapingo, Mexico: Secretaria de Medio Ambiente Recursos Naturales y Pesca; Universidad Autonoma Chapingo, Division de Ciencias Forestales. 88 p. (Volumen dos). [Spanish version of containers and growing media, Vol. 2 of the container tree nursery manual, Agric. Handb. 674, 1990].

Landis, Thomas D.; Tinus, Richard W.; McDonald, Stephen E.; Barnett, James P. 2000. Fertilizacion y Riego. In: Nisley, Rebecca G., ed. [with Trejo, Dante Arturo Rodriguez; Velasquez, J. Ricardo Sanchez; Barajas, Rebeca Aldana] Manual de vivero para la produccion de especies forestales en contenedor. Chapingo, Mexico: Secretaria de Medio Ambiente Recursos Naturales y Pesca; Universidad Autonoma Chapingo, Division de Ciencias Forestales. 126 p. (Volumen cuatro). [Spanish version of seedling nutrition and irrigation, Vol. 4 of the container tree nursery manual, Agric. Handb. 674, 1989].

Landsberg, Joe J.; Johnsen, Kurt H.; Albaugh, Timothy J. [and others]. 2001. Applying 3-PG, a simple process-based model designed to produce practical results, to data from loblolly pine experiments. Forest Science. 47(1): 43-51.





Loeb, Susan C.; Chapman, Gregg L.; Ridley, Theodore R. 1999. Sampling small mammals in southeastern forests: the importance of trapping in trees. In: 1999 Proceedings, annual conference of Southeastern Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. [Place of publication unknown]: SEAFWA. 53: 415-424.

**Lombardero, Maria J.; Ayres, Matthew P.; Ayres, Bruce D.; Reeve, John D.** 2000. Cold tolerance of four species of bark beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in North America. Environmental Entomology. 29(3): 421-432.

Lombardero, Maria J.; Klepzig, Kier D.; Moser, John C.; Ayres, Matthew P. 2000. Biology, demography and community interactions of *Tarsonemus* (Acarina: Tarsonemidae) mites phoretic on *Dendroctonus frontalis* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Agricultural and Forestry Entomology. 2: 1-10.

Ludovici, Kim H.; Richter, Daniel D. 2000. Belowground carbon pools from decomposing pine roots for decades following clearcutting [Abstract]. In: Preliminary announcement and call for papers; meeting on advances in terrestrial ecosystem carbon inventory, measurements, and monitoring. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: [Not paged].

Maceina, Edelgard C.; Kush, John S.; Meldahl, Ralph S. 2000. Vegetational survey of a montane longleaf pine community at Fort McClellan, Alabama. Castanea. 65(2): 147-154.

Maier, Chris A.; Dougherty, Phillip M.; Anderson, Pete H. 2001. Soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux, soil organic matter and root development in newly planted loblolly pine plantations [Poster abstract]. In: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting abstracts: Keeping all the parts: preserving, restoring, and sustaining complex ecosystems. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: [314].

Maier, Chris A.; Johnsen, Kurt H.; Butnor, John R. 2001. Effects of nutrient and CO<sub>2</sub> amendments on branch growth, phenology and gas exchange characteristics in canopies of 13 year-old loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) trees [Abstract]. In: Linking the complexity of forest canopies to ecosystem and landscape function: a traveling workshop. Corvallis, OR: International Union of Forest Research Organizations Canopy Processes Working Group: 39.

Major, John E.; Johnsen, Kurt H. 2001. Shoot water relations of mature black spruce families displaying a genotype x environment interaction in growth rate. III. Diurnal patterns as influenced by vapor pressure deficit and internal water status. Tree Physiology. 21: 579-587. Martin, Timothy A.; Johnsen, Kurt H.; White, Timothy L. 2001. Ideotype development in southern pines: rationale and strategies for overcoming scale-related obstacles. Forest Science. 47(1): 21-28.

McAlister, R.H.; Powers, H.R.; Pepper, W.D. 2000. Mechanical properties of stemwood and limbwood of seed orchard loblolly pine. Forest Products Journal. 50(10): 91-94.

McCravy, Kenneth W.; Berisford, C. Wayne. 2000. Parasitoids of the Nantucket pine tip moth (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) in the coastal plain of Georgia. Journal of Entomological Science. 35(3): 220-226.

McDonald, Tim; Rummer, Bob; Taylor, Steve. 2001. Automating time study of fellerbunchers. In: Canadian Woodlands Forum 81st annual meeting and Council on Forest Engineering 23rd annual meeting; Technologies for new millennium forestry. Montreal, Canada: Canadian Woodlands Forum. 4 p. [CD-ROM].

McDonald, Tim; Taylor, Steve; Valenzuela, Jorge. 2001. Potential for shared log transport services. In: Wang, Jingxin; Wolford, Michelle; McNeel, Joe, eds. Appalachian hardwoods: managing change: Proceedings of the 24th annual meeting if the Council on Forest Engineering. Corvallis, OR: Council on Forest Engineering. 6 p. [CD-ROM].

McDonald, Tim; Twaddle, Alastair. 2000. Industry trends in chip storage and handling. In: Abstract book, TAPPI 2000 pulping/process & product quality conference. Atlanta: TAPPI Press. 7 p. [CD-ROM].

McDonald, Timothy P.; Taylor, Steven E.; Rummer, Robert B.; Valenzuela, Jorge. 2001. Information needs for increasing log transport efficiency. First international precision forestry symposium. Seattle: University of Washington, College of Forest Resources and College of Engineering. 12 p. [CD-ROM].

McMahon, C.K.; Barnett, J.P. 2000. Restoring the longleaf pine ecosystem of the Southeastern United States: social, economic, and ecological driving forces [Abstract]. In: Book of abstracts: 8th international symposium on society and resource management. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-497. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station: 209-210.

McMahon, Charles K.; Barnett, James P. 2001. Sustainability and productivity of southern pine ecosystems: a thematic framework for integrating research and building partnerships. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 161-168.

McMahon, Charles K.; Kush, John S. 2001. Longleaf pine: an updated bibliography - part II, 1995-2000 [Abstract]. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 169.

Meldahl, Ralph S.; Kush, John S. 2001. Longleaf pine growth and yield references plus selected others. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 16-19.

Meldahl, Ralph S.; Kush, John S.; Boyer, William D. 1998. Longleaf pine (*Pinus palustris*) stand dynamics: a regional longleaf growth study [Abstract]. In: Moranz, R.A.; Hardesty, J.L.; Maute, J. Research report, Eglin Air Force Base, 1998: a compilation of inventory, monitoring and research conducted in support of ecosystem management. Gainesville, FL: The Nature Conservancy: 16-17.

Meldahl, Ralph S.; Kush, John S.; Varner, J. Morgan. 2001. Status of recent longleaf pine regeneration on Eglin Air Force Base (or a sandhills site in northern Florida). In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 170-173.

Menzel, Michael A.; Carter, Timothy C.; Ford, W. Mark; Chapman, Brian R. 2001. Tree-roost characteristics of subadult and female adult evening bats (*Nycticeius humeralis*) in the upper Coastal Plain of South Carolina. American Midland Naturalist. 145: 112-119.

Michael, Jerry L. 2000. Contamination of surface water with silvicultural herbicides and its impacts [Technical presentation]. In: Proceedings of the 2000 NCASI southern regional meeting. Research Triangle Park, NC: National Council for Air and Stream Improvement: 352-362. Miller, Daniel R. 2000. Vertical displacement of *Ips latidens* and *Ips pini* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) by semiochemical interruption. The Canadian Entomologist. 132: 789-797.

Miller, Daniel R. 2001. Frontalin interrupts attraction of *Ips pini* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to ipsdienol. The Canadian Entomologist. 133: 407-408.

Miller, Daniel R.; Borden, John H. 2000. Pheromone interruption of pine engraver, *Ips pini*, by pheromones of mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Journal of Entomological Society of British Columbia. 97: 57-65.

Miller, Daniel R.; Lindgren, B. Staffan. 2000. Comparison of a-pinene and myrcene on attraction of mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to pheromones in stands of western white pine. Journal of Entomological Society of British Columbia. 97: 41-46.

Miller, J.H.; Miller, K.V. 2000. Review of book: Forest plants of the Southeast and their wildlife uses—a plant manual for forestry, rightof-way, and range researchers and managers [Abstract]. (Southern Weed Science Society, Champaign, IL, 454 p.) In: Reynolds, Daniel B., ed. Y2K: The challenge of change: Proceedings, 53rd annual meeting of the Southern Weed Science Society. Champaign, IL: Southern Weed Science Society: 139-140.

Miller, J.H.; Zutter, B.R.; Zedaker, S.M. [and others]. Limits to growth for loblolly pine with vegetation management [Abstract]. In: Wilcut, John W., ed. WSSA abstracts, 2001 meetings of the Weed Science Society of America. Lawrence, KS: Weed Science Society of America: 76.

Miller, James H. 2000. Long-term effects of forest herbicides on plant diversity in pine plantations in the Southeast. In: Proceedings of the 2000 NCASI southern regional meeting. Research Triangle Park, NC: National Council for Air and Stream Improvement: 208-213.

Miller, James H. 2000. The exotic plant problem: defending your lands from an unfriendly takeover. Part I: Trees and shrubs. Alabama Wildlife Federation. Fall: 23-25.

**Miller, James H.** 2000. The exotic plant problem: defending your lands from an unfriendly takeover. Part II: Exotic vines and grasses. Alabama Wildlife Federation. Winter: 23-25.

Miller, James H. 2001. Controlling exotic plants in your forest. http://www.bugwood.caes.uga.edu/ weeds/forestexotics.html. 9 p.





Miller, James H.; Miller, Karl V. 2001. Forest plants of the Southeast and their wildlife uses. Southern Weed Science Society, Champaign, IL. 454 p. [CD-ROM]. Additional information at: http://www.weedscience.misstate.edu/swss/.

Morse, Alison M.; Smith, Katherine E.; Luce, K. Scott; [and others]. 2001. A fusariuminduced transcriptome of pine [Poster]. Meeting of International Union of Forest Research Organizations unit on molecular biology of forest trees.

Moser, John C.; Macias-Samano, Jorge E. 2000. Tarsonemid mite associates of *Dendroctonus frontalis* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): implications for the historical biogeography of *D. frontalis*. The Canadian Entomologist. 132: 765-771.

Nambiar, E.K.S.; Tiarks, A.; Cossalter, C.; Ranger, J., eds. 2000. Site management and productivity in tropical plantation forests: Workshop proceedings. Bogor, Indonesia: Center for International Forestry Research. 112 p.

Newbold, Ray A.; Baldwin, V. Clark, Jr.; Hill, Gary; Dunn, Michael A. [N.d.] Loblolly plantation weight equations [Brochure]. Pub. 2801. Baton Rouge, LA: Louisiana State University Agricultural Center. 4 p.

Nolte, Dale L.; Barnett, James P. 2000. A repellent to reduce mouse damage to longleaf pine seed. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation. 45: 169-174.

**Nowak, J.T.; Berisford, C.W.** 2000. Effects of intensive forest management practices on insect infestation levels and loblolly pine growth. Journal of Economic Entomology. 93(2): 336-341.

Nowak, J.T.; Fettig, C.J.; McCravy, K.W.; Berisford, C.W. 2000. Efficacy tests and determination of optimal spray timing values to control Nantucket pine tip moth (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) infestations. Journal of Economic Entomology. 93(6): 1708-1713.

Nowak, John T.; Fettig, Christopher J.; McCravy, Kenneth W. [and others]. 2001. Guide to common natural enemies of the Nantucket pine tip moth. FHTET-2001-02. Morgantown, WV: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Health Technology Team. 20 p.

**Outcalt, K.W.** 2000. Influence of severe wildfires on density and composition of tree layer on flatwoods sites of southeastern coastal plain, USA [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: The Ecological Society of America 85th annual meeting. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 320-321. **Outcalt, Kenneth W.; Wade, Dale D.** 2000. The value of fuel management in reducing wildfire damage. In: Gollberg, Greg E., ed. Crossing the millennium: integrating spatial technologies and ecological prin-ciples for a new age in fire management: Proceedings from the joint fire science conference and workshop. Moscow, ID: University of Idaho and International Association of Wildland Fire: 271-275. Vol. II.

**Patterson, David W.; Murphy, Paul A.; Shelton, Michael G.** 2000. Effects of stand and site variables on the lumber value of unevenaged loblolly pine stands. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 24(4): 202-206.

**Peitz, David G.; Shelton, Michael G.; Tappe, Philip A.** 2001. Forage production after thinning a natural loblolly pine-hardwood stand to different basal areas. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 29(2): 697-705.

**Price, Joshua Paul.** 2001. Fertilizer and herbicide application in *Pinus taeda* L. plantations affect soil organic matter fractions, nitrogen mineralization rate, and phosphorus availability. Athens, GA: University of Georgia. 75 p. M.S. thesis.

Rappaport, Nancy G.; Stein, John D.; del Rio Mora, Adolfo Arturo [and others]. 2000. Responses of *Conophthorus* spp. (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to behavioral chemicals in field trials: A transcontinental perspective. The Canadian Entomologist. 132: 925-937.

Raunikar, Ronald; Buongiorno, Joseph; Prestemon, Jeffrey P.; Abt, Karen Lee. 2000. Financial performance of mixed-age naturally regenerated loblolly-hardwood stands in the south central United States. Forest Policy and Economics. 1: 331-346.

**Rayamajhi, Jyoti N.; Kush, John S.** 2001. Predicting longleaf pine straw production. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystem: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 181-183.

**Reeve, John D.** 2000. Complex emergence patterns in a bark beetle predator. Agricultural and Forest Entomology. 2: 233-240.

Rials, Timothy G.; Wolcott, Michael P.; Nassar, John M. 2001. Interfacial contributions in lignocellulosic fiber-reinforced polyurethane composites. Journal of Applied Polymer Science. 80: 546-555.

Roliadi, Han; Hse, Chung Y.; Choong, Elvin T.; Shupe, Todd F. 2000. Decay resistance of out-of-service utility poles as related to the distribution of residual creosote content. Forest Products Journal. 50 (11/12): 64-68.

Roliadi, Han; Hse, Chung Y.; Choong, Elvin T.; Shupe, Todd F. 2000. Gluability of out-of-service utility poles. Forest Products Journal. 50(10): 76-81.

**Rudolph, D. Craig.** 2000. An overview of the impacts of roads on amphibians and reptiles [Abstract]. In: Program and abstracts: The Wildlife Society 7th annual conference. [Place of publication unknown]: [Publisher unknown]: 173.

**Rudolph, D. Craig; Ely, Charles A.** 2000. The influence of fire on lepidopteran abundance and community structure in forested habitats of eastern Texas. Texas Journal of Science. 52(4): 127-138.

Rummer, Bob; Klepac, John; Archer, Harry; Hebner, Gerry. 2001. Improving stability of lowvolume forest roads using a lignin-based emulsion. In: Wang, Jingxin; Wolford, Michelle; McNeel, Joe, eds. Appalachian hardwoods: managing change: Proceedings of the 24th annual meeting of the Council on Forest Engineering. Corvallis, OR: Council on Forest Engineering. 7 p. [CD-ROM].

Rummer, Robert; McDonald, Tim. 2001. Information technology: key to next-generation forest operations [Abstract]. In: Biographies and abstracts: Forest Products Society 55th annual meeting. Madison, WI: Forest Products Society: 26.

**Saenz, Daniel**. 2001. Red-headed woodpecker (*Melanerpes erythrocephalus*). 4 p. <u>http://tbba.</u> cbi.tamucc.edu/accounts/rhwo/rhwoacc.htm.

Saenz, Daniel; Baum, Kristen A.; Conner, Richard N.; Rudolph, D. Craig. 2000. Reintroduction strategies for red-cockaded woodpeckers [Abstract]. In: Abstracts of scientific papers and posters: meetings of the Association of Field Ornithologists and Wilson Ornithological Society. Houston: Houston Audubon Society and Gulf Coast Bird Observatory. [Not paged].

Saenz, Daniel; Conner, Richard N.; Collins, Christopher S.; Rudolph, D. Craig. 2001. Initial and long-term use of inserts by red-cockaded woodpeckers. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 29(1): 165-170.

Saenz, Daniel; Conner, Richard N.; McCormick, James R. 2001. Do red-cockaded woodpecker cavity trees attract pileated woodpeckers? [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: 119th stated meeting, American Ornithologists' Union and 20th annual meeting, Society of Canadian Ornithologists. Seattle: University of Washington: 16. Saenz, Daniel; McCormick, James R.; Conner, Richard N. 2001. Are pileated woodpeckers attracted to red-cockaded woodpecker cavity trees? [Abstract]. In: Abstracts of oral presentations, 2001 wildlife and fisheries sciences symposium. College Station, TX: Texas A&M University: [Not paged].

Sampson, David A.; Johnsen, Kurt H.; Ludovici, Kim H. [and others]. 2001. Standscale correspondence in empirical and simulated labile carbohydrates in loblolly pine. Forest Science. 47(1): 60-68.

Sanchez, Felipe G.; Carter, Emily A.; Edwards, Wilson. [2001]. Utilization of forest slash to sequester carbon in loblolly pine plantations in the lower Coastal Plain. In: Yavorsky, Kimberly, ed. Technological options to address global climate change: Proceedings of the first national conference on carbon sequestration. 18 p. [CD-ROM]. http://www.netl.doe.gov/publications/ proceedings/01/carbon\_seq/carbon\_seq01.html.

Sanchez, Felipe G.; Carter, Emily A.; Klepac, John. 2000. Soil carbon and soil physical properties response to incorporating mulched forest slash. Presented at IEA bioenergy task 18 "Conventional Systems for Bioenergy" workshop. New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science. 30 (1/2): 150-168.

Sanchez, Felipe G.; Eaton, Robert J. 2001. Sequestering carbon and improving soils: benefits of mulching and incorporating forest slash. Journal of Forestry. 99(1): 32-36.

Schaefer, Richard R.; Conner, Richard N.; Rudolph, D. Craig. 2001. Red-cockaded woodpecker reproduction and provisioning of nestlings in longleaf pine and loblolly-shortleaf pine forests in eastern Texas [Abstract]. In: Abstracts, eighty-second meeting of the Wilson Ornithological Society. Fayetteville, AR: University of Arkansas: 8-9.

**Schaefer, Richard.** 2001. Hairy woodpecker (*Picoides villosus*). 4 p. http://tbba.cbi.tamucc.edu/accounts/hawo/hawoacc.htm.

Schmidtling, R.C. Genetic evidence for refugia and migrations of the southern (*Australes*) pines after the last glacial maximum [Abstract]. Program and abstracts: Western Forest Genetics Association 2001 annual conference. Albany, CA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Institute of Forest Genetics. [Not paged].

Schmidtling, R.C.; Hipkins, V. 2001. Evolutionary relationships of slash pine (*Pinus elliottii*) with its temperate and tropical relatives. Southern African Forestry Journal. 190: 73-78.





54

Shelton, Michael G. 2001. Review of book: The southern forest: geography, ecology, and silviculture, by Walker, L.C.; Oswald, B.P. [(Place of publication unknown), 2000, 352 p.] Global Ecology & Biogeography. 10: 329-330.

Shelton, Michael G.; Cain, Michael D. 2001. Dispersal and viability of seeds from cones in tops of harvested loblolly pines. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 31: 357-362.

Shrestha, Suraj P.; Lanford, Bobby L. 2001. Utilization and cost for animal logging operations. In: Wang, Jingxin; Wolford, Michelle; McNeel, Joe, eds. Appalachian hardwoods: managing change: Proceedings of the 24th annual Council on Forest Engineering meeting. Corvallis, OR: Council on Forest Engineering. 7 p. [CD-ROM].

Shupe, Todd F.; Hse, Chung Y.; Price, Eddie W. 2001. Technical feasibility of structural flakeboard made from mixed hardwoods and cypress from northern Florida. Forest Products Journal. 51(1): 62-64.

**Skulman, B.W.; Mattice, J.D.; Cain, M.D.** 2000. Allelopathic interference of honeysuckle (*Lonicera japonica* Thunb.) to pine regeneration [Abstract]. In: Reynolds, Daniel B., ed. Y2K: the challenge of change: Proceedings, 53rd annual meeting of the Southern Weed Science Society. Champaign, IL: Southern Weed Science Society: 147-148. Vol. 53.

**Slone, D.H.; Croft, B.A.** 2001. Species association among predaceaous and phytophagous apple mites (Acari: Eriophyidae, Phytoseiidae, Stigmaeidae, Tetranychidae). Experimental and Applied Acarology. 25: 109-126.

Smith, Rick; Somers, Greg. 1998. A biologically-based individual tree model for managing the longleaf pine ecosystem [Abstract]. In: Moranz, R.A.; Hardesty, J.L.; Maute, J., comps. Research report, Eglin Air Force Base, 1998: A compilation of inventory, monitoring and research conducted in support of ecosystem management. Gainesville, FL: The Nature Conservancy: 33-34.

**Stanturf, John A.** 2001. Sustainable management of riparian forests [Abstract]. In: Program and abstracts: Illinois renewable natural resources conference. [Place of publication unknown]: [Publisher unknown]: [Not paged].

**Stanturf, John A.; Madsen, Palle A.** 2000. An overview of temperate and boreal forest restoration [Oral presentation] [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: International conference on forest ecosystem: ecology, conservation and sustainable management. [Place of publication unknown]: [Publisher unknown]: 1-2. Sullivan, Brian T.; Dalusky, Mark J.; Berisford, C. Wayne. 2000. Response of pine-infesting beetles to prescribed burns of differing severities in stands of longleaf pine [Poster abstract]. Entomology Society of America national meeting.

Sword, Mary Anne; Kuehler, Eric. 2001. Above-and below-ground growth of longleaf pine in response to three prescribed burning regimes. In: Kush, John C., comp. Forest for your future-restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic changes, Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance Regional Conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; No. 5: 197-199.

Sword, Mary Anne; Tang, Zhenmin. 2001. Deep root growth of loblolly pine in response to throughfall exclusion [Abstract]. In: Proceedings of the 16th North American forest biology workshop and the Western Forest Genetics Association 2000 conference. Washington, DC: North American Forest Commission. Additional information at: http://www.fs.fed.us/global/nafc/silvi/activities. htm#2.

Tang, Zhenmin; Chambers, Jim L.; Sword, Mary Anne; Barnett, James P. 2001. Physiological responses of field-grown loblolly pine to summer drought [Abstract]. In: Proceedings of the 16th North American Forest Biology Workshop and the Western Forest Genetics Association 2000 conference. Washington, DC: North American Forest Commission. Additional information at: http://www.fs.fed.us/global/nafc/silvi/ activities.htm#2.

Taylor, Steven E.; McDonald, Timothy P.; Veal, Matthew W.; Grift, Ton E. 2001. Using GPS to evaluate productivity and performance of forest machine systems. First international precision forestry symposium. Seattle: University of Washington, College of Forest Resources and College of Engineering. 18 p. [CD-ROM].

Thompson, Jason D. 2001. Calculating utilization rates for rubber tired grapple skidders in the Southern United States. In: Wang, Jingxin; Wolford, Michelle; McNeel, Joe, eds. Appalachian hardwoods: managing change: Proceedings of the 24th annual Council on Forest Engineering meeting. Corvallis, OR: Council on Forest Engineering. 3 p. [CD-ROM].

Tiarks, A.; Elliott-Smith, M.; Stagg, R. 2000. Loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) plantations in the semitropical Southeastern United States. In: Nambiar, E.K.S; Tiarks, A.; Cossalter, C.; Ranger J., eds. Site management and productivity in tropical plantation forests. Bogar, Indonesia: Center for International Forestry Research: 101-103.

**Tiarks, A.; Nambiar, E.K.S.** 2000. Summary of the third workshop in Kerala, India. In: Nambiar, E.K.S.; Tiarks, A.; Cossalter, C.; Ranger, J., eds. Site management and productivity in tropical plantation forests. Bogor, Indonesia: Center for International Forestry Research: 105-108. Chapter 14.

Tinus, R.W.; Burr, K.E.; Atzmon, N.; Riov, J. 2000. Relationship between carbohydrate concentration and root growth potential in coniferous seedlings from three climates during cold hardening and dehardening. Tree Physiology. 20: 1097-1104.

Toms, Christopher W.; Dubois, Mark R.; Bliss, John C. [and others]. A survey of animalpowered logging in Alabama. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(1): 17-24.

Varner, J. Morgan III; Kush, John S.; Meldahl, Ralph S. 2001. Understory species composition of old-growth mountain longleaf pine (*Pinus palustris* Mill.) stands at Fort McClellan, Alabama. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 209-213.

Veal, Matthew W.; Taylor, Steven E.; McDonald, Timothy P. 2001. Evaluation of forestry site preparation equipment using GPS. Presented at 2001 ASAE annual international meeting. Paper 01-8018. St. Joseph, MI: American Society of Agricultural Engineers. 17 p.

Veal, Matthew W.; Taylor, Steven E.; McDonald, Timothy P. [and others]. 2000. Accuracy of tracking forest machines with GPS. Paper 00-5010. Presented at 2000 ASAE annual international meeting. St. Joseph, MI: American Society of Agricultural Engineers. 23 p.

Veysey, Jessica; Lombardero, Maria J.; Hofstetter, Richard [and others]. 2000. The effect of host species on the reproductive success of *Dendroctonus frontalis* [Poster abstract]. Entomological Society of America national meeting.

Wade, Dale D. 2001. Fire in southern landscapes [Abstract]. In: Four rivers, two States, one basin: a research symposium for the Suwannee Basin. [Place of publication unknown]: [Publisher unknown]: [Not paged]. Wade, Dale D.; Brock, Brent L.; Brose, Patrick H. [and others]. 2000. Fire in eastern ecosystems. In: [Wildland fire in ecosystems: effects of fire on flora]. Gen. Tech. Rep. 42. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station: 53-96. Vol. 2. Chapter 4.

Wade, Dale; Grace, Sue. 2000. Ecological and economic consequences of the 1998 Florida wildfires. [Not paged]. <u>http://flame.fl-dof.com/joint\_fire\_sciences/</u>.

**Walkinshaw, C.H.** 2000. Anatomy of shortleaf pine after inoculation with *Cronartium quercuum* f. sp. fusiforme. Supplement to Pytopathology. 90(6): S81.

Walkinshaw, C.H.; Otrosina, W.J. 2001. Size and number of starch grains in root cells define health of loblolly and longleaf pines [Abstract]. Supplement to Phytopathology. 91(6): S93.

Walkinshaw, Charles H.; Otrosina, William J.; Hess, Nolan J. 2001. The importance of histopathology in conifer diseases when Koch's postulates cannot be fulfilled [Abstract]. In: Abstracts of joint meeting of APS, MSA, and SON. Supplement to Phytopathology. 91(6): \$204.

White, David L.; Gaines, Karen F. 2000. The Savannah River Site: site description, land use and management history. Studies in Avian Biology. 21: 8-17.

Woods, M.W.; Shaw, J.N.; Carter, E.A.; Guertal, E.A. 2000. Timber harvesting effects on spatial variability of Piedmont soil properties [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: annual meetings, American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America.Madison, WI: ASA, CSSA, SSSA: [Page number unknown].

**Yin, Runsheng; Harris, Thomas G.; Izlar, Bob.** 2000. Why forest products companies may need to hold timberland. Forest Products Journal. 50(9): 39-44.

Yu, Shufang; Chambers, Jim L.; Guddanti, Suresh [and others]. 2001. Depth of sensor placement and tree size affect sap flux density measurements of loblolly pine [Abstract]. In: Proceedings of the 16th North American forest biology workshop and the Western Forest Genetics Association 2000 conference. Washington, DC: North American Forest Commission. Additional information at: <u>http://www.fs.fed.us/global/</u> <u>nafc/silvi/activities.htm#2</u>. ▲



20001 U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service

Forest Service Southern Research Station

## Wetlands, Bottomlands and Streams

Anderson, Heidi M. 2001. Vascular and nonvascular plant community responses to created microtopographies in a forested wetland. Houghton, MI: Michigan Technological University. 77 p. M.S. thesis.

Anderson, Peter H.; Pezeshki, S. Reza. 2001. Effects of flood preconditioning on responses of three bottomland tree species to soil waterlogging. Journal of Plant Physiology. 158(1): 227-233.

Anderson, S.C.; Kupfer, J.A.; Wilson, R.R.; Cooper, R.J. 2000. Estimating forest crown area removed by selection cutting: a linked regression-GIS approach based on stump diameters. Forest Ecology and Management. 137: 171-177.

Antrobus, T.J.; Guilfoyle, M.P.; Barrow, W.C. Jr. [and others]. 2000. Bird community composition. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 32-33.

Baker, Terrell T. III; Conner, William H.; Lockaby, B. Graeme; [and others]. 2000. Root growth. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report of the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 42-43.

Baker, Terrell T. III; Conner, William H.; Lockaby, B. Graeme [and others]. 2001. Fine root productivity and dynamics on forested floodplain in South Carolina. Soil Science Society of America Journal. 65: 545-556.

Baker, Terrell T. III; Lockaby, B. Graeme; Conner, William H. [and others]. 2000. Litter decomposition. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 49-50. **Barton, C.D.; Adriano, D.C.; Seay, F.** 2001. Evaluating techniques for establishing a vegetative cover on an acidic reject coal basin. In: Vincent, Richard; Burger, James A.; Marino, Gennaro G. [and others], eds. Land reclamation—a different approach; 18th annual national meeting of American Society for Surface Mining and Reclamation. Lexington, KY: ASSMR: [Not paged].

Barton, Christopher; Nelson, Eric A.; Kolka, Randall K. [and others]. 2000. Restoration of a severely impacted riparian wetland system the Pen Branch project. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S3-S15.

Bowers, Catherine F.; Hanlin, Hugh G.; Guynn, David C. [and others]. 2000. Herpetofaunal and vegetational characterization of a thermally-impacted stream at the beginning of restoration. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S101-S114.

**Braccia, Amy; Batzer, Darold P.** 2001. Invertebrates associated with woody debris in a Southeastern U.S. forested floodplain wetland. Wetlands. 21(1): 18-31.

**Brown, Raymond E.** 2001. Breeding biology, habitat, nest site, and nest box selection by prothonotary warblers and other species in eastern Texas. Nacogdoches, TX: Stephen F. Austin State University. 200 p. M.S. thesis

Buffington, J. Matthew; Kilgo, John C.; Sargent, Robert A. [and others]. 2000. Effects of restoration techniques on breeding birds in a thermally-impacted bottomland hardwood forest. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S115-S120.

Buffington, J. Matthew; Kilgo, John C.; Sargent, Robert A. [and others]. 2000. Foraging behavior of three passerines in mature bottomland hardwood forests during summer. The Journal of the Elisha Mitchell Scientific Society. 116(4): 356-359.

Burke, Marianne K. 2000. Introduction. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 1-3.

**Burke, Marianne K.** 2000. Nutrient dynamics—soil and vegetation. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 54-57.

Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. 2000. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 64 p.

Burke, Marianne K.; King, Sammy L.; Eisenbies, Mark H.; Gartner, David. 2000. Vegetation and soils. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 23-28.

Burke, Marianne K.; Liechty, Hal O.; Eisenbies, Mark H. 2000. Aboveground and belowground net primary production. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 39-41.

Coleman, M.D.; Dickson, R.E.; Isebrands, J.G. 2000. Contrasting fine-root production, survival and soil  $CO_2$  efflux in pine and poplar plantations. Plant and Soil. 225:129-139.

Coleman, Mark; Tolsted, David; Nichols, Tom. 2000. Western Minnesota poplar plantations show consistent positive response to fertilization [Abstract]. In: Isebrands, J.G; Richardson, J., comps. Abstracts, 21st session of the International Poplar Commission: poplar and willow culture: meeting the needs of society and the environment. Gen. Tech. Rep. NC-215. St. Paul, MN: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, North Central Research Station: 38.

Conner, William H.; Inabinette, L. Wayne; Brantly, Evaden F. 2000. The use of tree shelters in restoring forest species to a floodplain delta: 5-year results. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S47-S56.

Connor, Kris; Beardmore, Tannis; Tolentino, Enrique L., Jr.; Carandang, Wilfredo M., eds. 2001. Proceedings: International Union of Forest Research Organizations joint symposium: tree seed technology, physiology and tropical silviculture. Laguna, Philippines: University of the Philippines, Los Banos College. 225 p.

**Connor, Kristina F.; Bonner, Franklin T.** 2001. The effects of desiccation on seeds of *Acer saccharinum* and *Aesculus pavia*: recalcitrance in temperate tree seeds. Trees. 15: 131-136. **Coyle, David R.; McMillin, Joel D.; Hall, Richard B.; Hart, Elwood R.** 2000. Cottonwood leaf beetle defoliation impact on *Populus* growth [Abstract]. In: Isebrands, J.G.; Richardson, J., comps. Abstracts, 21st session of the International Poplar Commission: Poplar and willow culture: meeting the needs of society and the environment. Gen. Tech. Rep. NC-215. St. Paul, MN: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, North Central Research Station: 42.

**Coyle, David R.; McMillin, Joel D.; Hall, Richard B.; Hart, Elwood R.** 2001. Cottonwood leaf beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) larval performance on eight *Populus* clones. Environmental Entomology. 30(4): 748-756.

De Steven, Diane; Barton, Christopher; Singer, Julian; Sharitz, Rebecca. 2001. A large-scale experiment for restoration of depression wetlands in South Carolina [Abstract]. Southeastern Biology. 48(2): 165.

DeSelm, H.R.; Patterson, W.L.; Bates, Vernon [and others]. 1999. Presence or frequency of woody plants in vegetation samples in the coastal plain and interior low plateau of Tennessee. In: Hamilton, Steven W.; Chester, Edward W.; White, David S.; Finley, Mack T., eds. Proceedings of the eighth symposium on the natural history of lower Tennessee and Cumberland River Valleys. Clarksville, TN: Austin Peay State University, Center for Field Biology: 109-127.

Dickson, R.E.; Lewin, K.F.; Isebrands, J.G. [and others]. 2000. Forest atmosphere carbon transfer and storage (FACTS-II) the aspen freeair CO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>3</sub> enrichment (FACE) project: an overview. Gen. Tech. Rep. NC-214. St. Paul, MN: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, North Central Research Station. 68 p.

Dietz, Susan E.; Batzer, Darold P.; Taylor, Barbara E.; DeBiase, Adrienne E. 2001. Invertebrate communities of twenty ditched Carolina bay wetlands scheduled for restoration. In: Hatcher, Kathryn J., ed. Proceedings of t he 2001 Georgia water resources conference. Athens, GA: University of Georgia: 13-16.

**Dolloff, C. Andrew.** 2000. Fish and aquatic organisms. In: Drinking water from forests and grasslands: a synthesis of the scientific literature. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-39. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 169-176. Chapter 17.

**Dulohery, C.J.; Kolka, R.K.; McKevlin, M.R.** 2000. Effects of a willow overstory on planted seedlings in a bottomland restoration. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S57-S66.





Eberts, Sandra M.; Schalk, Charles W.; Vose, James; Harvey, Gregory J. 1999. Hydrologic effects of cottonwood trees on a shallow aquifer containing trichloroethene. In: Hydrological science and technology; special issue, 4th USA/CIS joint conference on hydrological issues of the 21st century: ecology, environment and human health. San Francisco: American Institute of Hydrology: 115-121. Vol. 15.

Eisenbies, Mark H.; Hughes, W. Brian. 2000. Hydrology. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 10-13.

Fletcher, Dean E.; Wilkins, S. David; McArthur, J.V.; Meffe, Gary K. 2000. Influence of riparian alteration on canopy coverage and macrophyte abundance in Southeastern USA blackwater streams. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S67-S78.

Fowlkes, Mark D.; Prenger, Joseph P.; Crisman, Thomas L. [and others]. 2001. Short term impact of fire and drought on macroinvertebrates in pond cypress domes [Abstract]. Bulletin, Society of Wetland Scientists. 16(2): A-22.

Gardiner, Emile S.; Schweitzer, Callie J.; Stanturf, John A. 2001. Photosynthesis of Nuttall oak (*Quercus nuttallii* Palm.) seedlings interplanted beneath an eastern cottonwood (*Populus deltoides* Bartr. ex Marsh.) nurse crop. Forest Ecology and Management. 149: 283-294.

Giese, Laura A.; Aust, W. Michael; Trettin, Carl C.; Kolka, Randall K. 2000. Spatial and temporal patterns of carbon storage and species richness in three South Carolina coastal plain riparian forests. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S157-S170.

Guilfoyle, Michael P.; Barrow, Wylie C., Jr.; Hamel, Paul B. 2000. Response of bird communities to natural disturbance. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 34-35.

**Guo, Yanfei; Shelton, Michael G.; Lockhart, Brian R.** 2001. Effects of light regimes on the growth of cherrybark oak seedlings. Forest Science. 47(2): 270-277. Haag, Wendell R.; Warren, Melvin L., Jr. 2000. Effects of light and presence of fish on lure display and larval release behaviours in two species of freshwater mussels. Animal Behaviour. 60: 879-886.

Haag, Wendell R.; Warren, Melvin L., Jr. 2001. Report for U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service endangered/threatened species subpermittee. Authorization no. SA-98-06. Detailed field work and data collection for 2000 on federally listed freshwater mussels. 10 p. Available from U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Hydrology Laboratory, Southern Research Station, Oxford, MS 38655.

Hamel, Paul B. 2001. Birds cross the boundaries specified by the Migratory Bird Treaty Act [Abstract]. Presentation, Tulane Law School meeting: Environment 2001: water, energy and the law. New Orleans: Tulane University of Louisiana.

Hamel, Paul B.; Dunning, John B., Jr. 2000. An approach to quantifying long-term habitat change on managed forest lands. Studies in Avian Biology. 21: 122-129.

Hughes, W. Brian; Abrahamsen, Thomas A.; Maluk, Terry L. [and others]. 2000. Water quality in the Santee River Basin and coastal drainages, North and South Carolina, 1995-98. [A coordinated effort.] Circular 1206. Columbia, SC: U.S. Geological Survey: 32 p.

Hupp, Cliff R. 2000. Hydrology, geomorphology and vegetation of Coastal Plain rivers in the southeastern USA. Hydrological Processes. 14: 2991-3010.

Hupp, Cliff R.; Schening, Michael R. 2000. Sedimentation. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 14-16.

Hussain, M.; Kubiske, M.E.; Connor, K.F. 2001. Germination of  $CO_2$ -enriched *Pinus taeda* L. seeds and subsequent seedling growth responses to  $CO_2$  enrichment. Functional Ecology. 15: 344-350.

Jones, R.H.; Stokes, S.L.; Lockaby, B.G.; Stanturf, J.A. 2000. Vegetation responses to helicopter and ground based logging in blackwater floodplain forests. Forest Ecology and Management. 139: 215-225.

Jurgensen, Martin F.; Trettin, Carl C.; Gale, M.R. 2000. Effects of forest management on carbon pools in forested wetlands [Abstract]. In: Advances in terrestrial ecosystem carbon inventory, measurements, and monitoring. Raleigh, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Global Change Program: 53.

Jurgensen, Martin; Richter, Dana; Trettin, Carl C.; Davis, Mary. 2000. Mycorrhizae. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 44-46.

Kilgo, John C.; Miller, Karl V.; Moore, William F. 2000. Coordinating short-term projects into an effective research program: effects of site preparation methods on bird communities in pine plantations. Studies in Avian Biology. 21: 144-147.

King, Sammy L.; Burke, Marianne K.; Antrobus, Terry J.; Billups, Sarah. 2000. Vegetation dynamics. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development

of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 29-31.

Kolka, R.K.; Nelson, E.A.; Trettin, C.C. 2000. Conceptual assessment framework for forested wetland restoration: the Pen Branch experience. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S17-S21.

Lakly, Michelle B; McArthur, J. Vaun. 2000. Macroinvertebrate recovery of a postthermal stream: habitat structure and biotic function. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S87-S100.

Lanner, R.M.; Connor, K.F. 2001. Does bristlecone pine senesce? Experimental Geronotology. 36: 675-685.

Leininger, Theodor D.; Schmoldt, Daniel L.; Tainter, Frank H. 2001. Using ultrasound to detect defects in trees: current knowledge and future needs [Abstract]. In: Program booklet; first international precision forestry symposium. Seattle: University of Washington: 16.

Luxmoore, Robert J.; Mehlhorn, Tonia L.; Yang, Bessie W. [and others]. 2000. Tillage effects on carbon and nitrogen in a coastal plain soil [Poster]. Fall meeting, American Geophysical Union. San Francisco: Supplement to *Eos*, Transactions. 81 (48): F253. Maluk, Terry L. 2000. Spatial and seasonal variability of nutrients, pesticides, bacteria, and suspended sediment in the Santee River Basin and coastal drainages, North and South Carolina, 1995-97. [A coordinated effort.] U.S.Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 00-4076. Columbia, SC: U.S. Geological Survey. 46 p.

Maluk, Terry L.; Abrahamsen, Thomas A.; Day, Richard H. 2000. Water quality. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 17-19.

Mayer, John J.; Nelson, Eric A.; Wike, Lynn D. 2000. Selective depredation of planted hardwood seedlings by wild pigs in a wetland restoration area. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S79-S85.

McLeod, Kenneth W. 2000. Species selection trials and silvicultural techniques for the restoration of bottomland hardwood forests. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S35-S46.

Meadows, James S. 2000. Salix nigra. [Distribution, environmental amplitude, silvicultural characteristics, uses, importance.] Forestry compendium: global module. [Oxford, United Kingdom]: CAB International. 16 p. [CD-ROM].

Meadows, James S.; Burkhardt, E.C. 2001. Epicormic branches affect lumber grade and value in willow oak. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(3): 136-141.

**Meadows, James S.; Goelz, C.G.** 2001. Fifthyear response to thinning in a water oak plantation in north Louisiana. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(1): 31-39.

Menzel, Michael A.; McCracken, Gary F.; Ford, W. Mark [and others]. 2001. The effect of harvest and regeneration of pine forests in the Southeastern United States on the spatial activity patterns of bats [Abstract]. Paper presented at the southeastern mammal colloquium.

Mihail, J.D.; Bruhn, J.N.; Leininger, T.D. 2001. Rhizomorph generation by three *Armillaria* spp. under high  $O_2$  availability and saturation [Abstract]. Supplement to Phytopathology. 91(6): S62. Zunder



Murray, Laura A.; Eppinette, Bob; Thorp, John H. 2000. Geomorphology and soil survey. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 7-9.

Nelson, Eric A.; Dulohery, Neil C.; Kolka, Randall K.; McKee, William H., Jr. 2000. Operational restoration of the Pen Branch bottomland hardwood and swamp wetlands the research setting. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S23-S33.

Nelson, Eric A.; Kolka, Randall K.; Trettin, Carl C.; Wisniewski, Joe, eds. 2000. Restoration of the severely impacted riparian wetland system. Oxford, United Kingdom: Elsevier Science Ltd. 189 p.

Niu, Z.; Sun, G.; McNulty, S.G. [and others]. 2001. Applying ANSWERS-2000 to simulate BMP effects on sediment and runoff from two watersheds in the Three Gorges area, Southern China. In: Ascough, James C. II; Flanagan, Dennis C., eds. Soil erosion research for the 21st century: Proceedings of the international symposium. St. Joseph, MI: American Society of Agricultural Engineers: 653-656.

**Oswald, John D.; Schiff, Nathan M.** 2001. A new species of the genus *Dilar rambur* (Neuroptera: Dilaridae) from Borneo. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington. 103(1): 74-80.

Paller, Michael H.; Reichert, Marcel J.M.; Dean, John M.; Seigle, John C. 2000. Use of fish community data to evaluate restoration success of a riparian stream. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S171-S187.

Phillips, D.H.; Foss, J.E.; Stiles, C.A.; Trettin, C.C.; Luxmoore, R.J. 2000. Soillandscape relationships at the lower reaches of a watershed at Bear Creek near Oak Ridge, Tennessee. Catena. 44: 205-222.

Sanchez, F.G.; Carter, E.A. 2000. Forest slash incorporation: a proactive approach for carbon sequestration [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: annual meetings, American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America. Madison, WI: ASA, CCSA, SSSA. [Page unknown]. Scheungrab, Donna B.; Trettin, Carl C.; Lea, Russ; Jurgensen, Martin F. 2000. Woody debris. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 47-48.

Stanturf, John A.; Gardiner, Emile S. 2000. Restoration of bottomland hardwoods in the Lower Mississippi Alluvial Valley. In: Sustaining forests: the science of forest assessment, southern resource assessment. 15 p. http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/sustain/conf/ppr/ stanturf/index.htm.

**Stanturf, John A.; Madsen, Palle A.** 2000. An overview of temperate and boreal forest restoration [Oral presentation] [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: International conference on forest ecosystem: ecology, conservation and sustainable management. [Place of publication unknown]:[Publisher unknown]: 1-2.

Stanturf, John A.; Schoenholtz, Stephen H.; Schweitzer, Callie Jo; Shepard, James P. 2001. Achieving restoration success: myths in bottomland hardwood forests. Restoration Ecology. 9(2): 189-200.

**Stockel, Don; Miller-Goodman, Mary.** 2000. Nutrient dynamics-soil microorganisms. In: Burke, Marianne K.; Eisenbies, Mark H., eds. The Coosawhatchie bottomland ecosystem study: a report on the development of a reference wetland. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-38. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 51-53.

Sun, Ge; Lu, Jianbiao; Gartner, David; Miwa, Masato; Trettin, Carl C. 2000. Water budgets of two forested watersheds in South Carolina. In: Higgins, Robert W., ed. Proceedings: American Water Resources Association annual water resources conference: Water quantity and quality issues in coastal urban areas. Middleburg, VA: American Water Resources Association: 199-202.

Sun, Ge; McNulty, Steven G.; Shepard, James P. [and others]. 2001. Effects of timber management on the hydrology of wetland forests in the Southern United States. Forest Ecology and Management. 143: 227-236.

Sun, Ge; Mickler, Robert; Earnhardt, Todd; McNulty, Steve. 2001. Streamflow and potential sediment loading from watersheds across a physiographic gradient in North Carolina [Abstract]. In: Higgins, Robert W., ed. Proceedings: water quality monitoring and modeling: American Water Resources Association annual spring specialty conference. San Antonio, TX: American Water Resources Association: 267.

Tolbert, V.R.; Mays, D.A.; Houston, A. [and others]. 2000. Ensuring environmentally sustainable production of dedicated biomass feedstocks. In: Proceedings, Bioenergy 2000: moving technology to the marketplace: 9th biennial bioenergy conference. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Energy. 9 p. [CD-ROM].

Trettin, C. C.; Minkkinen, K.; Laine, J.; Jurgensen, M.F. 2001. The carbon balance in managed wetland forests [Abstract]. In: Book of abstracts: seventh international symposium on the biogeochemistry of wetlands. Durham, NC: Duke University Wetland Center: 28.

Trettin, C.C.; Jurgensen, M.F.; Gale, M.R. 2000. Soil carbon recovery and site productivity changes following harvesting and site preparation of a sub-boreal forested wetland [Abstract]. In: Apps, Michael G.; Marsden, Jenni, eds. Abstracts: The role of boreal forests and forestry in the global carbon budget; conference. Edmonton, AB: Canadian Forest Service, Natural Resources Canada: 167.

**Trettin, Carl C.** 2000. Review of : The production ecology of wetlands: the IBP synthesis. The Quarterly Review of Biology. 75: 477-478.

Trettin, Carl C.; Jurgensen, M.F.; Li, H. 2000. Assessing soil carbon balance in forested wetlands [Abstract]. In: Advances in terrestrial ecosystem carbon inventory, measurements, and monitoring. Raleigh, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Global Change Program: 100.

Trettin, Carl C.; Jurgensen, Martin F.; Gale, Margaret R. 2000. Sustainable C sequestration in managed wetland forests [Poster]. Fall meeting, American Geophysical Union. San Francisco: Supplement to *Eas*, Transactions. 81 (48): F272.

Vozzo, J.A.; Patel, Ramesh; Desaiah, Durisala; Roy, Asmita. 2001. IDPI guided phytobiopsy [Abstract]. Proceedings: International Union of Forest Research Organizations joint symposium: tree seed technology, physiology, and tropical silviculture. Las Banos, Philippines: University of Philippines, College of Forestry and Natural Resources: 221. Vozzo, Jack A.; Patel, Ramesh; Terrel, Allen. 2000. Imaginologia de la viabilidad de semillas. In: Programa General: 1st Congreso nacional de reforestacion. Montecillo, Mexico: Colegio de Postgraduados. 5 p. In Spanish.

Wade, Dale. 2001. Fire is the ecological imperative in fire-adapted ecosystems such as longleaf pine [Abstract]. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future—restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance: 5: 75.

Wigginton, John D.; Lockaby, B. Graeme; Trettin, Carl C. 2000. Soil organic matter formation and sequestration across a forested floodplain chronosequence. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S141-S155.

Wike, Lynn D.; Martin, F. Douglas; Hanlin, Hugh G.; Paddock, Linda S. 2000. Small mammal populations in a restored stream corridor. Supplement to Ecological Engineering. 15: S121-S129.

Williams-Linera, Guadalupe; Devall, Margaret S.; Alvarez-Aquino, Claudia. 2000. A relict population of *Fagus grandifola* var. *mexicana* at the Acatlan Volcano, Mexico: structure, litterfall, phenology and dendroecology. Journal of Biogeography. 27: 1297-1309.

**Wilson, A. Dan.** 2001. Oak wilt: a potential threat to southern and western oak forests. Journal of Forestry. 99(5): 4-11.

Wilson, A.D.; Lester, D.G. 2001. Trench inserts improve trenches for long-term control of oak wilt [Poster]. APS/SON/MSA annual meeting.

Wilson, A.D.; Schiff, N.M. 2001. Vegetative antagonism between wood-decaying mycosymbionts of *xiphydriid* woodwasps [Poster]. The Mississippi pest management associations joint meeting.

**Wilson, R. Randy.** 1999. Sex determination of the acadian flycatcher using discriminant analysis. Journal of Field Ornithology. 70(4): 514-519.

Xu, Zicai; Leininger, Theodor D.; Lee, Andy W.C.; Tainter, Frank H. 2001. Chemical properties associated with bacterial wetwood in red oaks. Wood and Fiber Science. 33(1): 76-83.

Xu, Zicai; Leininger, Theodor D.; Lee, Andy W.C.; Tainter, Frank H. 2001. Physical, mechanical, and drying properties associated with bacterical wetwood in red oaks. Forest Products Journal. 51(3): 79-84. ▲



U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

62



Abbott, A. Lynn; Schmoldt, Daniel L.; Araman, Philip A. 2000. A next generation processing system for edging and trimming. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twentyeighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 141-149.

Alterman, L.E.; Bednarz, J.C.; Thill, R.E. 2001. Effects of group-selection harvesting on nesting success of neotropical migratory birds in the Ouachita Mountains of Arkansas [Abstract]. In: Abstracts, eighty-second meeting of the Wilson Ornithological Society. Fayetteville, AR: University of Arkansas: 1.

Andre, Henri; Ducarme, Xavier; Anderson, Jo; [and others]. 2001. Skilled eyes are needed to go on studying the richness for the soil. [Joint letter rebutting Copley, J., 2000, news feature in Nature. 406: 452.] Nature. 409, 761. 4 p.

Barber, David R.; Martin, Thomas E.; Melchiors, M. Anthony [and others]. 2001. Nesting success of birds in different silvicultural treatments in Southeastern U.S. pine forests. Conservation Biology. 15(1): 196-207.

Beckage, Brian; Clark, James S.; Clinton, Barton D.; Haines, Bruce L. 2000. A long-term study of tree seedling recruitment in Southern Appalachian forests: the effects of canopy gaps and shrub understories. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 30: 1617-1631.

Bowe, Scott; Smith, Robert; Araman, Phil; Kline, D. Earl. 2000. Use of advanced hardwood sawmill equipment, and desired features for next-generation systems. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium, West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 131-140.

**Brose, Patrick; Van Lear, David.** 2001. A shelterwood-burn technique for regenerating productive upland oak sites [Poster]. In: Yaussy, Daniel A., comp. Proceedings: workshop on fire, people, and the central hardwoods landscape. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-274. Newton Square, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station: 123.

Burrell, Kyle H.; Isely, J. Jeffery; Bunnell, David B., Jr. [and others]. 2000. Seasonal movement of brown trout in a Southern Appalachian river. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 129: 1373-1379.

Cain, Michael D.; Shelton, Michael G. 2000. Survival and growth of *Pinus echinata* and *Quercus* seedlings in response to simulated summer and winter prescribed burns. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 30: 1830-1836.

**Clark, Jim; Horvath, Lajos; Lewis, Mark.** 2001. On the estimation of spread rate for a biological population. Statistics and Probability Letters. 51: 225-234.

Clarke, John W.; White, Marshall S.; Araman, Philip A. 2001. Performance of pallet parts received from used wood pallets. Forest Products Journal. 51(2): 55-62.

**Clinton, B.D.; Mair, C.A.; Sullivan, N.H.** 2001. An examination of the relationship between sapflow rate and measured stem CO<sub>2</sub> efflux in trees [Poster]. Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting.

**Coleman, David C.** 2001. Soil biota, soil systems, and processes. In: Levin, Simon, ed. Encyclopedia of diversity. [Place of publication unknown]: Academic Press: 305-314. Vol. 5.

Cook, Deborah F.; Araman, Philip; Winn, Matt. 2000. Pallet part grading trainer. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 81-88.

**Cordell, H. Ken; Betz, Carter J.** 2000. Trends in outdoor recreation supply on public and private lands in the US. In: Gartner, William C.; Lime, David W., eds. Trends in outdoor recreation, leisure and tourism. New York: CABI Publishing: 75-89. Chapter 7.

**Cordell, H. Ken; Herbert, Nancy G.; Pandolfi, Francis.** 1999. The growing popularity of birding in the United States. Birding. 31(2): 168-176.

**Cordell, H. Ken; Overdevest, Christine.** 2001. Footprints on the land: an assessment of demographic trends and the future of natural lands in the United States. Champaign, IL: Sagamore Publishing. 314 p.

**Cordell, H. Ken; Super, Gregory R.** 2000. Trends in Americans' outdoor recreation. In: Gartner, William C.; Lime, David W., eds. Trends in outdoor recreation, leisure and tourism. New York: CABI Publishing: 133-144. Chapter 12.

**Our Products-** Books, Presentations, Web Postings

**Cordell, Ken; Stokes, Jerry.** 2000. The social value of wilderness: a Forest Service perspective. International Journal of Wilderness. 6(2): 23-24.

**Courtney, Gregory W.** 2000. Revision of the net-winged midges of the genus *Blepharicera macquart* (Diptera: Blephariceridae) of Eastern North America. In: Smith, David R., ed. Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Washington. Washington, DC: The Entomological Society of Washington: 23.

Devall, Margaret; Schiff, Nathan; Boyette, Douglas. 2001. Ecology and reproductive biology of the endangered pondberry, *Lindera melissifolia* (Walt) Blume. Natural Areas Journal. 21(3): 250-258.

**Dolloff, C. Andrew; Webster, Jackson R.** 2000. Particulate organic contributions from forests to streams: debris isn't so bad. In: Verry, Elon S.; Hornbeck, James W.; Dolloff, C. Andrew, eds. Riparian management in forests of the continental Eastern United States. Boca Raton, FL: Lewis Publishers: 125-138. Chapter 7.

Ellis, Lisa Edna. 2001. Characterization and classification of ectomycorrhizae of table mountain pine (*Pinus pungens*) and the influence of prescribed burning on their survival. Clemson, SC: Clemson University. 67 p. M.S. thesis.

Fly, J. Mark; Jones, Robert Emmet; Cordell, H. Ken. 2000. Knowledge of and attitudes toward wilderness in the Southern Appalachian ecoregion. In: McCool, Stephen F.; Cole, David N.; Borrie, William T.; O'Laughlin, Jennifer, comps. Wilderness science in a time of change conference Proceedings: Volume 2: Wilderness within the context of larger systems. RMRS-P-15-VOL-2. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station: 201-204.

Ford, W. Mark; Menzel, Michael A.; McCay, Timothy S.; Laerm, Joshua. 2001. Contiguous allopatry of the masked shrew and southeastern shrew in the Southern Appalachians: segregation along an elevational and habitat gradient. The Journal of the Elisha Mitchell Scientific Society. 117(1): 20-28.

Grace, J. McFero III. 2001. Impact of grass species on erosion control from forest road sideslopes. In: Proceedings of an international symposium: Soil erosion research for the 21st century. St. Joseph, MI: American Society of Agricultural Engineers: 191-194.

Grace, J. McFero III. 2001. Impact of grass species on erosion control from forest road sideslopes [Poster]. Soil erosion research for the 21st century: an international symposium. **Greenberg, Cathryn H.** 2001. Response of reptile and amphibian communities to canopy gaps created by wind disturbance in the Southern Appalachians. Forest Ecology and Management. 148: 135-144.

**Greenberg, Cathryn H.** 2001. Spatiotemporal dynamics of pond use and recruitment in Florida gopher frogs (*Rana capito aesopus*). Journal of Herpetology. 35(1): 74-85.

**Grossman, Gary D.** 1998. Notes from the blackboard: choosing the right graduate school and getting the job you've always wanted. Fisheries. 23(9): 16-17.

Henderson, David W.; Warren, Robert J.; Newman, David H. [and others]. 2000. Human perceptions before and after a 50 percent reduction in an urban deer herd's density. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 28(4): 911-918.

Huebschmann, M.M.; Lynch, T.B.; Lewis, D.K.; Guldin, J.M. [2000]. Restoring the shortleaf pine-bluestem grass ecosystem: an economic evaluation. In: Proceedings of the Society of American Foresters 1999 national convention. Bethesda, MD: Society of American Foresters: 537-538.

Hutchens, J.J., Jr.; Benfield, E.F. 2000. Effects of forest defoliation by the gypsy moth on detritus processing in Southern Appalachian streams. American Midland Naturalist. (143): 397-404.

Hutchens, John Jehu, Jr. 2000. Effects of geomorphology and disturbance on stream ecosystems in the Southern Appalachians. Athens, GA: University of Georgia. 238 p. Ph.D. dissertation.

Jakeman, A.J.; Hornberger, G.M. 1993. How much complexity is warranted in a rainfall-runoff model? Water Resources Research. 29(8): 2637-2649.

Johnston, Carol E.; Johnson, Dawn L. 2000. Sound production in *Pimephales notatus* (Rafinesque) (Cyprinidae). Copeia. 2000(2): 567-571.

Johnston, Carol E.; Johnson, Dawn L. 2000. Sound production during the spawning season in cavity-nesting darters of the subgenus *Catonotus* (Percidae: Etheostoma). Copeia. 2000(2): 475-481.

Johnston, Carol E.; Smithson, Elizabeth B. 2000. Movement patterns of stream-dwelling sunfishes: effects of pool size. Journal of Freshwater Ecology. 15(4): 565-566.





Kabir, M. Firoz; Schmoldt, Daniel L.; Schafer, Mark E.; Araman, Philip A. 2000. Ultrasonic scanning for pallet part grading. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 151-159.

Kabir, M.F.; Schmoldt, D.L.; Schafer, M.E. 2001. Roller-transducer scanning of wooden pallet parts for defect detection. In: Thompson, D.O.; Chimenti, D.E., eds. Review of progress in quantitative nondestructive evaluation, proceedings. New York: Plenum: 1218-1225. Vol. 20.

Kabir, Mohammed Firoz; Daud, Wan M.; Khalid, Kaida B.; Sidek, Aziz H.A. 2000. Equivalent circuit modeling of the dielectric properties of rubber wood at low frequency. Wood and Fiber Science. 32(4): 450-457.

Kline, D. Earl; Conners, Richard W.; Araman, Philip A. 2000. Technology to sort lumber by color and grain for furniture parts. In: Quality lumber drying in the Pacific Northwest: vertical integration = improved profit: Proceedings of a conference. Madison, WI: Forest Products Society: 67-73.

Kline, D. Earl; Surak, Chris; Araman, Philip A. 2000. A lumber grading system for the future: an update evaluation. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 123-129.

Knoepp, Jennifer D.; Vose, James M. 2000. Regulation of nitrogen mineralization and nitrification: separating vegetation and climate [Poster]. In: Stars of the 20th century: beacons for the 21st; 2000 annual meetings of American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America.

Kolka, Randy; Smidt, Mathew. 2001. Revisiting forest road retirement. Water Resources Impact. 3(3): 15-18.

Lakly, Michelle B.; Crossley, D.A., Jr. 2000. Tullgren extraction of soil mites (Acarina): effect of refrigeration time on extraction efficiency. Experimental and Applied Acarology. 24: 135-140.

Leeworthy, Vernon R.; Wiley, Peter C.; English, Donald B.K.; Kriesel, Warren. 2001. Correcting response bias in tourist spending surveys. Annals of Tourism Research. 28(1): 83-97.

Lewis, C.N.; Whitfield, J.B. 1999. *Braconid* wasp (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) diversity in forest plots under different silvicultural methods. Environmental Entomology. 28(6): 986-997.

Loeb, Susan C.; Tainter, Frank H.; Cazares, Efren. 2000. Habitat associations of hypogeous fungi in the Southern Appalachians: implications for the endangered northern flying squirrel (*Glaucomys sabrinus coloratus*). American Midland Naturalist. 144: 286-296.

Lynch, Thomas B.; Huebschmann, Michael M.; Murphy, Paul A. 2000. A survival model for individual shortleaf pine trees in evenaged natural stands. In: Integrated tools for natural resources inventories in the 21st century: Proceedings of the International Union of Forest Research Organizations conference. Gen. Tech. Rep. NC-212. St. Paul, MN: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, North Central Research Station: 533-538.

Marion, Daniel A. 2001. Bedload transport rates at near-bankfull flows in a step-pool channel. In: Proceedings of the seventh federal interagency sedimentation conference: Sedimentation: monitoring, modeling, and managing. Reston, VA: U.S. Geological Survey: III-32 to III-38.

Marion, Daniel A. 2001. Review of book: Fluvial processes and environmental change. Brown, A.G.; Quine, T.A., eds. (Wiley, Chichester, United Kingdom, 1999, 413 p.). Geomorphology. 36: 258-260.

McNab, W. Henry; Lloyd, F. Thomas. 2000. Assessing age- and site index-dependent diameter growth models of individual-tree Southern Appalachian hardwoods. In: Cieszewski, Chris J., ed. First international conference on measurements and quantitative methods and management and the 1999 southern mensurationists meeting. Athens, GA: University of Georgia: 172-189.

McNab, W. Henry; Parresol, Bernard R.; Ritter, Brian A. 2000. Evaluation of two eastern white pine site index equations at Biltmore Estate, North Carolina. Res. Pap. SRS-21. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 7 p.

McNab, W. Henry; Ritter, Brian A. 2000. The Old Orchard white pine plantation at Biltmore. Journal of Forestry. 98(11): 18-23.

Mulholland, Patrick J.; Tank, Jennifer L.; Sanzone, Diane M. [and others]. 2000. Food resources of stream macroinvertebrates determined by natural-abundance stable C and N isotopes and a 15N tracer addition. Journal of the North American Benthological Society. 19(1): 145-157.

Mulholland, Patrick J.; Tank, Jennifer L.; Sanzone, Diane M. [and others]. 2000. Nitrogen cycling in a forest stream determined by a 15N tracer addition. Ecological Monographs. 70(3): 471-493.

Nilsen, E.T.; Clinton, B.D.; Lei, T.T. [and others]. 2001. Does *Rhododendron maximum* L. (Ericaceae) reduce the availability of resources above and belowground for canopy tree seedlings? American Midland Naturalist. 145(2): 325-343.

Noble, Scott; Orr, Blair; Araman, Philip [and others]. 2000. A computerized bucking trainer for optimally bucking hardwoods. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 11-18.

Occena, Luis G.; Santitrakul, Eknarin; Schmoldt, Daniel L. 2000. Hardwood sawyer trainer. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 43-47.

Odom, Richard H., Jr.; McNab, W. Henry. 2000. Using digital terrain modeling to predict ecological types in the Balsam Mountains of western North Carolina. Res. Note SRS-8. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 11 p.

**Overdevest, Christine.** 2000. Participatory democracy, representative democracy, and the nature of diffuse and concentrated interests: a case study of public involvement on a national forest district. Society and Natural Resources. 13(7): 685-696.

Peterson, Bruce J.; Wollheim, Wilfred M.; Mulholland, Patrick J. [and others]. 2001. Control of nitrogen export from watersheds by headwater streams. Science. 292: 86-90.

**Petty, J.T.; Grossman, G.D.** 2000. The effects of an underwater fish observation technique on stream macroinvertebrates at two spatial scales. Ecology of Freshwater Fish. 9: 145-152.

**Phillips, Jonathan D.; Marion, Daniel A.** 2001. Residence times of alluvium in an east Texas stream as indicated by sediment color. Catena. 45: 49-71.

Rauscher, H. Michael; Spearman, John E., Jr.; Fout, C. Preston [and others]. 2001. Talking high-tech turkey: USDA uses new software to analyze habitat management scenarios. Tree Farmer. May/June: 6-13. Rauscher, H. Michael; Young, Michael J.; Webb, Charles D.; Robison, Daniel J. 2000. Testing the accuracy of growth and yield models for southern hardwood forests. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 24(3): 176-185.

Rauscher, Michael H.; Lloyd, F. Thomas; Loftis, David L.; Twery, Mark J. 2000. A practical decision-analysis process for conducting ecosystem management at the project level on national forests of the United States [Abstract]. In: Cieszewski, C.J., ed. First international conference on measurements and quantitative methods and management and the 1999 southern mensurationists meeting. Athens, GA: University of Georgia: 98.

**Reynolds, Barbara C.; Hunter, Mark D.; Crossley, D.A., Jr.** 2000. Effects of canopy herbivory on nutrient cycling in a northern hardwood forest in western North Carolina. Selbyana. 21(1,2): 74-78.

**Reynolds, Barbara Foster.** 2000. Effects of canopy herbivores on soil systems along an elevation gradient. Athens, GA: University of Georgia. 133 p. Ph.D. dissertation.

Reynolds, Keith; Bjork, Jennifer; Hershey, Rachel Riemann [and others]. 1999. Decision support for ecosystem management. In: Sexton, W.T.; Malk, A.J.; Szaro, R.C.; Johnson, N.C., eds. Ecological stewardship: a common reference for ecosystem management. Oxford, United Kingdom: Elsevier Science: 687-721. Vol. III.

Rincon, P.A.; Hughes, N.F.; Grossman, G.D. 2000. Landscape approaches to stream fish ecology, mechanistic aspects of habitat selection and behavioral ecology. Introduction and commentary. Ecology of Freshwater Fish. 9: 1-3.

**Rincon, Pedro A.; Grossman, Gary D.** 1998. The effects of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) on the use of spatial resources and behavior of rosyside dace (*Clinostomus funduloides*). Archive Hydrobiology. 141(3): 333-352.

**Rohrer, Deven Michelle.** 2001. Effects of all-terrain vehicle trails on stream channel characteristics, Ouachita National Forest, Arkansas. College Station, TX: Texas A&M University. 174 p. M.S. thesis.

Rose, Charles E., Jr.; Lynch, Thomas B. 2001. Estimating parameters for tree basal area growth with a system of equations and seemingly unrelated regressions. Forest Ecology and Management. 148: 51-61.





Rudolph, D. Craig. 2001. Is the Diana (*Speyeria diana*) a fire dependent species in the Interior Highlands? [Abstract]. In: Program and schedule of events: 52nd annual meeting of the Lepidopterists' Society. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University: 14.

Sampson, D.A.; Vose, J.M.; Allen, H.L. 1998. A conceptual approach to stand management using leaf area index as the integral of site structure, physiological function, and resource supply. In: Waldrop, Thomas A., ed. Proceedings of the ninth biennial southern silvicultural research conference. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 628 p.

Schaefer, Jacob. 2001. Riffles as barriers to interpool movement by three cyprinids (*Notropis boops*, *Campostoma anomalum* and *Cyprinella venusta*). Final report to U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Forest Experiment Station under Cooperative Agreement 19-94.063. Freshwater Biology. 46: 1-10.

**Schmoldt, D.L.** 2001. Editorial: precision agriculture and information technology. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture. 30: 5-7.

Schmoldt, D.L.; Winn, M.F.; Araman, P.A. 2000. Internet access to research results: an evolving effort. In: Salminen, H.; Saarikko, J.; Virtanen, E., eds. Proceedings, resource technology '98 Nordic, international symposium on advanced technology in environmental and natural resources. Rovaniemi, Finland: The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Rovaniemi Research Station. 7 p.

Schmoldt, Daniel L.; Scheinman, Elan; Rinnhofer, Alfred; Occena, Luis G. 2000. Internal log scanning: research to reality. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 103-114.

Smidt, Mathew F.; Kolka, Randall K. 2001. Alternative skid trail retirement options for steep terrain logging. In: Wang, Jingxin; Wolford, Michelle; McNeel, Joe, eds. Appalachian hardwoods: managing change: Proceedings of the 24th annual Council on Forest Engineering meeting. Corvallis, OR: Council on Forest Engineering. 5 p. [CD-ROM].

Spetich, Martin A.; Shifley, Stephen R.; Parker, George R. 2001. Tree cavities of midwestern old-growth forests [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting. Washington, DC: The Ecological Society of America: 210. Sponseller, R.A.; Benfield, E.F. 2001.

Influences of land use on leaf breakdown in Southern Appalachian headwater streams: a multiple-scale analysis. Journal of the North America Benthological Society. 20(1): 44-59.

Steele, Philip H.; Boden, Craig; Araman, Philip A. 2000. ECHO: machine feasibility program. In: Meyer, Dan A., ed. Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual hardwood symposium: West Virginia now—the future for the hardwood industry? Memphis, TN: National Hardwood Lumber Association: 53-57.

Sutherland, Andrew Bryan. 1998. Effects of land-use change on sediment regime and fish assemblages in the upper Little Tennessee River. Athens, GA: University of Georgia. 158 p. M.S. thesis.

Swank, W.T.; Vose, J.M.; Elliott, K.J. 2001. Long-term hydrologic and water quality responses following commercial clearcutting of mixed hardwoods on a Southern Appalachian catchment. Forest Ecology and Management. 143: 163-178.

Swank, Wayne T.; Bolstad, Paul V. 2000. Appendix C: Cumulative impacts of land use on water quality in a Southern Appalachian watershed. In: Dissmeyer, George E., ed. Drinking water from forests and grasslands: a synthesis of the scientific literature. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-39. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 215-217.

Swank, Wayne. 2000. Forest succession. In: Dissmeyer, George E., ed. Drinking water from forests and grasslands: a synthesis of the scientific literature. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-39. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 120-123.

Tank, Jennifer L.; Meyer, Judy L.; Sanzone, Diane M. [and others]. 2000. Analysis of nitrogen cycling in a forest stream during autumn using a 15N-tracer addition. Limnology Oceanography. 45(5): 1013-1029.

Thill, Ronald E.; Perry, Roger W.; Koerth, Nancy E. [and others]. 2000. Initial bird responses to alternative pine regeneration methods in Arkansas and Oklahoma [Abstract]. In: Program and abstracts: The Wildlife Society 7th annual conference. [Place of publication unknown]: [Publisher unknown]: 197.

Thompson, Andrew R.; Petty, J. Todd; Grossman, Gary D. 2001. Multi-scale effects of resource patchiness on foraging behaviour and habitat use by longnose dace, *Rhinichthys cataractae*. Freshwater Biology. 46: 145-160.
### Mountain and Highland Ecosystems

Thomson, Alan J.; Schmoldt, Daniel L. 2001. Ethics in computer software design and development. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture. 30: 85-102.

Van Lear, D.H.; Brose, P.H.; Keyser, P.D. 2000. Using prescribed fire to regenerate oaks. In: Yaussy, Daniel A., comp. Proceedings: workshop on fire, people, and the central hardwoods landscape. Gen. Tech Rep. NE-274. Newton Square, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station: 97-102.

Vose, James M.; Maass, Jose Manuel. 1999. A comparative analysis of hydrologic responses of tropical deciduous and temperate deciduous watershed ecosystems to climatic change. In: Aguirre-Bravo, Celedonio; Franco, Carlos Rodriguez, comps. Proceedings: North American science symposium: toward a unified framework for inventorying and monitoring forest ecosystem resources. RMRS-P-12. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station: 292-298.

Waldrop, Thomas A.; Welch, Nicole Turrill; Brose, Patrick H. [and others]. 2000. Current research on restoring ridgetop pine communities with stand replacement fire. In: Yaussy, Daniel A., comp. Proceedings: workshop on fire, people, and the central hardwoods landscape. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-274. Newton Square, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station: 103-109.

Warren, Melvin L., Jr. 2001. Review of book: American aquarium fishes, by Goldstein, Robert J. (College Station, TX: Texas A&M University Press, 2000, 448 p.) Fisheries. 26(7): 40-42.

Wear, David N.; Turner, Monica G.; Flamm, Richard O. 1996. Ecosystem management with multiple owners: landscape dynamics in a Southern Appalachian watershed. Ecological Applications. 6(4): 1173-1188.

Webster, J.R.; Tank, J.L.; Wallace, J.B. [and others]. 2000. Effects of litter exclusion and wood removal on phosphorus and nitrogen retention in a forest stream. Verlagsbuchhandlung International Verein. Limnology. 27: 1337-1340. Wei, Yong. 2000. KET: A knowledge base engineering tool for the forest health expert system. Athens, GA: University of Georgia. 53 p. M.S. thesis.

Welch, N.T.; Waldrop, T.A.; Buckner, E.R. 2000. Response of Southern Appalachian table mountain pine (*Pinus pungens*) and pitch pine (*P. rigida*) stands to prescribed burning. Forest Ecology and Management. 136: 185-197.

Welch, Nicole Turrill; Waldrop, Thomas A. 2001. Restoring table mountain pine (*Pinus pungens* Lamb.) communities with prescribed fire: an overview of current research. Castanea. 66 (1-2): 42-49.

Wender, Bryan W. 2000. Impacts of seven silvicultural alternatives on vascular plant community composition, structure, and diversity in the Southern Appalachians. Blacksburg, VA: Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 177 p. M.S. thesis.

Wender, Bryan W.; Hood, Sharon M.; Smith, David W. [and others]. 1999. Response of vascular plant communities to harvest in Southern Appalachian mixed-oak forests: two-year results. In: Haywood, James D., ed. Proceedings of the tenth biennial southern silvicultural research conference. Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-30. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station: 34-38.

Worrall, F.; Swank, W.T.; Burt, T.P. 2 001. Deconstructing long-term streamwater nitrate records from a paired catchment study [Poster]. Detecting environmental change: Science and Society international conference.

Zawacki, William T.; Marsinko, Allan; Bowker, J.M. 2000. A travel cost analysis of nonconsumptive wildlife-associated recreation in the United States. Forest Science. 46(4): 496-506. ▲



U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

68

## Large-Scale Assessment and Modeling

Adams, Susan B.; Ross, Stephen T.; Warren, Melvin L., Jr. 2000. Literature review, information needs assessment, and research proposal for Gulf sturgeon, Alabama shad, and American eel: diadromous fishes of USDA-FS Region 8. Final report. 38 p. Available from U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Wildlife, Fisheries, Water, and Atmospheric Sciences Research, Washington, DC 20090.

Ahn, SoEun; de Steiguer, Joseph E.; Palmquist, Raymond B.; Holmes, Thomas P. 2000. Economic analysis of the potential impact of climate change on recreational trout fishing in the Southern Appalachian Mountains: an application of a nested multinomial logit model. Climate Change. 45: 493-509.

Arano, Kathryn G.; Cushing, Tamara L.; Munn, Ian A. 2001. Nonindustrial private forest landowners' management expenditures in Mississippi, 1995-1997. In: Pelkki; Matthew H., ed. Hardwoods—an underdeveloped resource? Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers. Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas, School of Forest Resources: 80-84.

Ayres, Matthew P.; Lombardero, Maria J. 2000. Assessing the consequences of global change for forest disturbance from herbivores and pathogens. Science of the Total Environment. 262: 263-286.

Ayres, Matthew P.; Wilkens, Richard T.; Ruel, Jonathan J. [and others]. 2000. Nitrogen budgets of phloem-feeding bark beetles with and without symbiotic fungi. Ecology. 81(8): 2198-2210.

**Bird, S.B.; Herrick, J.E.; Wander, M.M.; Wright, S.F.** 2000. Spatial heterogeneity of aggregate stability and soil carbon in semiarid rangeland. Environmental Pollution. 116: 75-85.

Boyle, Kevin J.; Holmes, Thomas P.; Teisl, Mario F.; Roe, Brian. 2001. A comparison of conjoint analysis response formats. American Journal of Agricultural Economics. 83(2): 441-454. **Bragg, Don C.** 2001. A local basal area adjustment for crown width prediction. Northern Journal of Applied Forestry. 18(1): 22-28.

**Bragg, Don C.** 2001. Potential relative increment (PRI): a new method to empirically derive optimal tree diameter growth. Ecological Modelling. 137: 77-92.

**Brown, S.** 2001. Measuring carbon in f orests: current status and future challenges. Environmental Pollution. 116: 11-20.

Buck, Louise E.; Geisler, Charles C.; Schelhas, John; Wollenberg, Eva (Lini), eds. 2001. Biological diversity: balancing interests through adaptive collaborative management. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. 455 p.

Burkett, Virginia; Ritschard, Ronald; McNulty, Steven [and others]. 2001. Potential consequences of climate variability and change for the Southeastern United States. In: National Assessment Synthesis Team, comps., eds. Climate change impacts on the United States: the potential consequences of climate variability and change. Report for the U.S. Global Change Research Program. New York: Cambridge University Press: 137-165. Chapter 5.

**Chojnacky, David C.; Heath, Linda S.** 2001. Down deadwood biomass of trees is correlated with standing mortality at a regional scale [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 70.

Clark, James S.; Carpenter, Steven R.; Barber, Mary [and others]. 2001. Ecological forecasts: an emerging imperative. Science. 293: 657-660.

Dale, Virginia H.; Joyce, Linda A.; McNulty, Steve; Neilson, Ronald P. 2000. The interplay between climate change, forests, and disturbances. Science of the Total Environment. 262: 201-204.

Deller, Steven C.; Tsai, Tsung-Hsiu; Marcouiller, David W.; English, Donald B K. 2001. The role of amenities and quality of life in rural economic growth. American Journal of Agricultural Economics. 83(2): 352-365.

**Dunning, John B., Jr.; Kilgo, John C.** 2000. Introduction to a case study: avian research at the Savannah River Site: a model for integrating basic research and long-term management. Studies in Avian Biology. 21:3-7.

Ellefson, Paul V.; Moulton, Robert J.; Kilgore, Michael A. 2001. Programs and organizations affecting the use, management, and protection of forests: an assessment of agencies located across the organizational landscape of state governments. Result of a cooperative agreement between the University of Minnesota and the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service. St. Paul, MN: University of Minnesota, Department of Forest Resources. 119 p.

**English, Donald B.K.** 2000. Calculating confidence intervals for regional economic impacts of recreation by bootstrapping visitor expenditures. Journal of Regional Science. 40(3): 523-539.

Euskirchen, Eugenie; Chen, Jiquan; Li, Harbin; Gustafson, Eric. 2001. Modeling net carbon across a hypothetical landscape under alternative harvesting strategies [Abstract]. In: Pattern, process, scale, and hierarchy: interactions in human-dominated and natural landscapes: 16th annual symposium of the International Association of Landscape Ecology-U.S. chapter. Tempe, AZ: International Association of Landscape Ecology: 116.

**Eve, M.D.; Sperow, M.; Paustian, K.; Follett, R.F.** 2001. National-scale estimation of changes in soil carbon stocks on agricultural lands. Environmental Pollution. 116: 61-68.

**Fina, Mark; Amacher, Gregory S.; Sullivan, Jay.** 2001. Uncertainty, debt, and forest harvesting: Faustmann revisited. Forest Science. 47(2): 188-196.

**Frank, A.B.** 2001. Carbon dioxide fluxes over a grazed prairie and seeded pasture in the northern Great Plains. Environmental Pollution. 116: 45-51.

Franzreb, Kathleen E.; Finch, Deborah M.; Wood, Petra Bohall; Capen, David E. 2000. Management strategies for the conservation of forest birds. In: Bonney, Rick; Pashley, David N.; Cooper, Robert J.; Niles, Larry, eds. Strategies for bird conservation: the partners in flight planning process: Proceedings of the 3rd Partners in Flight workshop. RMRS-P-16. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station: 91-96.

Gavazzi, Michael J.; McNulty, Steven G.; Bartlett, John G.; Boggs, Johnny L. 2001. The relationship between mean annual growth and climate in the context of ecosystem modeling validation [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America [Not paged]. Haney, Harry L. Jr.; Hoover, William L.; Siegel, William C.; Greene, John L. 2001. Forest landowners' guide to the Federal income tax. Agric. Handb. 718. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service. 157 p.

Haney, Harry L., Jr. 2000. Environmental issues related to urban sprawl: the proliferation of local ordinances regulating forestry activities and the growing use of conservation easements. In: American Bar Association's 8th section fall meeting. Chicago: American Bar Association: 447-452.

Hardie, Ian; Parks, Peter; Gottleib, Peter; Wear, David. 2000. Responsiveness of rural and urban land uses to land rent determinants in the U.S. South. Land Economics. 76(4): 659-673.

Heath, L.S.; Birdsey, R. A.; Williams, D.W. 2001. Methodology for estimating soil carbon for the carbon budget model of the United States. Environmental Pollution. 116: 21-29.

Holmes, Thomas P.; Boltz, Frederick; Carter, Douglas R. 2001. Financial indicators of reduced impact logging performance in Brazil: case study comparisons. In: Proceedings of the international conference on the application of reduced impact logging to advance sustainable forest management: constraints, challenges and opportunities. Kuching, Malaysia: The Asia-Pacific Forestry Commission: 153-162.

Johnsen, Kurt H.; Butnor, J.R.; Maier, C. 2000. Building a broad network of intensive soil  $CO_2$  efflux data, using a standard protocol, through collaborative research [Abstract]. In: McNulty, Steve, ed. Advances in terrestrial ecosystem carbon inventory, measurements, and monitoring: Proceedings of a meeting. Administrative report. On file with: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Southern Global Change Program, 920 Main Campus Drive, Venture Center II, Suite 300, Raleigh, NC 27606.

Joyce, Linda; Aber, John; McNulty, Steve [and others]. 2001. Potential consequences of climate variability and change for the forests of the United States. In: National Assessment Synthesis Team, comps., eds. Climate change impacts on the United States: the potential consequences of climate variability and change. Report for the U.S. Global Change Research Program. New York: Cambridge University Press: 489-523. Chapter 17.

Kilgo, John C.; Franzreb, Kathleen E.; Gauthreaux, Sidney A. [and others]. 2000. Effects of long-term forest management on a regional avifauna. Studies in Avian Biology. 21: 81-86.





Lawler, Joshua J.; O'Conner, Raymond J.; Bartlett, John. G. 2001. Quantifying the human dimensions of the environment [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 307.

Li, Harbin. 2001. Review of book: Spatial pattern analysis in plant ecology, by Dale, Mark (Cambridge University Press, New York, 326 p.). Forest Science. 47(1): 119.

Li, Harbin; Gartner, David I.; Mou, Pu; Trettin, Carl C. 2000. A landscape model (LEEMATH) to evaluate effects of management impacts on timber and wildlife habitat. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture. 27: 263-292.

Li, Harbin; Wang, Zhengquan; Trettin, Carl C. 2001. Scaling up carbon estimates in peat soils: sources and consequences of uncertainty [Abstract]. In: Pattern, process, scale, and hierarchy: interactions in human-dominated and natural landscapes: 16th annual symposium of the International Association of Landscape Ecology-U.S. chapter. Tempe, AZ: International Association of Landscape Ecology: 160.

Li, Harbin; Wu, Jianguo. 2001. Landscape analysis with pattern indices: problems and solutions [Abstract]. In: Pattern, process, scale, & hierarchy: interactions in human-dominated and natural landscapes: 16th annual symposium of International Association of Landscape Ecology-U.S. chapter. Tempe, AZ: International Association of Landscape Ecology: 160.

Luxmoore, Robert J.; Hargrove, William W.; Tharp, M. Lynn [and others]. 2000. Signal-transfer modeling for regional assessment of forest responses to environmental changes in the Southeastern United States. Environmental Modeling and Assessment. 5(2000): 125-137.

**McNulty, Steve.** 2000. Forest sector. In: National Assessment Synthesis Team, comps., eds. Climate change impacts on the United States: the potential consequences of climate variability and change. Report for the U.S. Global Change Research Program. New York: Cambridge University Press: 114-119.

**McNulty, Steve.** 2000. Southeast. In: National Assessment Synthesis Team, comps., eds. Climate change impacts on the United States: the potential consequences of climate variability and change. Report for the U.S. Global Change Research Program. New York: Cambridge University Press: 46-51. McNulty, Steven G.; Boggs, Johnny L.; Aber, John D. 2001. Ecosystem changes in a red spruce forest following 12 years of chronic, low dose, nitrogen addition [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 155.

Mickler, Robert A; Earnhardt, Todd S.; Moore, Jennifer A. 2001. Assessing global change impacts on forest carbon sequestration [Abstract]. In: Abstracts: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 158.

Moffat, Steverson O.; Cubbage,

**Frederick W.** 2001. Northwest forest practices regulation and forest management certification. Northwest Woodlands. 17(2): 28-31.

Moffat, Steverson O.; Cubbage, Frederick W. 2001. Regional forestry practices and forest management certification. In: Pelkki, Matthew H., ed. Hardwoods—an underdeveloped resource? Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers. Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas at Monticello, School of Forest Resources: 47-52.

Moulton, Robert J.; Esseks, J. Dixon. 2001. Highlights of the national evaluation of the forest stewardship planning program. In: Pelkki, Matthew H., ed. Hardwoods an underdeveloped resource? Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers. Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas at Monticello, School of Forest Resources: 33-38.

Murray, Brian C.; Abt, Robert C.; Wear, David N. [and others]. 2001. Land allocation in the Southeastern U.S. in response to climate change impacts on forestry and agriculture. World Resource Review. 13(2): 239-251.

Nagubadi, Venkatarao; Munn, Ian A.; Tahai, Alireza. 2001. Integration of hardwood stumpage markets in the Southcentral United States. Journal of Forest Economics. 7(1): 69-98.

Nicholson, Charles F.; Blake, Robert W.; Reid, Robin S.; Schelhas, John. 2001. Environmental impacts of livestock in the developing world. Environment. 43(2): 7-17.

Nowak, D.J.; Crane, D.E. 2001. Carbon storage and sequestration by urban trees in the USA. Environmental Pollution. 116: 31-37.

**Oren, Ram; Ellsworth, David S.; Johnsen, Kurt H. [and others].** 2001. Soil fertility limits carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems in a CO<sub>2</sub>-enriched atmosphere. Nature. 411: 469-472.

**Park, Timothy; Bowker, J. M.; Leeworthy, Vernon R.** 2000. Linking stated and revealed preference models for nonmarket values: snorkeling visits to the Florida Keys. UGA Faculty Series 00-09. Athens, GA: University of Georgia, Dept. of Agricultural and Applied Economics. 27 p.

Peterson, D.L.; Schmoldt, D.L. 2000. Research and management issues in large-scale fire modeling. In: Salminen, H.; Saarikko, J.; Virtanen, E., eds. Proceedings, resource technology '98 Nordic, international symposium on advanced technology in environmental and natural resources. Rovaniemi, Finland: The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Rovaniemi Research Station. 10 p.

**Prestemon, Jeffrey P.** 2000. Public open access and private timber harvests: theory and application to the effects of trade liberalization in Mexico. Environmental and Resource Economics. 17(4): 311-334.

Prestemon, Jeffrey P.; Mercer, D. Evan; Pye, John M. [and others]. 2001. Economically optimal wildfire intervention regimes. Study Plan #4851-5-9. Paper presented at the American Agricultural Economics Association annual meeting. 18 p.

**Prestemon, Jeffrey P.; Pye, John M.** 2000. A technique for merging areas in Timber Mart-South data. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 24(4): 219-229.

Prestemon, Jeffrey P.; Pye, John M.; Holmes, Thomas P. 2001. Timber economics of natural catastrophes. In: Pelkki, Matthew H., ed. Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers: Hardwoods—an underdeveloped resource? Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas, School of Forest Resources: 132-141.

Raunikar, Ronald; Buongiorno, Joseph. 2001. Valuation of forest amenities: a macro approach. In: Pelkki, Matthew H., ed. Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers: Hardwoods—an underdeveloped resource? Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas, School of Forest Resources: 118-123.

**Reeder, J. D.; Schuman, G. E.** 2001. Influence of livestock grazing on C sequestration in semi-arid mixed-grass and short-grass rangelands. Environmental Pollution. 116: 87-93. Rickman, R.; Douglas, C.; Albrecht, S.; Berc, J. 2001. Tillage, crop rotation, and organic amendment effect on changes in soil organic matter. Environmental Pollution. 116: 53-59.

**Rogers, William Rhett.** 2001. Determining annual forest management activities and expenditures: a survey of TIMOs and industrial landowners in Mississippi during 1998-1999. Starkville, MS: Mississippi State University. 83 p. M.S. thesis.

Schelhas, John. 2000. Review of book: Towards sustainable communities: transition and transformations in environmental policy. Mazmanian, Daniel A.; Kraft, Michael E., eds. (MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 323 p.) Journal of Political Ecology. 7. 3 p. Also available at: http://www.library.arizona.edu/ej/jpe/ volume\_7/Mazmanian1200.html.

Schelhas, John. 2000. Sustainability and forest fragmentation in the U.S. South: minority and limited resource landowners. In: DeCoster, Lester A., ed. Proceedings, forest fragmentation 2000: sustaining private forests in the 21st century. Alexandria, VA: The Sampson Group, Inc.: 154-159.

Schelhas, John. 2001. Ecoregional management in southern Costa Rica: finding a role for adaptive collaborative management. In: Buck, Louise E.; Geisler, Charles C.; Schelhas, John; Wollenberg, Eva, eds. Biological diversity: balancing interests through adaptive collaborative management. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press: 245-259. Chapter 13.

Schelhas, John; Buck, Louise E.; Geisler, Charles C. 2001. Introduction: the challenge of adaptive collaborative management. In: Buck, Louise E.; Geisler, Charles C.; Schelhas, John; Wollenberg, Eva (Lini), eds. Biological diversity: balancing interests through adaptive collaborative management. Baca Raton, FL: CRC Press: xix-xxxv.

Schelhas, John; Zabawa, Robert. 2001. Minority and limited resource landowners and forests in the South: developing a research agenda. In: Sustaining southern forests: the science of forest assessment; a conference sponsored by the Southern Forest Resource Assessment. http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/sustain/conf/ppr/ schelhas.htm. 8 p.

Schuman, G.E.; Janzen, H.H.; Herrick, J.E. 2001. Soil carbon dynamics and potential sequestration by rangelands. Environmental Pollution. 116: 39-44.

**Siegel, William C.** 2001. How to establish, maintain and use timber depletion accounts. National Woodlands. 24(2): 21-24.





72

#### Snider, Anthony; Cubbage, Frederick; Moulton, Robert. 2001. Potential effects of wood chip mill harvests on economic returns and forest management practices of nonindustrial private forest landowners in North Carolina. In: Pelkki, Matthew H., ed. Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers: Hardwoods—an underdeveloped resource? Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas, School of Forest Resources: 73-78.

Spink, Jonathan J.; Haney, H.L., Jr.; Greene, John L. 2001. Survey of local forestryrelated ordinances and regulations in the South. In: Pelkki, Matthew H., ed. Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers: Hardwoods—an underdeveloped resource? Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas, School of Forest Resources: 41-46.

**Steelman, Toddi A.** 2001. Elite and participatory policymaking: finding balance in a case of national forest planning. Policy Studies Journal. 29(1): 71-89.

Tufts, Robert A.; Greene, John; Zabawa, Robert. 2000. Using business entities to minimize fragmentation. In: Decoster, Lester A., ed. Proceedings, forest fragmentation 2000: sustaining private forests in the 21st century. Alexandria, VA: The Sampson Group, Inc.: 354-358.

Warren, Melvin L., Jr.; Burr, Brooks M.; Walsh, Stephen J. [and others]. 2000. Diversity, distribution, and conservation status of the native freshwater fishes of the southern United States. Fisheries. 25(10): 7-29.

West, T. O.; Marland, G. 2001. Net carbon flux from agricultural ecosystems: methodology for full carbon cycle analyses. Environmental Pollution. 116: 69-74.

Yin, Runsheng; Izlar, Bob. 2001. Supply contract and portfolio insurance: applying financial engineering to institutional timberland investment. Journal of Forestry. 99(5): 39-44. ▲



Clark, N.; Schmoldt, D.L.; Wynne, R.H. [and others]. 2000. Ground-based digital imagery for tree stem analysis. In: Salminen, H.; Saarikko, J.; Virtanen, E., eds. Proceedings, resource technology '98 Nordic, international symposium on advanced technology in environmental and natural resources. Rovaniemi, Finland: The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Rovaniemi Research Station. 9 p.

**Clark, Neil A.** 2000. Initial results from a video-laser rangefinder device. In: Proceedings of SOFORGIS 2000, 3rd Southern Forestry GIS Conference. Athens, GA: University of Georgia, [Extension office]. 6 p.

Clark, Neil A.; Wynne, Randolph H.; Schmoldt, Daniel L. 2000. A review of past research on dendrometers. Forest Science. 46(4): 570-576.

Clark, Neil; Schmoldt, Daniel; Araman, Philip. 2000. Development of a digital camera tree evaluation system. In: Proceedings of the Society of American Foresters 1999 national convention. SAF 00-1. Bethesda, MD: Society of American Foresters: 495-497.

Cohen, Susan A.; Braham, Richard R.; Sanchez, Felipe. 2001. Seedbank viability in disturbed longleaf pine sites [Oral presentation] [Abstract]. In: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting abstracts: keeping all the parts: preserving, restoring, and sustaining complex ecosystems. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 72.

Cohen, Susan; Braham, Richard; Sanchez, Felipe 2000. Seedbank viability in disturbed longleaf pine sites [Abstract]. Program, 61st annual meeting of the Association of Southeastern Biologists. JASB Bulletin 47-(2): 122-123.

Cohen, Susan; Kush, John S.; Ludovici, Kim. 2001. Longleaf pine dynamics on a flatwoods site: a study on the Croatan National Forest. In: Kush, John S., comp. Forest for our future restoration and management of longleaf pine ecosystems: silvicultural, ecological, social, political and economic challenges: Proceedings of the third Longleaf Alliance regional conference. Auburn, AL: The Longleaf Alliance; 5: 107-109. **Conner, Roger C.; Sheffield, Raymond M.** 2001. Forest statistics for the southern coastal plain of North Carolina, 1999. Resour. Bull. SRS-59. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 61 p.

**Cooke, William H.** 2001. Development of a methodology for predicting forest area for largearea resource monitoring. Res. Pap. SRS-24. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 11 p.

**Cooke, William H. III; Hartsell, Andrew J.** 2001. Wall-to-wall Landsat TM classifications for Georgia in support of SAFIS using FIA field plots for training and verification. In: Greer, Jerry Dean, ed. Remote sensing and geospacial technologies for the new millennium: Proceedings of the eighth Forest Service remote sensing applications conference. Salt Lake City: American Society for Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing. 9 p. [CD-ROM].

Hartsell, Andrew J.; Vissage, John S. 2001. Forest statistics for west-central Alabama, 1999. Resour. Bull. SRS-60. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 52 p.

Jacobs, Dennis M. 2000. February 1994 ice storm: forest resource damage assessment in northern Mississippi. Resour. Bull. SRS-54. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 11 p.

Jacobs, Dennis M.; Cooke, William H. III. 2000. Generating continuous surface probability maps from airborne video using two sampling intensities along the video transect. Res. Pap. SRS-22. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 5 p.

Johnson, Tony G.; Steppleton, Carolyn D. 2001. Southern pulpwood production, 1999. Resour. Bull. SRS-57. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, S outhern Research Station. 34 p.

Kilgo, John C. 2000. Review of book: Hope is the thing with feathers, by Cokinos, Christopher (Jeremy P. Tarcher/Putnam, New York, 360 p.). The Wilson Bulletin. 112: 570-571.

Kush, John S.; Cohen, Susan; Ludovici, Kim. 2001. Longleaf pine gap dynamics on a North Carolina flatwoods site [Poster abstract]. In: The Ecological Society of America 86th annual meeting abstracts: Keeping all the parts: Preserving, restoring, and sustaining complex ecosystems. Washington, DC: Ecological Society of America: 305.

# 2001

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

### Inventory and Monitoring



Lannom, Keith B.; Evans, David L.; Cooke, William H. III. 2001. Forest mapping of Central America and Mexico with AVHRR data. Geocarto International. 16(1): 45-53.

McCombs, John W.; Eggleston, Neil T.; Evans, David. L. [and others]. 2001. Forest measurement applications of multi-return LIDAR: a cooperative research project between the Southern Research Station and Mississippi State University. In: Greer, Jerry Dean, ed. Remote sensing and geospacial technologies for the new millennium: Proceedings of the eighth Forest Service remote sensing applications conference. Salt Lake City: American Society for Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing. 9 p. [CD-ROM].

Miller, James H. 2001. Exotic pest plants of southeastern forests: a field guide for USDA Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Forest Inventory and Analysis. [Illustrated]. Auburn, AL: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 64 p.

Moffat, Steverson O.; Cubbage, Frederick W. 2001. Regional forestry practices and forest management certification. In: Pelkki, Matthew H., ed. Proceedings of the annual meeting of the Southern Forest Economics Workers: Hardwoods an underdeveloped resource? Monticello, AR: University of Arkansas, School of Forest Resources: 47-52.

**Pendleton, Linwood H.; Shonkwiler, J. Scott.** 2001. Valuing bundled attributes: a latent characteristics approach. Land Economics. 77(1): 118-129.

**Rosson, James F., Jr.** 2000. Forest resources of east Texas, 1992. Resour. Bull. SRS-53. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 70 p. **Rosson, James F., Jr.** 2001. Forest resources of Mississippi, 1994. Resour. Bull. SRS-61. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 78 p.

**Rosson, James F., Jr.** 2001. Forest resources of east Oklahoma, 1993. Resour. Bull. SRS-58. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 75 p.

Rosson, James F., Jr.; Amundsen, Clifford C. 2001. Measurement and analytical issues when monitoring tree species diversity over large spatial and temporal scales [Abstract]. In: Third North American forest ecology workshop program: issues of scale—from theory to practice. [Place of publication unknown]: [Publisher unknown]: 93.

**Rudis, Victor A.** 2000. Designing multipurpose resource inventories; an international short course. Sponsored by CATIE and International Union of Forest Research Organizations 4.02. 6 p. <u>http://www2.msstate.edu/~vrudis/multi.htm</u>.

Smith, W. Brad; Sheffield, Raymond M. 2000. A brief overview of the forest resources of the United States, 1997. 26 p. <u>http://www.fia.fs.fed.us/</u> <u>library 1997\_RPA\_Overview\_final.rtf</u>.

Vissage, John S. 2000. Forest statistics for southwest-north Alabama, 1999. Resour. Bull. SRS-56. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 50 p.

Vissage, John S. 2000. Forest statistics for southwest-south Alabama, 1999. Resour. Bull. SRS-55. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. 50 p. ▲



**Darke, Arlene K.; Walbridge, Mark R.** 2000. Al and Fe biogeochemistry in a floodplain forest: implications for P retention. Biogeochemistry. 51: 1-32.

**Greene, John L.** 2001. Deductions for timber damaged or destroyed by a natural event. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Region, Cooperative Forestry. Additional information at: <u>http://www.r8web.com/spf/</u> <u>coop/taxation</u>. [Not paged].

Greene, John; Cushing, Tamara; Bullard, Steve; Beauvais, Ted. 2000. Effect of the Federal estate tax on nonindustrial private forest holdings in the U.S. [Abstract]. In: DeCoster, Lester A., ed. Proceedings, forest fragmentation 2000: sustaining private forests in the 21st century. Alexandria, VA: The Sampson Group, Inc.: 142-144.

Gunter, John E.; Idassi, Joshua O.; Pepper, Phillip; Granskog, James E. 2000. Loans for reforestation from the State of Mississippi? Tree Talk. 23(4): 10-12, 37.

**Gwaze, D.P.; Bridgwater, F.E.; Lowe, W.J.** 2000. Performance of interspecific F1 eucalypt hybrids in Zimbabwe. Forest Genetics. 7(4): 295-303.

Heitholt, J.J.; Schmidt, J.H.; Mulrooney, J.E. 2001. Effect of foliar-applied salicylic acid on cotton flowering, boll retention, and yield. Journal of the Mississippi Academy of Sciences. 46(2): 105-109.

**Kard, Brad.** 2000. Termiticide field test report: new termiticides and emerging technologies. In: Deal yourself a winning hand: pest management 2000: convention program and workbook. Dunn Loring, VA: National Pest Management Association: 246-249.

Kard, Brad. 2001. 2001 termiticide report: Gulfport studies stay the course. Pest Control. January: 30-33, 73.

Kard, Brad. 2001. Mesh could enhance your program. Pest Control. January: 32.

Kard, Bradford M. 2000. Carpenter bees. In: Gold, Roger E.; Jones, Susan C., ed. Handbook of household and structural insect pests. Lanham, MD: Entomological Society of America: 110-112.

**Kard, Bradford M.** 2001. Detrimental effects of boric-acid-treated soil against foraging subterranean termites (Isoptera: Rhinotermitidae). Sociobiology. 37(2): 363-378.

Kloeppel, B.D.; Gower, S.T.; Vogel, J.G.; Reich, P.B. 2000. Leaf-level resource use for evergreen and deciduous conifers along a resource availability gradient. Functional Ecology. 14: 281-292.

Langholz, Jeff; Lassoie, James; Schelhas, John. 2000. Incentives for biological conservation: Costa Rica's private wildlife refuge program. The Journal of the Society for Conservation Biology. 14(6): 1735-1743.

Lemly, A. Dennis. 2001. A procedure for developing ecosystem loading limits (TMDLs) for selenium in watersheds affected by gold mining in northern Argentina. Technical assistance report to the Argentina Federal Secretary of Natural Resources, Buenos Aires, Argentina. 17 p. Available from: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, 1650 Ramble Road, Blacksburg, VA 24060.

Lemly, A. Dennis. 2001. A procedure for setting environmentally safe TMDLs for selenium in San Diego Creek and Newport Bay, California. Technical assistance report to the California State Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana Region, Riverside, CA. 16 p. Available from: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, 1650 Ramble Road, Blacksburg, VA 24060.

Lemly, A. Dennis. 2001. A technical framework for implementing aquatic ecosystem loading limits (TMDLs) to reduce selenium pollution from phosphate mining wastes on Caribou National Forest, Idaho. Technical assistance report to the U.S. Department of Justice, Environment and Natural Resources Division, Environmental Enforcement Section, Washington, DC. 18 p. Available from: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, 1650 Ramble Road, Blacksburg, VA 24060.

Lemly, A. Dennis. 2001. Recommendations for a procedure to set watershed TMDLs for selenium. Technical assistance report to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Health and Ecological Criteria Division,Washington, DC. 16 p. Available from: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, 1650 Ramble Road, Blacksburg, VA 24060. U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

### Foundation Programs



Lewis, David P.; Cibula, William G. 2000. Studies on Gulf Coast agarics (Basidiomycota: Agaricaceae); notes on some interesting and rare species. Supplement to Texas Journal of Science. 52 (4): 65-78.

Menzel, Michael A.; Menzel, Jennifer M.; Ford, W. Mark [and others]. 2001. Home range and habitat use of male Rafinesque's bigeared bats (*Corynorhinus rafinesquii*). American Midland Naturalist. 145: 402-408.

**Mulrooney, J.E.; Elmore, C.D.** 2000. Rainfastening of bifenthrin to cotton leaves with selected adjuvants. Journal of Environmental Quality. 29(6): 1863-1866.

Schelhas, John. 2000. Catalyzing sustainability: Cornell University's field practicum in conservation and sustainable development. In: Filho, Walter Leal, ed. Communicating sustainability: environmental education, communication and sustainability, Vol. 8. Frankfurt am Main, Germany: Peter Lang: 155-171. Chapter 10. **Siegel, William C.** 2000. Answers to common timber land taxation questions. National Woodlands. 23(4): 21-23.

**Siegel, William C.** 2000. Capital cost considerations for woodland owners. National Woodlands. 24(1): 21-23.

**Siegel, William C.** 2001. Special involuntary conversion situations involving timberland. National Woodlands. 24(3): 21-24.

Wagner, Terence L. 2001. USDA termiticide tests [Abstract]. In: Program and abstracts: 2nd international symposium on *Coptotermes formosanus*. [Place of publication unknown]: [Publisher unknown]: 22.

Wagner, Terence. 2001. U.S. Forest Service termiticide research. In: Workbook: National Pest Management Association second annual southwestern conference. Dunn Loring, VA: NPMA: [Not paged]. ▲



Fox squirrel

## Appendix– Budget and Work Units



# 2001

FY01 Allocations to Resource Categories ..... 78

FY01 Allocations to Research Work Units .... 79

Collaborative Research . 80

External Funding ......81

Research Work Unit Directory ......82

Experimental Forests .... 84

Administration ......86

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

## FY01 Allocations to Resource Categories

Fundamental Plant Science. \$3,655	5,000
Silvicultural Applications	1,000
Quantitative Analysis	),000
Forest and Rangeland Management	),000
Forest Operations Engineering	7,000
Insects/Diseases/Exotic Weeds	2,000
Fire Science. 1,199	9,000
Terrestrial Wildlife	l <b>,000</b>
Aquatic Habitat	5,000
Watershed. 2,551	l <b>,000</b>
Atmospheric Sciences. 1,376	5,000
Economics	),000
Wilderness. 102	2,000
Social/Cultural	5,000
Forest Products, Utilization, and Processing	),000
Forest Inventory and Analysis	5,000
Forest Health Monitoring.	0
Monitoring Methods/Applications	5,000
Total	3,000

## FY01 Allocations to Research Work Units

4101	Southern Appalachian Forests. \$1,271,000 Asheville, North Carolina
4103	Center for Forested Wetlands
4104	Disturbance of Southern Pine Ecosystems
4105	Vegetation Management and Longleaf Pine 1,169,000 Auburn, Alabama
4106	Upland Forest Ecosystems. 1,768,000 Monticello, Arkansas
4111	<b>Even-aged Management of Southern Pines.</b> 1,573,000 <i>Pineville, Louisiana</i>
4153	Southern Institute of Forest Genetics
4154	<b>Biological Foundations of Sustainability.</b> 2,635,000 <i>Research Triangle Park, North Carolina</i>
4155	Center for Bottomland Hardwoods
4201	Endangered (TES) Species
4202	Coldwater Streams and Trout Habitat
4251	Wildlife Habitat and Timber Resource Integration 1,125,000 Nacogdoches, Texas
4351	Watershed Responses to Disturbance. 1,286,000 Franklin, North Carolina
4501	Bark Beetles and Invasive Insects. 1,004,000 Pineville, Louisiana
4502	Wood Products Insect Research. 1,035,000 Starkville, Mississippi
4505	Insects and Diseases. 1,844,000 Athens, Georgia
4701	Southern Forest Resource Utilization. 1,226,000 Pineville, Louisiana
4702	Tree Quality, Processing, and Recycling
4703	Biological/Engineering Technologies
4801	Forest Inventory and Analysis.11,016,000Asheville, North Carolina, and Starkville, Mississippi
4802	Legal, Tax, and Economic Influences
4803	Forest Health Monitoring.334,000Research Triangle Park, North Carolina
4851	Economics of Forest Resources
4852	Southern Global Change Program. 1,376,000 Raleigh, North Carolina
4901	Recreation, Urban Forests, and Human Dimensions 681,000 Athens, Georgia
	Total

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

# Collaborative Research

Collaborative research and development with universities, private corporations, nongovernmental organizations, and other Federal and State agencies is a cornerstone of the SRS program. These activities involve the funding of extramural studies under cooperative agreements, grants, and interagency agreements. Working with partners is an effective way to leverage our funding to conduct research efforts that benefit a wide range of research results users.

#### A total of \$12,653,585 supported research studies under these agreements in FY01 with the following:

#### **Domestic Non-Federal Agreements**

Alabama A&M University Alabama Forestry Commission American Phytopathological Society Arkansas Forestry Commission Arkansas State University Arkansas Technical University University of Arkansas Auburn University University of Charleston, South Carolina Clemson University Colorado State University Duke University Eastern Sierra Institute for Collaborative Education Florida A&M University Florida Department of Agriculture and **Consumer Services** University of Florida Forest Resources Systems Institute Furman University Georgia Forestry Commission George Mason University University of Georgia University of Georgia Research Foundation, Inc. Gordon Research Conference University of Idaho Kentucky Division of Forestry University of Kentucky Louisiana Department of Agriculture Louisiana State University Louisiana Tech University University of Maine Michigan Technological University

University of Minnesota Mississippi State University University of Missouri University of Montana University of Nevada University of New Hampshire State University of New York North Carolina Department of Environment, Health, and Natural Resources North Carolina State University University of North Carolina at Asheville Oklahoma State University Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission Society of Wetland Scientists, Inc. South Carolina Forestry Commission Southern Illinois University Stephen F. Austin State University Tall Timbers Research Station Tennessee Department of Agriculture University of Tennessee **Texas Forest Service Tuskegee University** Virginia Department of Forestry Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University West Virginia University Research Corporation University of Wisconsin

#### International

Chinese Academy of Sciences Danish Forest and Landscape Research Institute Thomas Schmidt, Institute for Crop Science and Plant Breeding

#### **Interagency Agreements**

USDA Agricultural Research Service USDI Geological Survey, Biological Resources Division



Many research work units have agreements to receive external funding from other sources. The FY01 total for these dollars was \$823,625 from non-Federal sources. The SRS received \$1,880,253 from other Federal sources to support research and development projects designed to meet the missions of the agencies involved.

#### This external funding came from the following:

#### **Non-Federal Cooperators**

America's Byways Resource Center American Forest and Paper Association Arkansas Game and Fish Commission Auburn University Aventis Environmental Science **Batelle Memorial Institute** Dartmouth College Duke University Franklynn Industries University of Georgia Research Foundation, Inc. Hardwood Forestry Fund HPC Enterprises, Inc. J.M. Huber Corporation Indian Council for Forest Research and Investigations **International Paper** J.J. Mauget Joseph W. Jones Ecological Center McLaughlin Gormley King Co. Mississippi Commission on Wildlife, Fisheries, and Parks National Council of the Paper Industry for Air & Stream Improvement (NCASI) Rayonier, Inc. **Resource Management Service** Roy O. Martin Lumber Co. Ruffed Grouse Society Temple-Inland Forest Products Texas Parks and Wildlife Valent USA Wes Min RC and DC Westvaco Weyerhaeuser Willamette Industries, Inc.

#### Federal Cooperators

Environmental Protection Agency Department of Agriculture, Agricultural **Research Service** Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service/International Cooperation and Development (FAS/ICD) Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) Department of Agriculture, Cooperative State Research, Education, and Extension Service (CSREES) Department of Agriculture, Economic **Research Service** Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources **Conservation Service** Department of the Army Department of Defense Department of Energy Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service Department of the Interior, Geological Survey Department of the Interior, National Park Service Department of the Navy, Office of Naval Research National Aeronautics and Space Administration National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

## Research Work Unit Directory

#### SRS-4105, Vegetation Management and Longleaf Pine; and SRS-4703, Forest Operations Research, are located at:

G.W. Andrews Forestry Sciences Laboratory 520 Devall Drive Auburn, AL 36849 334-826-8700 Web site for SRS-4105: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/4105/index.html Web site for SRS-4703: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/forestops/

### SRS-4106, Upland Forest Ecosystems, is located at:

Forest Resources Building, Room 114 University of Arkansas at Monticello P.O. Box 3516, UAM Station Monticello, AR 71656-3516 870-367-3464 Web site for SRS-4106: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/4106/

#### SRS-4104, Disturbance of Southern Pine Ecosystems; SRS-4505, Insects and Diseases; and SRS-4901, Recreation, Urban Forests, and Human Dimensions, are located at:

Forestry Sciences Laboratory 320 Green Street Athens, GA 30602-2044 706-559-4222 Web site for SRS-4505: http://www.srs.fs.fed.su/4505/ Web site for SRS-4901: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/trends/

#### SRS-4802, Legal, Tax, and Economic Influences, is located at:

T-10034, U.S. Postal Service Building 701 Loyola Avenue New Orleans, LA 70113 504-589-6652 Web site for SRS-4802: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/4802/

#### SRS-4111, Even-aged Southern Pine Forests, SRS-4501; Bark Beetles and Invasive Insects; and SRS-4701, Southern Forest Resource Utilization, are located at:

Alexandria Forestry Center 2500 Shreveport Highway Pineville, LA 71360 318-473-7216 Web site for SRS-4111: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/4111/ Web site for SRS-4501: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/4501/ Web site for SRS-4701: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/4701/

### SRS-4153, Southern Institute of Forest Genetics, is located at:

Harrison Experimental Forest 23332 Highway 67 Saucier, MS 39574-9344 228-832-2747

#### SRS-4502, Wood Products Insect Research, is located at:

101A G.T. Thames Drive Starkville, MS 39759 662-338-3100 Web site for SRS-4502: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/termites/

#### SRS-4155, Center for Bottomland Hardwoods, is located at:

Southern Hardwoods Laboratory P.O. Box 227 Stoneville, MS 38776-0227 601-686-3154 SRS-4155 Web site: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/cbhr

## SRS-4101, Southern Appalachian Forests, is located at:

Bent Creek Experimental Forest 1577 Brevard Road Asheville, NC 28806 828-667-5261 SRS-4101 Web site: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/bentcreek/

### Research Work Unit Directory

### SRS-4351, Watershed Responses to Disturbance, is located at:

Coweeta Hydrologic Laboratory 3160 Coweeta Lab Road, Otto, NC 28763 828-524-2128

#### SRS-4852, Southern Global Change Program, is located at:

920 Main Campus Drive Venture Center 11, Suite 300 Raleigh, NC 27606 919-515-9489 SRS-4852 Web site: http://www.sgcp.ncsu.edu/

#### SRS-4154 Biological Foundations of Sustainability; SRS-4803, Forest Health Monitoring; and SRS-4851, Economics of Forest Resources, are located at:

Forestry Sciences Laboratory 3041 E. Cornwallis Road P.O. Box 12254 Research Triangle Park, NC 27709 919-549-4000 SRS-4154 Web site: http://www.rtp.srs.fs.fed.us/soils/soilhome.htm SRS-4803 Web site: http://willow.ncfes.umn.edu/fhm/fhm\_hp.htm SRS-4851 Web site: http://www.rtp.srs.fs.fed.us/econ/

### SRS-4103, Center for Forested Wetlands, is located at:

Center for Forested Wetlands Research 2730 Savannah Highway Charleston, SC 29414 843-727-4271 SRS-4103 Web site: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/charleston/

#### SRS-4201, Threatened and Endangered Species, is located at:

Department of Forest Resources Clemson University Clemson, SC 29634-1003 864-656-3284 SRS-4201 Web site: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/4201/

### SRS-4801, Forest Inventory and Analysis, is located at:

Southern Research Station 4700 Old Kingston Pike Knoxville, TN 37919 865-862-2027 SRS-4801 Web site: http://www.srsfia.usfs.msstate.edu

#### SRS-4251, Wildlife Habitat and Timber Resources Integration, is located at:

Wildlife Habitat and Silviculture Laboratory Box 7600, SFA Station 506 Hayter Street Nacogdoches, TX 75962 936-569-7981 SRS-4251 Web site: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us/wildlife/index.html

#### SRS-4202, Coldwater Streams and Trout Habitat; and SRS-4702, Tree Quality, Processing and Recycling, are located at:

Southern Research Station 1650 Ramble Road Blacksburg, VA 24060 540-231-4016 SRS-4202 Web site: http://www.trout.forprod.vt.edu/ SRS-4702 Web site: http://www.srs4702.forprod.vt.edu/



Examining specimens

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

## **Experimental Forests**

located on or near National Forest System lands. Scientists in RWUs use these as sites for their studies and demonstration projects in conjunction with the managing national forest unit. Experimental forests are designated to represent a specific ecosystem or forest type, and to present opportunities for the study of different approaches to sustaining forested ecosystems. Several of the experimental forests in the South were selected for their potential to demonstrate rehabilitation of deteriorated farm forests and soil resources that occurred during early European settlement and plantation farming of the region.

The SRS maintains 19 experimental forests

Among the experiments conducted on these forests are studies on stand management and regeneration; restoration of wildlife and plant populations; watershed management; and the effects of pollution, climate change, and timber harvest. Many experimental forests also provide educational and nonmotorized recreation activities, including interpretation to enhance public understanding of forest management principles. Research on experimental forests plays a vital role in the conservation of America's natural resources.



### Experimental Forests

State	Experimental Forest	National Forest	Acres	Date Established
Alabama	Escambia	(private)	2,990	06/14/61
Arkansas	Alum Creek	Ouachita	4,281	04/02/59
	Crossett	Ouachita	1,675	08/27/40
	Henry R. Koen	Ozark	720	09/17/51
	Sylamore	Ozark	4,180	03/28/34
Florida	Chipola	(private)	2,760	06/21/61
	Olustee	Osceola	3,135	03/28/34
Georgia	Hitchiti	Oconee	4,602	12/04/61
	Scull Shoals	Oconee	4,487	09/17/38
Louisiana	Palustris	Kisatchie	7,515	07/19/35
Mississippi	Delta	(private)	2,580	06/14/61
	Harrison	DeSoto	4,111	07/19/34
	Tallahatchie	Holly Springs	4,569	04/12/50
North Carolina	Bent Creek	Pisgah	5,242	06/25/27
	Blue Valley	Nantahala	1,400	06/23/64
	Coweeta	Nantahala	5,482	03/28/34
South Carolina	John C. Calhoun	Sumter	5,082	10/08/47
	Santee	Francis-Marion	6,000	07/06/37
Texas	Stephen F. Austin	Angelina	2,499	06/28/61

U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Southern Research Station

## Administration

86

he Information Resources staff is responsible for computer and network services to both internal and external customers. During FY01, some major network infrastructure enhancements were completed, converting many of our laboratory locations from low-speed frame-relay circuits to highspeed T1 lines, and transitioning our 32 voice and data lines to fiber optic cable. Scientists will be able to take full advantage of future information technologies. Software products were installed that will enhance ability to support employees by using management concepts and tools. A cooperatively-developed, state-of-the-art computing facility for meteorological modeling applications is being established at the Athens, GA Forestry Sciences Lab.

The Human Resources section is leading the SRS effort to refine a workforce plan. This effort involves gathering specific information from RWUs and administration groups about anticipated turnover, planned hiring, and changes in skills needed for a 1-year and 5-year period. The plan is part of a nationwide Forest Service effort to provide more accurate information on hiring needs, attrition, and skills mix. It will also serve as a needs assessment for the National Recruitment Plan and college recruitment activities. As will other government agencies, lower hiring levels over the past decade, and the expected attrition as "Baby Boomers" retire, has left serious age and skills gaps in our workforce.

#### **Recruitment Initiatives**

The Southern Research Station continues to manage recruitment assets for the Forest Service through two highly successful multicultural Recruitment Initiatives: Alabama A&M (AAMU) and Florida A&M (FAMU). The purpose of the Initiatives is to attract traditionally underrepresented individuals to forestry and other natural resource science occupations. Thirty-eight students in forestry programs were hired by the Forest Service as summer employees. Three graduates were converted to full-time positions in forestry or closely related occupations. The programs are producing a consistent stream of wellqualified minority students who are interested and experienced in Forest Service work, with promise for adding to the diversity of the agency's workforce. The Initiative schools continue to be valuable research cooperators as well.

#### **Branching Out to the Youth of America**

The Conservation Education Outreach Program (CEOP) continues to be an integral part of the overall education effort of the Southern Research Station.

The concept of the CEOP is to engage youngsters in conservation education activities in urban settings in the inner cities where they live. The target audiences are selected for cultural, sociological, and economic diversity specifically including underserved, nontraditional publics. The goals of the program are: (1) to interact with urban youth from diverse age groups, socioeconomic backgrounds, ethnicities, and geographic locations helping them to gain an appreciation for natural resource conservation and sustainability; (2) to create an interest in Forest Service careers among underrepresented populations in urban environments; and (3) to provide contact between scientists and the summer interns to encourage them to pursue advanced degrees, thereby expanding the pool of diverse candidates for research positions.

### Administration

Two teams of 3-4 interns were employed by SRS, with one stationed in Asheville, NC and the other in Huntsville, AL. They worked with youngsters from preschool through high school, at locations throughout the South. They did a variety of teaching activities with groups from 30 to 200 youngsters at each site visit, reaching over 4,000 youngsters during the summer of FY01. Additional teams trained in Asheville worked out of Philadelphia, Milwaukee, and Atlanta.

#### **Civil Rights and Workforce Diversity**

The Civil Rights (CR) program continues to have a strong emphasis at SRS, with a full-time Civil Rights Director and a Station-wide CR committee. Policy assures that SRS seeks to find and hire diverse candidates for positions and encourages a healthy, affirming work environment that contributes to retention. Three minority employees were hired at SRS in FY01 under the National Scientist Recruitment Initiative. The FAMU and AAMU recruitment initiatives, the CEOP environmental intern program, and recurring multicultural events are part of our commitment to workforce diversity. While completing the CR training from USDA, over the last few years, SRS has been implementing a "human rights" perspective – an inclusive program to encourage employees to work together to resolve issues and misunderstandings and to give them the needed training and tools.

#### Improving Customer Service

The Catalog of Recent Publications has been revamped into the *Compass*, which is distributed hard copy and electronically. The hard copy now features an eye-catching full-color cover to make it competitive for attention with all the other material that people receive. It also includes information about the Southern Research Station and personnel, a theme focus on some of the recent publications, as well as the current abstracts that have always been its primary content.

The Southern Research Station Web site is a keystone of our customer service and technology transfer efforts. With over 14 gigabytes of



#### Lab work in Athens, GA

information available to the public electronically, we have seen dramatic increases in the number of visitors to the site in the past three years. Following are estimates of numbers of publications distributed for the past four years. All of the publications listed in our *Compass* catalogs are put online before the catalog is distributed, with the count now over 2,400 documents available for downloading.

A recent addition to our publication service is developing a publication evaluation comment card, that is now operational online (<u>www.</u> <u>srs.fs.fed.us/pubeval</u>). We anticipate having the printed version of the comment card early in FY02 for distribution to readers who request "hard copy" printed publications.

Please contact us anytime you have questions or comments about the services of the Southern Research Station.



To receive our quarterly catalog of recent publications, the "Compass," send us your name and address and we will be happy to add you to our mailing list. The catalog is also on our Web site and you can subscribe to a listserv to receive it by e-mail.

> USDA Forest Service Southern Research Station 200 W.T. Weaver Boulevard; P.O. Box 2680 Asheville, NC 28802 828-257-4832; Fax: 828-257-4840

> > Web site: http://www.srs.fs.fed.us

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, religion, age, disability, political beliefs, sexual orientation, or marital or family status. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TDD).

To file a complaint of discrimination, write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, Room 326-W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20250-9410 or call (202) 720-5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

March 2002

Caring for the Land and Serving People